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iv.

Abstract

It is the contention of this critique that the foreign
policy of William Morris .lugkes achieved its basic objectlves
These were the security of the Commonwealth of Australia in
the south Pacific and the advancement there of Australian
interests exempllfled by his espousal of an Australian
Monroe Doctrine for the south Pacific. These objectives
involved the expulsion of the Germans from the region and the

exclusion of Japanese and American economic interests.

As an ardent ‘Australian within the framework of the

British Emplre he blended an assertion of an ultramontanist

stand with co-operation as a Dominion partner in a powerful
Empire. He was not averse to exploiting this dual role to
gain the best of both worlds. However he achieved only
partial success in the search for a 'single voice' in
Imperial affairs, in the' formulation of a common foreign
policy for the Empire based on adequate intelligence,
1nformatlon, and prlor consultation. Hughes shared this
lack of success with his colleagues on the councils of
'Emplre No Imperlal statesman adequately was able to bridge
the gap between 'centralism' and 'independence'. Chanak and
Lausanne sounded the death knell of a common foreign policy.
In thi 1t was events that mattered and not even a Hughes
the tide of devolution and centrlfugal forces.

could s

‘ Hughes had gaineq instant success as an Imperlal

statesman as a result of his grand tour of Great Britain in
.1916 rallying a dispirited. nation to fresh efforts He .
advocated extreme measures in a 'root and branch' policy of
extermlnatlon of German 1nf1uences still operating in the
Empire. This culminated in his participation as a British
delegate at the Ecogomic Conference at Paris in June 19156,

He capped this performance by his contribution to the Imperial

War Cabinet of 1918,
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However over the years His ‘achievements at the Paris
Peace Conference have been his claim to a place in posterity
Py critics at home and abroad. Colleagued and opponents
however, winced at his encounters with Woodrow Wilson and
Lloyd George, plainly embarrassed by his 'undiplomatic'
methods if not disapproving of his objectives. He plumped
for the annexation of the German possessions south of the
equator which had been oqcupied by Australian troops; he
supported a crippling indemnity against the Germans, consonant
with his 'root and branch' policy of exterminatinq German
influences in the south Pacific; and he opposed any
Japanese attempts at Paris to include a 'racial equality'
clause in the draft Covenant of the League of Nations - an
attempt which Hughes rightly or wrongly interpreted as
the thin edge of the wedge in an attack on thel 'white
Australia' policy. |

Yet the pinnacle of Hughes's Imperial %tatesmanship in
a way came at the 1921 Imperial Conference, where a noticably
calmer and matmred Hughes demonstrated his grasp of the
fundamental Sues and problems facing the Empire. As this
was his last personal participation in the councils of Empire
it was fitting that he should have been such an outstanding
force, dominafing so many debates on the whole range of
Imperial affairs. His cabled interventions over Chanak and
Lausanne which were in the nature of a 'last post' expressed

all that he stood for in the field of Imperial foreign policy.

L 4
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ABBREVIATIONS

I have adopted the practice of supplying abbreviated
biographical details of prominent personages in the foot-notes,

from The Concise Dictionary of National Biography, Part 11, 1901-

1950, (Oxford, 1961), and F. Johns, Who's Who in Australia, 1922,

(Adelaide, 1922), and subsequent volumes. There does not
appear to be any reason to make further reference in the foot-

notes to these standard works.

There are a few muiters of form which require
explanation in view of current trends. In this study the
indiscriminate use of the lower case has been avoided while
the upper case has been used to avoid ambiguity. In a work
on foreign policy the use of the upper case to denote the 4
specific office, official, memorandum, conference and
place, avoids confusion and is quite legitimate despite
the frequency and regularity of such usage on any given subject.
This study concerns prime ministers, secretaries of state for
colonial and foreign affairs, governors-general and so on.
Therefore, in referring to a specific prime minister or a
colonial secretary, I have employed the upper case thus:

'The Colonial Secretary notified the Prime Minister of
Australia that....'. Again, where I refer to the Great War
.or a specific conference such as the Paris Peace Conference of
1919, I have thereafter abbreviated the form to the War and
tﬁe Conference. Because German overseas possessions, certain
islands in the Pacific, are a focal point of this study and
thus are a constant point of reference, it was clearly
convenient to refer to them as the German Islands, German
Possessions or simply the Islands where the context was
appropriate.

In all of this I have followed the usages outlined
in F. Howard Collins, Authors' and Printers' Dictionary,
(Oxford University Press, 1973), Kate L. Turabian, A Mhnual for
Writers, (University of Chicago, 1970), and the Style Manual,




//\T<\v vili.
(Government Printe?, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 1972).

Y

On a fow occasions T have referred to the Aust}a]ian
Labor Party and have employed the above spelling which is the
official usage. 1In general, however, 1 have used the
conventional spelling, thus labour, when referrirg LA members

of parliament of the various Labour parties.

With'fespect to typing matters the only devarture from
standard practice which deserves special mention is the
absence of square brackets. As the typewriter of my
excellent typiste, Mrs. Myrlene Jaffray, does not vossess
square brackets I have used italics enclosed by ordinary
brackets to denote references normally enclosed by squaré
brackets : (sic). Standard abbreviations in the footnotes are

listed in the bibliography.
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'of course, heyxe

perceiving the drift of foreign
can hardly come to the same

we do not have the same oppnrtunltio:i ot

affairs that YyOu have but 1
conclusion, 'l

Affairs

Australia,

_— e
1. Atlee Hunt-, Secretary of the Jepartment of External
Melbourne, to H.A. swynne, editor of the Standard, London, 3
September, 1910; Atlee Hunt FPapyers, National Library of

MS 52/40. e
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chapter 1I: THE BACKGROUND 1901-15.
T — .

? .

1. TIMPERIAL RELATIONS.

In October 1915 wWilliam Morris Huqhosl was appointed
Prime Minister of Australia. The Great war already had
entered into its second vear. Within months of
assuming office Hughes was in London consulting.

British leaders on matters pertaining to and arising

out of the War. Just prior to Hughes's departure, the

i

Governor-=Geheral, Sir Ronald Crauford Munro Ferguson?
gave Herbert Asquith3 the\British'Primc Minister, a
glimpse of the man who was about to descend on the

Brltlsh Isles:

..Though stone deaf he i1s a remarkable
personality...a natural leader of men; a delightful
companion; bold in adversity; clear in his views,
and what Is rare in Austfalia sound on the que-tian
of economy...probab y considers himself a ¢
Sccialist....H:s vié\e as to the modification
required 1n our trade relations with Germany after -
(/l/ the war are of much interest. He is a sincere
Imperialist and to him more than to any other .is
due the progress made 1n Xustralla in Naval and
Military preparation. o,

- \
7 7
i H
¢

’ - - .
I trust you may find opportunity to hear what he has to ~
say on Imperial Security and Trade.-

l. William Morris Huches, 1864-1952. Educated in Q;ies and London:.
Emigrated to Australia, 1884, A Labour Mf in the lst Federal
Parliament. Prime Minister of Australla 1915-23. Australian

Delegate to the Paris Peace Conference, 1919. Minister for External
Affairs, 1921-3; for Health and Repatriation, 1934-7; for s e

Extgfzéi/hfiéirs, 1937-9; for Industry, 1939-40, Attorney-General, -
193 . Minjster for the Navy, 1940-1. 4 . -

2. Ronald Crauford Munro Ferguson (1860-1934); MP for Ross and
Kirkaldy; at one time Lord Rosebery's private secretary and a
Lord of tihe Treasury; Governor-General, 1914-22; Viscount Rovar
of Raith, 1920; Scottish Secretary under Baldwin, 1922-24.

' ' x
3. 'Herbert Henry Asquith, (1852-1928) 5ladstonian Liberal: Mp
for East Fife; <Chancellor of the Excheguer; 1905-08; Prime
Minister, 1908-16; Lord Qxford and Asquith, 1925,



He has also a arasp of the ditfficulties w! b must attend

tht admgnistration of Pacitic Islands by Australia on

which subject no doubt the Foreign ottice as well as our

own chief will have something to say. !

Munro Ferqguson thus informed Asquith that Hughes more
than anyont was responsible for the Dominion's preparedness
by 1914 in naval and military arrangements. Although this
1s debatable a case may very well be arqued that as much
as anyone he was instrumental in the formulation of the
immigration, trade, and defence strategies in this period
before the War although Alfred Deakin? 1s  acknowledged as
the outstapdinq political figure in the first decade of the
Comﬁonwoalth. It was the ;hrcat to these very matters
caused by ¢vents in the Pacific in 1914 and 1915 that.led
Hughes to fly off so quickl?bto'London. In a critique of
Hughes's foreign'policy for the years 1915-1923 during his
;rime ministership, it will be helpful briefly to consider
these and related aspects prior to 1915 so as to place them
in a proper perspective. Hughes's views and approaches did
not dcvcl&p overnight. - In my .task of subjecting Hughes's
foreign policy to critical analysis it is relevant and

indeed incumbent upon me to place his work in an historical

setting and perspective.

[ .S

1. Munro Ferc © to Asgulth, 5 December, 1915; Novar Papers,
N.L.A., MS 69 J )

2. Alfred D+ xin 356-1919); Jjournalist with t-e A o,
Melbourne; « ' . -  the Bar, 1877; Victorian M. °  for
twenty vyears; ine Minister, 1903-04, 1905-08, and 1909-10;
LLiberal Protect’ .;  retired owing to physical and nervous

breakdown.
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Professorxg,ﬁ. Poynter has remaricd on the long terT
continuity that is evident in Australia's behaviour and
attitude in external affairs. But he has contended that
the Hughes period, or era really, was a brief departure
from the tradition of 'regressive inactivity'1 that has
been the alleged characteristic of Australian external
relations. Even a brief examination of the period before
Hughes will aemonstrate that it was not one of regressive
inacgivity. And if Professor W.J. Hudson2 is right in
describing the 'twenties'and'thirties' as decades that were
by no means quieséent, then one can say on this standpoint
there has been a striking long term activity so that i:ughes
is not the exceptién that Poynter suggests. Whether it be
policies, attitudes, or even progressive activity, (the
converse, I fancy, of regressive inactivity) it is my view
that, in the decade before Hughes and right through his

era, there has been continuity.
-

Another feature of the conventional wisdom concerning
Australian foreign policy is that it inherited the image
of the world held by the British foreign service,
identified herself and was identified by others, in two

world wars with the naticnal attitudes, animosities, and

~

1. J.R. Poynter, 'Yo-Yo Variations: Initiative and Dependence 1in
Australia's External Relations, 1918-23"', Historical Studies, vol.
X1V, no. 54, April 1970, pp.231-49.

2. W.J. Hudson, 'Yo-Yo Variations: A Comment', Historical Studies.,
vol. XIV, no. 55, 1971, p.424.




allies nf'Britain'.l Yet, as Dr. N.K. Meaney notes, the most
cursery examination of Australia's external nelations will
quickly dispel this myth.2 From the ecarliest days of the
Commonwealth and righ® through the Hughes era there has

been a distinctive v._w of Australia's position in the

world. That this differed markedlv from British Offl(lil%
and statesmen partly can be attributed to persvective.

What was in the Far East from London was on the verv door
steps of those 'Down Under'. As Meaney so aptly ovuts it,

the search for security in the Pacific has been a dominating

theme in Australia's external relations.3

I intend therefore briefly to review relevant aspects
concerning Australia's external relations in this period
up to 1916 to provide a setting for the subsequent critiaue.
Anglo-Australian relations in this period were far from
quiescent and harmonious at times. Hughes's attitudes and
policies during the period of his prime ministership flow
naturally from an examination of his conduct in public
affairs.in this earlier period which was in a way, his
inheritance. As we shall see, he played no small part in

shaping it.

1. J.B. Miller, Australia's Foreign Policy, (Sydney. 1968), cited .
in N.K. Meaney, 'Australia's Foreign Policy: History and Myth',
Australian Outlook, August 1969.

2. 1Ibid. p.173.

3. N.K. Meaney, The Search for Security in the Pacific: A
History of Australian Defence and Foreign Policy 1901-1914,
typescript; this work is shortly to be published.




(a) The Governor-General

The office of governor-general was the imperial

link between the dominion and the 'mother country'.

In the years before the war political fluidity and
instability in Australian policies led to a

'monarchical nature' in the role of the governor-
general. In fact it has been observed that the tour

of duty ui Munro Ferquson witnessed the high point of
the office on this 'score.l‘r Yet despite the vigour with
which he exercised his functions his period of tenurc
between 1914 and 1920 actually witnessed a dimunition of
its responsibilities, especially in the field of

foreign affairs. His conception of the role ran counter
to the broad stream of imperial devolution i% this
period. These centrifugal forces gained momentum throughout
the period of this study and indeed, Hughes played no
small part in this process which conspired against the
ultra-conservative views on imperial relations that
Munro Ferguson held and at times applied.

. These views though, were typical of Munro Ferguson's
predecessors. It was considered that' the governor-general
was the confidential adviser to the Imperial government
keeping the Colonial Office informed in the same way that
Brltlsh ambassadors privately informed ‘the Foreign Office

of matters that did not appear in official despatches

1. See C. Cuneen, 'The Role of the Governor-General in Australia’
PHD thesis, A.N.U. Research School of Social Sciences, Department
of History, 1973, chapter 1; this section is indebted to this
study.

2. See the editorial, Argus, 8 February, 1904.
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Not only was the governor-general the representative
of His Majesty but also of His Majesty's Government.
For example, Lord Hopetoun, the fiist qovernor-general
assumed as a matter of conrse that the new member of the
Imperial famiiy would naturally supply contingents for
‘the Boer War, which was a 'family' affair. So he
confided in his prime minister:

JYou See we treat you as one of the family in

thus asking you at a moment's noticeé and

I hope you will yourself feel Jquite free

to accept or refuse.l
Or again, some years later, dyrinag the .atter stages
of the Russo-Japanese War when it was clear that the
Japanese would inflict a crushing and historic victory
altering the balance of power in theé Far East, the
Governor-General, Henfy Stafford Northcote, reViewed the
Dominion's defence requirements for the British Prime

Minister, Arthur Balfour, in a private note:

I flrmly hold the principle that Australia should

bear her share in the cost of the defence of the
Empire....(the) best service she can render to

the Empire is by developing her populatlon and
resources...at present with a huge, rich,

unlnhablted continent, a half developed Monroe

Doctrine to be practised by Great Britain for

her benefits in the Pacific is'a positive .
source of weakness to the Mother Country. 2

When it was known that Munro Ferguson was to be the
gevernor-— general in 1914 Australian expectations of the

Imperial representative were expressed in the editorial

of the llberel Sydney Morning Herald:

1. Lord Hopetoun to Sir Edmund Barton, PM., 21 October, 1901 ;
Barton Pape.s, N.L.A.; MS 51/433, cited in Cuneen, 'The Role of
the Governor-General', p.150. He was Governor-General, 1901-02.

7
2. Barton Northcote to Arthur Balfour, personal, 21 May 1905;
Iddsleigh Papers, British Museum, Add MS 4967, £.53; Northcote was
Governor-General, 1903-7.



{Australians wanted) an adequate and sympathetic understanding

of those important imperial problems associated with defence

and other matters on which Australian opinion has not always

in the past been understood accurately or appreciated at

_ its full worth.l

Munro Ferguson’'s correspondence with British and Australian
statesmen and officials must lead to the conclusion that
this aspiration was admirébly fulfilled. His relatioﬁs with
Hughes were of the highest order, and as our selections
from the correspondence of two governors-general indicate
relations between a governor-general and his prime minister
in external relations in the period before the War were
crucial. The crisis of the War meant that this relationship
was put to the ultimate test. It was providential that the
man acknowledged as one of the finest, if not the finest
occupant of that office,2 should occupy it at a time of
crisis and that the political world should throw up a Hughes,
the worthiest of war leaders. As the cofrespondence between
the two will demonstrate a proper but warm régard for each
‘other developed over the years. Right at the outset of
Hughes's long period of office Munro Ferguson acknowledged
his capabilities: '

The new Prime Minister...in some respects (18) not unlike

his countryman Lloyd George...his capacity for affairs

(is)«g&eat. He is highly strung and at times violent. I
have always found him most agreeable. Few men are more

1. S.M.H., 9 February, 1914.

2. Walter Long, Colonial Secretary, December 1916 to January
1919, judged Munro Ferguson to be one of the great governors-
general in the history of the British Empire; see W. Roger Louis,
Journal of Modern History, vol.XXXVIII, December, 1966, p.410.
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entertaining and so far he has' heen perfectly frank with

me. He stands out above his Party in irrtellect, couraqe

and skill. ...He is the right man to be Prime Minister. ..
But Munro Ferguson was not uncritical of Hughes's secretive-
Ness, asserting that he has 'all the arts of a crab’' and
that "'when he does not wish to be drawn, he withdraws
within the impenetrable shell of his designs'. Nor could
Hughes readily delegate authority, and in this 'his methods
are like Lord K. He does not know how to devolve responsibil-
ity and work'.2 It would seem that these reservations stem
from the critical eye of a former secretary.? However, his
discerning eyes could see the other side of that coin:

Hughes‘gives orders like a Roman centurion and seldom

devolves responsibility on anyboedy. His impatience

and autocratic ways destroy initiative in others vyet

he has the qualities of his defects... A man of courage,

initiative and ability is a valuable commodity in

Australia. Much must be forgiven him...4 ‘
Hughes for his part could write, in April 1918, having
weathered the political crisis which was the aftermath of the

unsuccessful conscription campaigns, that:

1. Munro Ferguson to Bonar Law, personal, 8 November, 1915;
Novar Papers, MS 696/768.

2. Cited in E. Scott, Australia durihg the war, (Sydney 1937), |

‘the Cfficial History of Australia in the War of 1914-18, |
Vol.XI, p.l7s. :

3. He waz private secretary to iord Rosebery in 1892, who was
the Foreign Secretary in Gladstone's last ministry.

4. Munro .ovoon to General Sir William Birdwood, 13 January,
1919;  auoo. Nar Memorial, Novar-Birdwood correspondence.
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"you have been in many a serious and trying
Ccrisis, a great help to me. Many times 1 should
have thrown up the sponge, but for your advice,
your sympathy, and the feeling you believed in
me.l .

Both believed in pProsecuting the War with the utmost
vigour in the interests of Australia and the British
Empire. Hughes's tribute to himat his drvath was as

sincere and eloquent as it was accurate:
1]

Lord Novar's name will always be associated
with the greatest crisis in Australia's history....
Among the distinguished men who have held the
Vice~Regal office since its establishment - under
five of whom I have had the honour to serve he
stands out prominently..,.During the dark days
of the war, when the sky was black with portents
of disaster, ht never lost confidence in
ultimate victory....Lord Novar has earned a
lasting place among the great pro-consuls who
have helped to build up the British Empire,?Z

(b) The 1911 Imperial Conference

The British Prime Minister, Asquith, held fast most
vehemently’to the view that the foreign policy of the
United Kingdom could only be decided by Britain herself.
He was unequivocal on this at the last Imperial conference’
beforebthe war. The British Government's authority over
the conduct of foreign policy, the conclusion of

treaties, and questions of peace and war 'cannot be shared‘.3

1. Hughes to Munro Ferguson, April 1918, cited in Scott,
Australia during the war, p.174.

2. A tribute published in memory of Lord Novar, 30 March,
1934; 1Ibid., pp.189-90.

3. Asquith, Minutes of the Proceedings of the Imperial

Conference, 1911, Command 5745 (1911) p.66, cited in H. Duncan .
Hall, Commonwealth: A History of the British Commonwealth of
Nations, (Cambridge 1962), p. 92.
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Consultation was not denied, but the 'authority which cannot
be shared' was that over the conduct of foreign policy. It
was clear anyway to the Dominions that consultation had not
been ruled out for they had just been ushered into the
secrets 'of Imperial foreign policy by Sir Edward Grey's
lengthy exposition.l David Lloyd George years later
maintained that British cabinet ministers had not had the
benefit of the analysis revealed to the Dominions on that

. 2
occasion.

The explanation for such a revelation lay in the fact
that Britain had been anxious to renew the Anglo-Japanese
Alliance of 1902 and 1905 upon which British foreign policy
in the Far East was based. It was expedient therefore on
this occasion to take the Dominions into the closest
consultation so as to allay the fears of the Pacific
Dominions - hence Grey's thorough outline. But it was still
almost exclusively British needs tha: continued to determine
the rationale behind the Alliance. That is to say the
demands on Britain in Europe largely dictated the policy
of allying with the major naval power in the East despite
the discordant notes such an alliance would strike with the
Pacific Dominions especially on the morrow of the Russo-
Jdpanese war.3 Although the Dominions had been unable to

1. Sir Edward Grey, (1862-1933); statesman, Liberal MP., for
Berwick-on-Tweed, 1885-1916; Secretary of State for Foreign

Affairs, 1905-16; Viscount Grey of Fallodon, 1916.

2. See Sir Edward Grey, 'Minutes of the Committee of‘Imperial

Defence at a meeting of 26 May, 1911', cited in British Documents ,
on the Origin of the War, vol.VI, pp.781-90. Lloyd George, War
Memoirxs, vol.l, (London 1933-6), p-29. -

3. See I. Nish 'Australia and the Anglo-Japanese Alliance',
Australian Journal of Politics and History, vol.IX, (Nov.1963),
pPp.201-212. Also see Peter Lowe, 'The British Empire and the
Anglo-Japanese Alliance 1911-15', Journal of Commonwealth and
Political Studies, 1968, and his Great Britain and Japan, 1911-15,

(London, 1969).




12

influence Britain in the negotiations for the original
alliance with Japan there is evidence to support the
conclusion that British defence authorities and statesmen
were acutely aware of the embarrassment that an alliance
with a major naval power in the Pacific would pose with its
Dominions. Sir George Clarke, secretary of the Committee
of Imperial Defence, prepared a cabinet memorandum on the
advantages and disadvantages of renewing the Alliance in
1905 and in doing so referred to the Australian attitude to
Japanese immigration. He observed that the objections were:

That we are flouting all the European Powers by allying

ourselves with Asiatics.... The 'Yellow Peril' bogey

will be held up to arouse the fears of Europe. We are

however an Asiatic Power and this Alliance is for us a

perfectly natural one.... Our colonies, Australia

esvecially will have to put Japanese on precisely the

same footing as Frenchmen or Germans. Discriminating

against Japanese as coloured people would not be possible.

It might be necessary to speak heavily to the Australians...

their position is one of peculiar weakness except for our

support, so that they would find it neP®mssary to swallowv

their racial pride and prejudices as regards the Japaness.l
Clarke was well aware of what he was saying for he had been
Governor of the State of Victoria in Australia from 1901 to
1903 prior to taking up his position on the C.I.D. He we
convinced that there wguld be trouble with Australia over
the Alliance but as he again observed 'we cannot allow
the Trades Hall of Melbourne and Sydney to influence our

Y . 2
foreign policy.'

1. Sir George Clarke to Balfour, C.I.D., 27 May, 1905;
B.M. Add. Ms 49701, £.209.

2. Sir George Clarke to Balfour, 14 October, 1905; 1Ibid.,
£. 207.



Returning to the 1911 1mperial Conference, the
Australians were represented by Andrew Fisher, the Prime
Minister; Hughes, the Attorney-General, remained in
Australia as Acting Prime Minister. Fisher, on his return,

spoke in glowing terms. of the Conference:

A marked feature was the action of the Imperial Government
in taking the representatives of the dominions into the
inner family circle and unreservedly laying before them
its international policy. This I am sure will inspire
confidence and unity of actjon.l

Balfour had remarked tO© the Governor-General vears bhefore
this Conference that he 'wouyld be interested to sce what

effect the growth of a great Japanese pPower would have upon
Australia and whether it would strengthen the desire for

. . 2 :
Imperial Unity'. Hughes, vears later, waxed eloquent over
Grev's review of foreidn affairs, considering the decision

to renew providential:

It is almost impossible to exagqgerate the effects of
this decision upon the fortunes of the empire and the
events following the Outbreakx Of war in 1914. ILooking
back...if Japan, instead of remaining a firm ally bound’
under the terms of the tre.ty which imposed wpon her
obligations to protect Britigh interests in the Pacific
had stood at our gates as a potential enemy... And that
she might under the Circumstances have been an enemy is
undeniable.3

George Foster Pearce,4 the Minister for Defence had

1. The West Australian, 9 August, 1911.

2. Balfour to Northcote, 20 October, 1914; B.M. AddMS 49697, f.48.

3. Hughes, Splendid AdventufXe: A Review of Imperial Relations
within and without the Commonwealth of Britannic Nations, (London'

1929), pp.32-3.

4. George Roster. Pearce (1870-1952); Senator; born South Australia;
Minister for Defence 1908, 1910-13, 1914-21 ang 1932-34; Minister
for Externcl Affairs 1934-37.
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accompanied Fisher to the Conference. He was a confidant
of Hughes. They shared parallel views on defence and
suspicion of Japanese policy. Pearce was recognized as
the most ardent Japanophobe in the Australian
Parliament.l Pearce prudently informed Grey that the
original Allidnce had been most unpopular in Australia
because public opinion had not understood its purpose.
There would be therefore, a great outcr; in Australia
unless it were made clear that 1mm1qratlon control waq
not affected by the terms of the renewal. Grey had
already made it quite clear in his'significant address
that the extension of the Alliance did not in any way
affect the freedom of the Dominions to deal with the
question of immigration.3 Australian consent was readily
glven on this understanding. Duncan Hall states that
this renewal after consulation with the Prime Ministers
of the Dominions was an historic first - the first
officially recorded joint decision on a major issue of

foreign policy.4

This result appeared to be a fine example of Imperial
unity in action at this Conference on a major aspect of
British foreign pdlicy in the Far East but it is most
usefulr for our purposes to note with some emphasis that
British officials and statesmen had entered the Conference '

with misgivings if not alarm. The C.I.D. and the Foreign

1. This is the judgement of A.T, Yarwood ‘Asian Migration to
Australia. The Background to Exclusion, (Melbourne, 1967), p.90.

2. Pearce, 29 May, 1911, 11th meceting C.E.D., Cab 2/11, pp.18-36;
cited in Hall, Commonwealth p.81.

3. Grey, 26 May, 1911, C.I.D., cited in British Documents on the
Origin of the War, p.790.

4. Hall, Commonwealth, p.82.



Qffice were loathe to bring torward the question Pt the
Alliance let alone place 1t on the agenda for discussion and

C(H\Sl&}f{lfi()n:

Frankly 1 «<read any sort of discussion with our brethren
in Australia on thesc delicate and sccoret topics. ...

But on the other hand the last thing wanted 15 a howl
from Australia or Canada, if and wen, the British

Government decide to renew the Al%iance.!

Sir Arthur Nicalson, Permanent Head of the Foreign Office

consulted his ime Minister, Asquith, on the business for

the Conferende who minuted that 'he could not conceive a
more 1na opriatg topic to bring before the Imperial
Confer ce.'2 The Foreign Office decided to enter the
Conference prepared to answer questions should they be raised
but 'H.M. Government will not bring the matter before the
Conference or discuss'.3 Grey, the Foreign Secretarw.

shared Asquith's views, considering that-on the matter of

the Alliance the 'Australians require a good deal of
education‘.4 Grey was quite unsympatheﬁic with the P
Commonwealth's reservations over the Alliance in view of the
problem of Imperial defence. He araqued that the logical
eonclusion of denbuncing the Alliance would be that

S
“//Australia and New Zealand should undertake the burden of

1. Charles Ottley, secretary C.I.D. Y- -olson, Under Secretary
of State Foreign Affairs, 15 January, . .; F.O. 371/1140/1827 cited
in Nish 'The Anglo-Japanese Alliance', p.209.

2. Asauith, minute, Ibid.
1

3. Nicolson, to Ottley, 18 January, 1911, Cab 17/74/321; Ibid.

4. Sir Edward Grey to Earl Grey (Canada) 27 January, 1911;
G.M. Trevelyan, Grey of Fallodon, (London 1937), p.203.




naval supremacy in the Far Fast and this would;ﬁa
beyond them even if they had bean willing, I Yoears
earlier Grey had confided to the wifoe ot g futuro
Jovernor -general his most frank sentiments on

Australian viewpoints:
¢

I think there 15 too much tendency here to
slobber over the Colonies and "tﬁhu\j are too much
given to spit at us; I except Canada trom thi.
criticism but for Australia it might e put even
Stronqor.z

50 both Grey and Asquith for some years had been
unsympathet;c to the Commonwealth's divergent views

on policy in the Far East and this was especially true
of the Commonwealth's 'problem’ concerning the
immigration question and Japan. The divergence may well
be explained as a mattér of perspective. For thq{

British, the Alliance-

[}

has allowed her to concentrate her resources
against the menace of the German fleet, has
guaranteed <he peace of the Indian frontiers,
and has protected the Empirc against the
hostility of Japan.3
Th- se were the sentiments of Philip Kerr, reviewing the
history of the Alliance for the Round Table. Nelther Grey
nor Asquith at this time appeared to share Kerr's fears
which were the basis of Australian reservations. Tt is
important to note at this point, that in the crisis that arose
in the Pacific over the occupation of “he German possessions
by Japanese forces, Asquith was again to be irritated b

Australian fears.? while Grey has admitted in his

1. 1Ibig.

2. Grey to Lady Helen Munro Ferqguson, 12 April, 1978, cited
in Trevelvan, Grey, p.153.

3. Philip Kerr, Round Table, February, 1911, ;..12.

4. See below, II.



recollections that the Japanese action was a 'matter of

embarrassment cven of anxiety', on balance he has judged

that
the covernment of Japan was for us for many years
4 tarr, honourable and loyal ~11ly, and thanks to-
It torbearance, no serious friction arouse between
us o and the Unitod States on Pacific questions

during the war.l
, N

Fo; the Australians, not céncorned @ith tﬁe‘problomsybf
defending a world Empire, the Far East was the near north
so that events in the Pécifié Qérc immediate concerns.

In the post-1911 period then, she was faced with the
dilemma of remélhiﬁg on close terms with Britain the
'"Mother Country' whose navy guaranteed her securit% in
the Pacific, yet at the same time Britain's partner in
the Pacific had alrcady demenstrated her oxpansivé
inclihations, was the major naval power and questioned
the basic tenet of Australian society: the 'White

Australia' poiigy.

(c) Defence

O

The defence of Australia had been a passionate
- concern of Hughes right from the earliest days of the.
newly constituted Commonwealth. His contributions to
the debates on Defence illustrate his severely realistic
view of affairs. in general and external relations in
parﬁicular.2 'Perhaps it was the harsh realities of his
early career when he had to fend for himself or it may

well be a characteristic of a mind trained in the law

that would accoudt for this view of affairs, but whatever

the origin, he firmly held to the view that:

1. Grey, Twenty-Five Years 1892-1926, vol. 'II, p.101.

2. See Mear~v, 'The Search for Security in the Pacific', for
an extremely perceptive assessment of Hughes's philosophy on
external relations and defence. This paragraph is indebted to
his study.

1/



We live, however, not in Utopia, but in a world ot hard -
facts. .. those dangers which may come today, tomorrow, or
ten vears hence, ought to be provided against now. L
Here was a sense of Insecurity in the world that would follow
from a Fabhesian view that internatioral relations was a war
; . . . ‘ 2
Of each against all in which the woakest went to the wall.,
. R . Ly
As'he informed his colleagues during the debates on the
Defence Bill of 1901 Australia was an island continent which
depended on Great Britain's command of the sea. Once Britain
lost this tommand then Australia's first line ot defence
would have been pierced. The evidence of the past fifty
. . * .
Years, he reminded them, was that as far as unoccupied parts
/ . 3 Id
of the globe were concerned (and this would incliie 4
Australia) there haqg been:
a sharing of the spoils of that empire of the weaker
nations among the great Powers of Furope...spheres of
influence extended into colonies and colonies oxtended
into empires and nations...if ever Britain's power 1is
~broken one of the first primal things that will occur

will be a division of the spoils of that empire....
Whenever the time comes to which T refer we shall have

to rely on ourselves...3
Although H&%hes was an ardent imperialist and advocate ot
the British Empire he recognized that "the Imperial navy over
which Australians had no control might very well be engaged
elsewhere in a period of crisis and so would not be available

in the South Pacific when feally needed. And reCodnizing

1. Hughes, Australian Parliament, Commonwealth Parliamenj .. 1tes,
(Represenugtives), vol . XXXIT, P.2585, 9 August, 1906.

Y

2. For a detailed examination of thhes's views on military and

naval defence see L.F. Fitzhardinge, William Morris Hughes: A
Political Biography, vol.I, That Fiery Particle, 1862-1914, {Sydney

1964), pp.136-47.

~3. Hughes, C.PE.D., vol.IV, 31 July, 1901; n.3294. (
~— i



19

that naval defence was the basis of Australia's security,
he supported the development of lpcal naval units:

It is the absolute and positive duty of each

integral self-governing part to provide for

its own (naval) defence...It is the business of

Australia to defend Australia whether it costs

much money or little.l

On military defence, though Hughes opposed militarism,
he was convinced that there should be universal training along
the lines of the Swiss model or the levée en masse alongside

of a small perﬁanent professional army. He advanced therefore,
the idea of citizen forces or a riiiﬁia. This proposal was
eventually incorporated in a dilute form in the original
Defence Act that became the basis of the Commonwealth's
military arrangements. The 1906 Defence measures were debated
against the background of the aftermath of the Russo-Japanese
War and the quickening Anglo-German 'naval race'.2 For Hughes
‘the grim realities of the Strategic and defence situation were

all too cleax:

Since the destruction of the Russian fleet*there
was less menace of an effective hostile alliance
against Great Britain...that we should now relY\\ ‘ b
on the Japanese for the maintenance of British .~
Supremacy in eastern seas is not calculated to

inspire with confidence those who have the ideal

of White Australia...the British Fleet is not all
powerful...in view of the ever increasing efforts

of Germany to attain naval supremacy...towards a

goal which is too obvious...We must have...an

armed nation in reserve... “

1. C.P.D., vol.XIV 1 July, 1903, p.2312; debate on the Naval Agreeme-t
Bill. RS X

2. See A.J. Marder, From Dreadnought to Scapa Flow, (London, 1961-79),
and pp.236-7 for British Naval authorities' concern over the growth,
efficiency and purpose of the Japanese Navy, and for the redistribution
of the British Fleet, reducing units in the Pacific, concentrating the
'cream' in the Home waters 'where they belong'.

)
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In this speech Hughes cited John Stuart Mill's On Liberty,

to buttress his thesis that compulsory military service of

S

one sort or another was‘a part of citizenship and that it
was not inconsistent with liberty to compel men to defend

their countries.l

Australian naval authorities also were nervous. The
Australian squadron had been reduced as a concomitant of
Admiral 'Jackie' Fisher's reorganization. Alfred Deakin
was prime ministen in 1907 and in England for the 1907
Imperial Conference accompanied by William Rooke Creswell,2
Director of Commonwealth Naval Forces since 1904. Creswell
privately expressed his frustrations with the Admiralty and
with Deakin's abject acquiescence in their program:

Deakin's policy as announcad in his speech is a

disguised but complete surrender to Admiralty...

must go for a real naval force not Deakin's double

shuffling d--d sham...Tt is not, entre nous, as I.

would have fixed it...3 ’
However, on his return to Melbourne, Deakin without prior
consultation with the Colonial Office invited Theodore Roosevelt's
'Great White Fleet'? to visit Australian ports in its cruise
around the globe. It was evident that strains in United States'

relations with Japan over immigration and Pacific affairs matched

£

1. c.p.p., vol.XXXII, p.2582ff., 9 August, 1906.

2. Williém Rooke Creswell, (1852-1933) ; born Gibralter; Director of
Commonwealth Naval Forces, 1904; Rear Admiral and First Naval Member
Australian Commonwealth Naval Board 1911-19; knighted, 1919.

3. Creswell to Richard Jebb, London, 17 December 1907; Richard Jebb
Papers Library of Institute of Commonwealth Studies, University of.

London.

4. M.R. Megaw, 'Australia and the Great White Fleet, 1908', Journal
Royal Australian Historical Society, vol.LVI, 1970, pp.121-131, and
her 'The American Image in Australia', in N. Harper (ed.), Pacific
Circle Two, (Melbourne, 1972), pp.73-92. »
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Australia's growina concern. Hughes who had been in London
in 1907 as a delegate of the Seaman's Union at the Merchant
Shipping Conference returned via the United States where the

daily press carried anti-Japanese headlines. The Times

(London)} published the American reports of rioting in
California; of naval and military speculation about

Japanese war preparations; and of the New York Herald

advocatlng an increase in the size of the Pacific Fleet to

match the.Japanese.l }

The American Fleet was given a great reception and it
was apparent that the Australian public, off1c1als and
statesmen, saw in the visit more than a "stately procession
of Shlps.'2 The Sydney Morning Herald, gazing into the
future prophesied that 'it is likely that America may be the

first line of defence against Asia' .3 Deakin himself
qulckly discounted any view that Australia might rely more on

the Unlted States than the 'Mother Country' as 'too silly
for words' 4 He followed this up in his regular ‘anonymous

London editorials:

.all the possible mlsunderstandlngs between the Empire
and the Republic will henceforth be impossible. The two
people. -re to walk hand in hand in paths of peace to

. which a =ense of their joint. strength is to confine the

l. See L.F. Fitzhardinge, Hughes, vol.I, pp.186-95 for an account
of the Conference and of The Times reports June 1907.

2. Review of Reviews XXXVIIT: 344 (1908); cited in Werner Levi,
American-Australian Relations, (Minneapolis, 1947), p.89.

3. S.M.H., 10 August, 1908.

4. The Times, (London), 29 September, 1908.



22

the unruly nations....1

After the American fleet had .left Deakin had the
temerity to invite the British to send a fleet:

Strong desire throughout Australia for visit

British Fleet calling each State Capital. It

shpuld be as impressive as possible in size and

quality...most beneficial influence upon public
opinion. ;

Lord Crewe, then at the Colonial Office appropriately

minuted:

It appears that nothing could be less appropriate

than to send a British Fleet to Australia at once as

a sort of counterblast to the visit of the United

States fleet. If such action is necessary it should

have been foreseen before the Americans weré invited.
There is little wonder therefore that Deakin was not popular
with British officials. Sir Edward Grey privately discounted
his speeches at the 1907 Imperial Conference in a private
note to his cousin in Canada. He confided that a conversation
with him gave a 'stronger impression of a United Empire than
he got from any number of Deakin's speeches or from all the
‘Premiers at a Conference’.3 Deakin on his side was scathing

in his criticism; scourging the Office which he contended

contained: . ‘ _ . e

1. Morning Post, 17 October, 1908; Deakin supplied articles as an
anonymous 'Australian correspondent' for some vears. ' .

2. C.0. 418/61, 14 September, 1908 and minute by Crewe, cited in

R. Megaw, 'Australia and the Great White Fleet'; see J.A. La Nauze,
Alfred Deakin: A Biography, 2 vols., (Melbourne, 1965), for the
authoritative account of Deakin. '

3. Grey .o Albert, Earl Grey, 29 May, 1909; Grey to Howick MS, cited
in Robbins, Sir Edward Grey, p.237. :
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a certain impenetrability; a certain remoteness,
perhaps geographically justified; a certain
weariness of people much immersed with affairs,
and greatly over-burdened, whose natural desire .
is to say "Kindly postpone this; do not press
that; do not trouble us; what does it matter.
We have enough to do already; you are a self-
governing community, why not manage to carry on
without us."1l

From-Deakinfs viewpoint the Colonial Office wag 1ll-
equipped to handle Dominion affairs, vet when ﬁughes was in
London in the same year at the Merchant Shipping Conference,
his personal.cbntact with its. officials led him to modify
his unfavourable opinion of its staff. He was specially
impressed with Bertram Cox, a senior officer, but on the
other hand was less impressed by the young Winston
Churchill, at the time, Colonial Secretary.2 The Colonial
Office were weli\aware of the problems and perhaps Deakin
wa§ far too unsympathetic, for as the Permanent Head of the
Office noted, 'when we please Deakin we offend Laurier'.3
But Deakin's censure did help to produce results, for a
'Dominions, Divisions' was created soon after the close of
the Conference."ﬁeakin's own experiences foreshadowed
Hughes's reservations about the Colonial Office when he

in turn became Prime Minister. For Hughes, the channel of

1. Deakin, Colonial Office 1907, Minutes of Proceedings, Command

3523, 1907, vol. LV, pp.70-2: cited in La Nauze, Deakin, vol.l, p.486;
for an older account of the Colonial Office before the War see R.B.
Pugh, 'The Colonial Office', Cambridge History British Empire, vol.III.

2. See Hughes's article in the Daily Telegraph, (Sydney), 3 September,
1907, cited in Fitzhardinge, Hughes, vol.l, pp.88~9; ' this section
is indebted to this study.

3. Hopwood, minute, 21 October, 1908; C.0. 532/17/38604, cited in
Cross, 'The Colonial Office', ‘p.138. ‘ ’

e
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communication via the governor-general to t:. Colonial
Office and-thence to the Colonial Secretary and finally
to Cabinet was far too indirect and chancy ¢ .r his taste.

He plumped for direct communications between the prime
minister of the Dominions and the prime ministcr of the
United Kingdom. And hence he ran foul of his own governor-
general, British officials, and statesmen; but the times

and events were on his side.

Following Deakin's initiative in securing the visit of
an American fleet, he ventured to suggest to Lord Crewel
what was in effect a 'Monroe Doctrine' for‘the Pacific:

'An agreement for an extension of the Monroe Doctrine to all
countries around the Pacific Ocean supported by the
guarantees of the British Empire, Holland, France, and China,
added to the United States.'?2 Germany and Japan were all

too élearlv excluded. Deakin had no chance of success with
this venture as Britain had based her foreign policy in the
Far East on her alliance and both Grey and Crewe were
‘utterly opposed to isolating Germany‘any further. Apart from
these factors, both accepted the Monroe Doctrine as little
more than an assertion or an ideal and were certainly not
inclined tb accept an extensibn of the Doétrine to the
Pacific. Howevér, Professor Meaney has, I believe,'over-
stated'the case when he asserts that the proposal was "the

most far reaching idea put forward durinag this pre-1914

1. Crewe was Colonial Secretary, 1908-10.

2. Deakin to Crewe, 27 September, 1909; F.0. 800/91.
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search for security in the Pacific'.] For, as he
acknowledges, the proposal also illustrated how out of fouch
with the realities of the diplomatic sitgation Deakin was,
and perhaps, how isolation in the South Pacific naturally
bred fear and illusions. Hughes himself almost a decade
later was to voice once agaln, the Australian plea for a

'Monroe Doctrine in the South Pacifijc'.”

While the European scene was deteriofating between 1909
and 1914 there were British statesmen who sensed the urgency
and rose to meet the challenge of the events. The Admiralty
at last agreed to allow the Dominions to build their own
‘navies. In 1911 Admiral Sir Reginald Hende: visited
\Australia to report on the naval situation a; i ~ommended
rapid naval expansibn and that Singapore shou. he 'basis
of the Australian defence, integrity and autono. -~ . The ‘
1909 Defence Act incorporated the universal milit ‘i :ining
that Hughes had advocated years ago but the Act itsc f .as
less than Huéhes would have wanted. Nevertheless it w -
a»vindication4 of a philosopﬁy that ‘he had consistently

promoted over the years and indeed his most recent article

1. N.K. Meaney, 'A Proposition of the Highest International Importance',
Journal Commonwealth Political Studies, November 1967, p.200ff.

2. See below, Chapter II, (7).

3. Henderson Report, Recommendations by Admiral Sir R. Henderson
1911, Introduction; Hughes Papers, N.L.A. MS 1538.

“4. See L.F. Fitzhardinge, Hughes, vol.1, pp.200-01; for an opposing
view that does not square with the facts, see C.J. Crowley, '1901-
14', in C.J. Crowley, (ed.), A New History of Australia, (Melbourne, '

1974) , p.295. .
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was on the subject and had been published early in the vear:

That all should fight for their country when it is

attacked is an axiom of nationality. Universal
service aims to give practical effect to a logical
truth.l
He was not alone in these beliefs. Viscount Kitchener who

toured Australia and New Zealand in 1910 emphasised in his
Report the advisability of a small population adopting a
'citizen soldiery'.2 He pointed out in one of his addresses
which appeared to be calculated to influence the passaqge of
the Defence Bill that: '

(It&,will be the foundation on which such a force will

be established and maintained. That Bill postulates the

recognition of the primary principle that it is the duty

of every able bodied man tc e trained to defend his

country whether by land or sea.3
Some years later, in the early days of the War, Grey alluded
to the tour,‘congratulating Kitchener on his\sugcess and
popularity, remarking that 'the people of Australia will do
anything for you'; but Grey was wide of the mark when in
the same vein he ascribed the passage of the Bill to

Kitchener's 'straight talk_'.4

1. W.M. Hughes, MP., 'Defence', Lone Hand, 1 January, 1909, p.254.
2. 'Kitchener Report', C.P.D., vol.II, pp.85-7.
3. Kitchener Address, n.d.; Kitchener Papers, P.R.O. 30/57/39TT8.

4. Grey to Kitchener, 19 December, 1914; Kitchener Papers,
P.R.O. 30/57/77.
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Apart from ﬁitchener's tour there was yet another
British military expert whbse visit should be noted. His
comments demonstrated that Australian deferce authorities
were not alone in their assessment of the dangérs that

could arise in the Pacific at this time. In mid-1914

General ‘Sir Ian Hamilton inspected the Australian and New .
Zealand forces in his capacity as_Inspeqtor General of
Overseas Forces. His tour‘was hotable on at least two counts.
Firstly, there were the references in his Report to Japan

to which the Colonia%roffice took exception:

-..the danger Mmenacing the Swiss is not so terrible as

that menacing the Australians.. .My object in these last

lines is to state how far they would be ready should the

occasion rise now - at once - to hold their own against

disciplined troops from regions washed by the Pacific.l
Secondly, on the New Zealand leg of his mission, he spoke at
a public meeting in a similar vein which offended

Japanese officials who complained to Dominion authorities.?

The last significant defence issue before the wWar that
demonstrated the gap between Australian angd British
perceptions of defence requirements and the strategic
situation in the Pacific concerned the deficiéncies, as
Australians called it, in the Far East in the Pacific Fleet.
By 1914 it appeared to them that though the formation of
the Australian Unit was progfessing satisfactorily, it also
seemed that neither the East Indies nor China Units would
be formed according to the terms of the 1909 Agreement.

1. General Sir 1an Hamilton, Report of an Inspection of the Military
Forces of Australia, 28 June, 1914, cC.O. 418/122/23316 and F.O. 800/68/184.

2. Atlee Hunt, Department External Affairs, to H. Mahon, Minister
External Affairs, 17 June, 1915, Hunt Papers, N.L.A. Hunt reported on
the Japanese consul-General's complaint about Hamilton's public

remarks.
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Joseph Cdokl, the Prime Minister, complained to the Colonial
Secretary, Harcourt ,/ that.certain important elements of
the Agreement wefe not being carried out. 1In requesting,
information for the Commonwealth Cook also suqggested a
conference'should he 'consider such a course necessary'.
Cook was mortified to observe that the two battle cruisers
which he thought had peen designated for thq'Far Fast and
Pacific Squadrons had been .assigned to Furopean waters;
tpat the two Squadrdns had been reconstituted and all“this
'without consultation with the Government of the Common-
wealt_h.'2 Foriuitously, Winston Churchill, now at the
Admiralty,was to introduce the  Naval Estimates 'in the
Commons shortly after the comp&gint was lodged. 1In
answering the charges of the Dominion in the course of his
address to the House he informed them that the Admiralty
considergd that the now recohgtructed Eastern Squadrons
adequately fulfilled the intentions of the Agreement and

the 'requirements of local sterio}ity Or general supremacy'.
© L . ~

Moreover: ‘ ’ -

the safety of Australia and New Zealand is Secured by

the naval power and the alliances based on the naval
power’ of Great Britain...The same naval power of Great
.Britain in European waters brotects New Zealand and
Australia from any present danger from Japan...there is

a strong continuing bond of interest between us (Britgin
and Japan) on both sides. It is this bond that is the
true and effective protection for the safety of Australia
and New Zealand...

1. Joseph Cook, (1860-1947); born, Staffordshire, England; for
many years a Trade Union Representative; Federal Parliament, 1901,
a Liberal Free Trader; Defence Minister/ 1909-10: Prime Minist

1913-14.

2. Governbr—General to Colonial Secretary, enclosure, letter from
Joseph Cook, 28 February, 1914; c.o. 886/7.
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Exercising a measure of prescience Churchill conciuded that
if 'Britain's naval superiority were overcome then the only
course for 'five million white men in the Pacific' would be
to seek the protection of the United Statos.1 The
Australian conclusions to be drawn from this speech wvere
certain. Cook expressed in The Times the conviction that
Australians would view seriously any suggestion that the
Japanese Treaty alone guaranteed their_security.2 The New
Zealand Prime Minister Mr. Massey was much more outspoken:

If [ Owecin!{ /) means that the people of New. Zealand

are to be satisfied with the protection afforded by

Japanese ships and Japanese sailors then he is very

much mistaken.3

Harcourt supported the Dominions in their complaint.
When the Admiralty prepared a reply Harcourt refused to
send it on the grounds that ghe Admiralty's reply had not
answered’ the charges concerning the lack of consultation
and 'simply to ignore this is unsatisfactory' he informed
them. On the more serious charge concerning the Fleet Units,
he considered the Admiralty's rebuttal a 'smokeggreen' .
Philip Kerr of the Round Table, the journal and group
dedicated to furthering imperial interests, concluded that

-

. ‘\\

1. Winston Churchill, 'Naval Estimates', Commons, LIX, 17 March,
1914, cited in Roundjdable, vol.4 Pt. 11, p.422, cabs 1931-4.

2. The Times, (London), 26 March, 1914.

3. Mr. Massey, cited in the National Review, vol.LXXXX, June
1914, pp.704~5. :

4. W. Grabame Greene, Admiralty, to Colonial Office, 9 May, 1914;
John Anderson, Under-Secretary State for Colonies to Admiralty,
28 July, 1914; <C.0. 886/7; Anderson relayed Harcourt's views. .

<L



30

Churchill was right and his critics wrong for it was
the only logical policy in the circumstances.l
[ 4 ) ) )

Reassurar.ces of this kind were no comfort Lo such as
George Pearce, more, often than not Defence Minister in
this decade. He poured out his fears to the Governor-
General who had requested his appreciation of the
situation:

We insist that there ought to be a British Fleet

for the Pacific; without it British Diplomacy is

nullified...and we are compelled to allow our

policy to be dictated by our ally.

A British-Japanese Alliance is better for Australia

than a German-Japanese Alliance would be. But the

Alliance is temporary, it suits both Japan and us

at present, it may suit neither in a few years....

When the Alliance comes to an end what will be our
position in the Pacific?'2

Australians in this period did not want autonomy
in defence nor an independent forcign policy. What they did
want was to share in the decisions relating to defence
arrangements and to be consulted when matters affecting
Australia's vital interest in the Pacific and the Far
East were being considered. Australians wanted to be informed
and warned if there were changes in policy or arrangements. _
Above all they would have appreciated the most frank feelings
of British Authorities concerning Pacific matters being
cdnveyed to them in the closest consultation but the suspicion

grew that the British were being ]less than frank with them.

1. Philip Kerr, Round Table, vol.IV, June 1914, p.444. °

2. G.F. Pearce to fovernor-General, private, 4 May , 1914; Lord
Denman Papers, N.L.A., cited in P. Heydon, Quiet Decision: A
Study of George Foster Pearce, (Melbourne, 1965), p.228.




In these circumstances it was inevitable that British
ofticials and statesmen with the demands and strains of
defending and administering a global emplre would seoe
things differently from their Australion coupterparts and
would wichhold .. mask their private nnxiofﬁns preforring
not to arouse ai alarm Australians whom they judged to be

already far too nervous.

(1) The 'White Australia " Policy

) The 'White Australia' pelicy has been the 1»&5:1«‘.
5Lructdre of Australian socicty‘singg 1001.] This policy
was enshrined in the Tmmigration Roétriction Act ot 1901
whereby - the Commonwealth exercised its right to exclude non-
European migrants by means of the device of a 'dictation
test' which had been inspired by the Natal tes* and indeed
sugaested by the Colonial Office as the least of fepsive to
non-European of the devices proposed. All shades of
political and social owpinion upheld the polic thouah the
Labour movement and the Trade Unions, were the most vocal
in 1ts favour, having the most to lose. Hughes therefore
was merely reflecting deeply held views when he affirmed in

the debates on the Bill:

We want a white Australia and are we to be denied it -
because we shall offend the Japanese or embarrass Her
Majesty's Ministers? T tnink not.2

1. See A.J. Yarwood, Asian Migration to Australia: The Background
to Exclusicn 1863-1923, (Melbourne, 1967) this is the authoritative

~account of the subject.

2. C.P.D., vol.IV, 12 September, 1901, p.4819.
et A =

A

1
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Deakin, Attorncy—Gone}al at the time, dubbed "white
Australia"as 'the Monrooe Doctrine of the Commonwealth
of Australia'.l While the rationale for the doctrine
is a complr mixture of racial, social, and economic
attitudes, ighes expressed in the first instance, the
economic aspects of the question though he too was a
staunch believer in the racial view that Australia should
be composed of homogenous British stock.? So he pointed
out:

There 15 no conceivable method by which the

Japanese, 1f once they got a fair hold in

competition with our own people, could be

coped with.3

-

The economic bias in Hughes's thought is basic whether
in 1its financial, commercial, or trade aspects. It provides
a thread of consistency to his attitudces in this pre-war
period dnd throughout His brime ministership so that it
explains;approachcs which from a purely political or
diplomatic view would be indefensible or unreasonable.
Whether it was Japéﬁ'or Germany, or even the United
States prébing in the interests of an 'Open Door' policy
in the South Pacific, the economic threat to Australian
or British interests would be resisted with the utmdst
vigour. This was a characteristic of Hughes. As we
shall sec, this element in Hughes's philosophy’helps explain
his utter opposition to the German metal monopoly in

Australia during the War. It partly accounts for his
-+

:

1. Ibid., p.4805.

2. See Fitzhardin?s, Hughes, vol. 1, p.133-36 on this point in

ntail. - \

3. C.P.D., vol. 1Iv, 12 September, 1901, p.4820.
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performance in 1916 in England and his advocacy at the

Paris Economic Conference in 1916 of economic exclusiveness
in the post-War perind. It most* certainly helps to explain
his more obstinate moments at éhe 1919 Peace Conference.
Opposition to the 'Racial Equality.' clause, advbcacy of the
severest indemnity éerms, rejection of a mandate clause that
appeared to offer safer military provisions were all

explicable from a purely exclusivist economic policy.

It is ﬁot surprising therefore to find Hughes as early
as 1907 expressing his fear of German economic penetration.
At the Mercantile Shipping Conference he warned the Empire
of the danger that threatened Imperial trade:

' \

I do not think the Conference realizes that the islands
of the Pacific ought to be .f they are not) our
exclusive monopoly so far as trading is concerned. I
do not mean to say excluding Great Britain, I mean .
excluding foreign powers. Great Britain has been rather
loose in one or two arraicements made lately and I am sure
of this that the trade of the Pacific, if not strenuously
fought for, will go entirely into the hands of the Germans.

~

In the face of such an unblushing assertion of economic
imperialism Lloyd George, the chairman, and the great
Radical of British liberalism at this time branded Hughes's
arguments a cover for purely Australian sovereignty over
the islands of the Pacific. Events were to bear out the
accuracy of Hughes's warning. Nor was he alone among

Australian statesmen at this time who railed against the

1. Mercantile Shipping Conference, Minutes, p.73; cited in
Fitzhardinge, Hughes, vol.l. pp.164-167 for the full account of
the Conference. .
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.

neglect, mishandling, and missed opportunities in the South
Pacific. Deakin it was, who expressed himself iq this veiln
in one of his many speeches at the 1907 Imperial Conference,
speeches of which Grey, the Foreign Secretary, had been so
critical. Deakin pointed out that 'it was not a ser’es of
grasping annexations that we have been attempting but a
series of aggravated and exasperating losses which we have
had to sustain'.l Attributing this to a Gladstonian
mentality Deakin avowed that this anti-imperialistic
persvective never had. been part of the outlook of Australian -
statesmen and that it was more by good luck than good
management that Australians acquired the Islands, now under

Australian control.

New Guinea was considered an outstanding example of
Colonial Office mismanagement. Australians in the decade
before the War still remembered that British policy had
allowed the Germans to acquire a considerable portion of the
island in 1884. But Very few knew that as late as 1903 the
Colonial Office informed the Commonwealth Government that:

The record of German New Guinea has not hitherto been

such as to make it clear that the acquisition of the

whole island (apart from Dutch New Guined). . .would have

been an advantage to the Empire in general or Australia

in particular; nor are His Majesty's Government aware
that any disadvantage of a strategic or other nature has

1. Deakin, 'Report of Colonial Conference 1907°', pp.548-50,
cited in E.L. Piesse, memorandum, 8 May, 1922, 'The Spheres of

Influence of Australia and New Zealand'; Piesse Papers, C.A.O.
CRS A2219, vol.23.
E.L. Piesse, (1880-1947): born Tasmania, post-graduate studies at

Cambridge; 1916, Director of Military Intelligence; June 1919,
Director of Pacific Branch in' Prime Minister's Dept;” 1921-22,
technical advisor, Washington Conference. i
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been caused in the past, or is likely to be caused
in the future, by the\fact that the parts of the
island furtherest frof Australia have been brought
under foreign control. :
E.L. Piesse, Director of Military Intelligence durirg the
War, Simply commented that this despatch came just a few
Years before the Germans commenced their preparations for

a naval base at Rabaul in New Britain.l

At the 1907 Imperial Conference, a related matter,
the administration of the hotch potch of Imperial possessions
in the South Pacific Qae to be considered. They were controlled
~from Fiji by a High Commissioner directly responsible to the
Colonial Office. 1In 1904 Australla had suggested that
the Governor-General should be appointed to the p081t10n
to be based in Sydney. Although the Colonial Office
recognlzed the need for reform it preferred the governor
of the State of New South Wales for the position.
Churchill, the Colonial Secretary, env1saqed dlplomatlc
wrangles with the French and Germans, disturbing Imperial
foreign pollcy if the governor-deneral were appointed.
He forecast that a governor-general anyway would be little
more than a flgure-head for the Commonwealth Government :
and especially its Prime Minister. Deakin, a 'Federallst'
from Melbourne opposed Sydney as the seat of power. Within
- the Colonial Office itself there were strong pressures
for the retention of the Western Pacific Comm1551on“&}

as an Imperial responsibility. Bertram Cox, a

1. Colonial Office Despatch, 31 October, 1903; extract cited by
Piesse, Memorandum, Ibld v P. 18.

5
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senior Colonial Office C;erk, observed that the Commonwealth
wanted to impose Australian views but she was not qualified
to deal with native questions or handle affairs with foreign
nations. Sir Edward Im Thurm, the High Commissioner, was
€ven more caustic, indicating that so long as t.ie 'White
Australia' policy was applied to 'Pacific Islanderc' it
'necessarily destroys every possibility of natural union
between the Great Island éontinent and the Island groups
which should be in her train'.l It has remained one of the
paradoxes of Australia's own imperialistic experience that
the Immigration (Réstriction) Act, the basis of the 'White
Australia' policy, was to be applied to restrict the entry
of.non—Europeans into what was once German New Guinea. " As
far as the Western High Commission was concerned, matters
remained as they were, except that in 1909 it was agreed
that the High Commissioner ‘should direct his correspondence
to the Colonial Office through the Gerrnor—General.

During Munro Fergﬁson's tenure of-office he was to make
valiant attempts to convince successive Colonial Secretaries
that Deakin's scheme was the solution to the administrative
problems and more importantly, the solution to the trade
reverses suffered by British interesté by the inroads of

foreign competition.

Commercial and trade relations with Japan were a
vexing issue. Just as the Japanese felt their amour propre
was offended by the 'White Australia’ policy as regards
immigration so they felt equally sensitive about

discrimination ‘against Japanese commerce and trade. It is

1. Cited in Deryk Scarr, Fragments of Empire: A History of the
Western Pacific High Commission 1877-1914, (Canberra, 1967) pP.286;
this section is indebted to this study, pp.284-87.
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just as well to point out here that Australia was not hd

alone in the Pacific' in facing Japanese pressure on these
Subjects. we havé\alre§dy referred to the anti-Japanese
riots in Californié in 1907. Feelings boiled over again in
1913, this time in Tokyo, as a result of the Bill passed by
the Lower House of the Legislature of'California whereby
aliens were not eligible for ownership of land or to
citizenship. Demonstrations in Tokyo were the result of
this 'ératuitous insult to Orientals in general and Japanese
in particular'.l As illumiﬁating as this incident is
concerning anti—Japénese feelings in white communities
bordering the Pacific, they had not prevented the conclusion
of a Treaty of Commerce between the .United States and

‘Japan early in 191] that included ‘the specific proviso

that immigration arrangements were excluded from this

v

Treaty.2

It was to avoid such problems reaching Australia .

that statesmen, such as Hughes, strove with might and main

trade arrangements. Australian policy in this pre-War
period was one of cénciliation, avoiding‘friction and
incidents that were likely to provoke the sensibilities

-0f the Japanese and cause some sort of intérvention.l

T

1. wW.J. Braistedq, Thé United States Navy in the Pacific 1909-22,
(Austin, Texas, 1971) p.126; see also pp.32-3 for an account of the
officially inspired simulated War Games carried out by the U.s. Navy
(Blue) oppcsed by Japan (Orange) . Opifions had been secured from
Admiral Mahan which were not followed and Orange won!

2. 'Treaty of Commerce between United States and Japan', 21
February, 1911, State Department, Papers relating to the Foreign
Relations of the United States, 1911, Pp.315-320, cited in Ibid.,
pPp.13-15. ‘
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This was as true of this pre-War period as it was to be
of the War period when Hughes was in power but it was in
markeéd contrast to the 1919 Paris Peace Conference when
Hughes openly and unashamedly confronted Japanese statesmen.
In 1904, in an effort to meet Japanese objections to
the operations of the Immigration Act, the Passport Arrange-
ment was implemented whereby Japanese of the non- labouring
class, students, tourists, and businessmen, who had
passpoisﬂ issued by their Government could be granted
entry This proved a success and was the system followed
C%g:;ﬁgny years but by no means met all the objections of
the Japanese who were dedlcated to the removal of any
j discrimination as between them and Europeans The greater
bPart of the negotiations leading to the Passport Arrangement
was carried out during Hughes's brlef period in External
Affairs.2 Nevertheless, that the Immigration Act had
produced the desired effect is borne out by the plalntlve

note of the Japanese Consul-General 1n May 1914 that:

- I

the provisions of the Immigration legislation were
desired to ehsure that, .ultimately, (and at a. not
too distant date) there should be no Japanese in

Australia excepting such as might g% permltted to

\

1. Yarwood, Asian Migration, pp.84-103.

2. See Fitzhardinge, Hughes, vol.l, pp.164-167 and Yarwood,
Asian Migration, p.88.
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land under special arrangements with the Commanwealth

Government.
The experience of thirteen years has not disturbed such

a view of the case.l

Pressure to overcome the lack of a commercial
arrangement came from various quarters. The stimulus for
action seems to have come from the news that Canada was
Preparing to associate itself with the Treaty and from v -
the rivalry between the Australian Statesfor the highly
desirable Japanese market. The New South Wales Premier,
for example, aware' of Canada's moves, hoped'the Commonwealth
Government would follow up iﬁs Passport Arrangement by
eéven more modifications so that‘approaches to Japan concerning
the 'admission of Australia to the terms and Privileges of
the cdnventional,ﬂor lower tariff, of Japan would have a
.greater prospect of success',? It was to no avail.

Australia in the pre-war periéd did not follow the example

of Canada or the United States. But right up to War,
where i1t could, the Commonwealth Government atte to
minimise friction. For example, restrictive legislation in

the State of Queensland would have led to the unemployment

of the remaining Japanese in the sugar-cane industry.

Although sympathising with the State's wish to create and
maintain employment for 'people of our own race', Prime Minister

Joseph Cook deplored any move, that did not pay die regard to .

1. s. Shimizu, Consul~General, Sydney, to the Minister for External
Affairs, 1 May, 1914; C.A.0., CRS A457, item 0J08/6.

2. J. Carruthe:s, Premier, to the Prime Minister, 13 October, 1905;
C.A.0. CRS 1108 item 23.

2
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'certain/Zonsiderations in regard to international
relations as well as of justice to indivudals'. These
considerations the Commonwealth hoped would ‘be reflected
in the State's decisions on the matter, especially as
there was no questlon of cheap labour' or underselling
workers of our own natlonallty and at any rate
Commonwealth legislation ensured that 'coloured immigrants
would be a steadily diminishing quantity'.l
II OCCUPATION OF THE GERMAN ISLANDS IN THE PAGIFIC, 1914
and the so-called 1915 ’Agreement'.

<

For the Australian Government the most important
issue arising out of the war years was the question of the
future of the German Pacific Possessions occupied by
Japanese and Australian forces. The issues arising out
of these occupations account for so much of Hughes's
diplomacy once he took up office. The'relationship between
the Japanese and Australlan occupations and Hughes's policies

is cruc1al P
o

In August 1918 at a meeting of the Imperial War
Cabinet2 Hughes inéisted that Australia had not been
consulted in the British decision to support Japan's claim to
the German Possessions in the Pacific north of the equator

which had been occupied by her forces in 1914.

1. Joseph éook, Prime Minister, to the Acting Premier of Queensland,
14 May , 1914; <C.A.0., CRS A457, item 0J08/6.

2. T.W.C. Shorthand Notes, 30, 18 August, 1918, CAB 23/43.
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Hughes had questioned Arthur Balfour,l the Foreign Secretary,

on the point during his exposition on 'War Aims'. Balfour

stated that his first proposal was the retention of the

German colonies. Secondly, the Dominions would retain those

which they had occupied and which were adjacent to them.
Thirdly, Britain would support Japan's claim tod the North
Pacific Islands in view of the promise given to them in

February 1917 in return for which Jaman had given naval

assistance; the Dominions had been consulted on this and had

consented. It was at this point that Hugheé's ingenuous

query was posed:

The

all.

the
was

and

I should like to understand éxactly,what the position is

with regard to that promise. What is it? Is it anything

more than a mere conversation?

discussion that resulted was plainly an embarrassment to
Bonar Law recollected that the matter was settled in

early days of the War during Asquith's time when Harcourt

. 2 ' .
Colonial Secretary” and Lord Grey was Foreign- Secretary

both approved of the guarantee. Hughes probed further:

'Was it done before I g¢ame to England in 1916?' Bonar Law,

his memory refreshed, recalled that it had been settled

before he took up his position at the Colonial Office, (Mav

1915). Hughes plunged ‘deeper:

We were never informed of that vou know. Tt was not
before I came to England. T saw the Ambassador with
you (Bonar Iaw) and Sir Edward Crey, as he then was....

am certain of this. I have Y“eer in officc fr.un the
1. Arthur Balfour, (1848~1930); Prime Minister 1902-05; Foreign
Secretary, 1916-19; British Delegation, Washington Conference,
1921-2. -~
2. Lewis Harcourt, (1863-1922); Liberal MP; Secretary of State for

Colonies, 1910-~15; Office of Works, 1915-16; viscount, 1917; D.N.B.
affgcti(ﬂately known as 'Lulu'.
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beginning\of the War, and I am certain the Commonwealth

Government were not consulted.
But Bonar Law still felt that Australia had been at least
informed in Asquith's day and he thought that it had been
approved of by the Australians. Warming even further to
his subject, Bonar Law affirmed that in 1916 when Hughes was
in London he had himself agreed to it. While Lloyd George's
only comment was that 1t had been settled before his time
as Prime Ministqg, Lord Curzon vividly recalled that it was
done in the time of the present GoVeerent: 'I remember
arguing it at this very table.'.‘yl As it was obvious that the
meeting was hazy on the facté of the case and as it seemed
important to Hughes, it was resolved that Lerd Robert Cecil
should have a memorandum drawn up on the subject. A couple
of months later Maurice Hankey, the Secretary of the I.W.C.,
duly sent Hughes a copy with a covering note which reviewed
the circumstances at the I.W.C. that accounted for the

attached memorandum.

At the I.W.C. meeting late in December which again
discussed the German Colonies on the basis of memoranda by
General Smuts, the Foreién,Office, and the Colonial Secretary,

Mr. Walter Long,3 Hughes persisted with his attack.

1. Very likely it was clear in Curzon's mind because he was the
only one who voted against it at that. meeting. See D.B.F.P.I,
(XIV), no. 167, foot-note by Curzon, 10 November, 1920. o
2. Maurice Hankey to Hughes, 26 November , 1918, Hughes Papers.

3. Walter Long, Colonial Secretary, 1917-19.
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Referring to Smuts's memo which was entitled 'The British
Colonies' he protested that the memorandum stated that he
congidered the arrangement whereby Japan took the Islands
north of the Equator was 'fair and equitable' and was

the result of negotiations to which he had been a party.
Hughes categorically denied these assertions:

The facts were that the then Colonial Secretary had

informed the Commonwealth that it was vitally important
not to offend Japan; that Japan was in possession of
the islands anyhow, and that nothing we could say would
affect their o.cupation. That was the real position and
Australia simply accepted the inevitable.

Mr. Bonar Law agreed, and said that Mr. Hughes had
acquiesced in that which was already done.l

Although Lord Robert Cecil's Foreign Office memorandum of
October was circulated at the §5 November Imperial War
Cabinet meeting there is no record that Hughes commented on
it at that meeting. However he registered his objection on
behalf of the Australian Government to the recent claim to
those Islands by Marquis Okuma, the former prime minister,
whose speech had been recorded in The Times.2 TQW‘his Lord
Robert stated that the Commonwealth had been kept fully
informed at eQery step of negotiations and had in fact been
pexrsone - consulted at a vital stage. Firstly, specific
reference was made to the March 1915 claims of the Japanese

1. I.w.C. shorthang notes, 44, 20 December, 1918, CAB 23/43. Hughes
appears to be referring to the 1916 consultations ir London with
Bonar Law, Sir Edward Grey and the Japanese ambassador.

2. I.W.C., 36, 5 November, 1918; CAB 23/43. 1In the copy in the
Hughes Pepers, Hughes has written against Lord Robert Cecil's

remarks 'This is not true'. These conclusions were published in
'Western and General Report' no.93, 7 November, 1918; copy in Hughes

Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538.
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when the Governments of Australia and New Zealand were .
fully informed. Secondly Hughes by 1implica' n in London
in 1916 had assumed the Japanese case in his conversations
with Sir Edward Grey ana the Japaneseihmbassaddf and lastly
in 1917 the Australian Government was consulted and .

consented to the assurances being given to tbﬂ‘Japanese.l

Contemporary Australian critics have, on the one hand,
accused Hughes of not securing these Pacific Islands
while others, perversely, have deemed it uhwisezfor
Australian authorities to press for their acquisition._

~ »
Representative of the former was the 'Manifesto of-the
Labour Party' in the 1919 election campaign_accusing the
Hughes Government: '
. The nationalist government have failed
absolutely to stand for a White Australia and
- no satisfactory explanations have been given

of the secret arrangement whereby Japan obtained

a footing in the Caro.ine and Marshall Islands.

Through its unsound policy in the Pacific it

has given an amtitious naSion a base within
easy reach of our shores.

Of the latter, Colonel Legge, Chief of the General Staff,
informed the Governor-General in May 1915 that 'if as an

Australian'soldier he were offered the islands North of

1. Lord Robert Cecil, Foreign Office, Confidential, for the War
Cabinet, 15 October, 1918, F.O. 371/3236/176414.v Cecil was Under-
Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs.

2. At this point selected references will suffice; the full
weight of the arguments for and against will be developed in this
and succeeding chapters.

3. Manifesto of the Labour Party, signed by G. Tudor and T.J. Ryan,
December 1913, Hughes Paper, N.L.A., MS 1538.
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the Line he was nor sure he would nor rather be without
:ﬁhom]l Colonel Burns, of the large mercantile and trading
firm in the Pacific, Burns Philp; and a confidant of the
qovernor-general, in his own memo on the subiject considered

Australia would be served best by: ‘

making a virtue of necessity; agree to Japan retaining
the islands north of the equator; an lave some
understanding with them as to trade wi th those ‘south of

it, in order to prevent our gradual exclusion from their
trade.

To compound matters, Rear Admiral W.R. Creswell, the First
Naval Member, in December 1914 considered these Islands were

of the utmost value for Australian naval defence:
N

It is important that our position in regard to the
Marshall, Caroline, Marianne, and Pelew groups of
Islands be clearly stated and recorded.
These islands were surrendered to the Australian
Expeditionary Force on the capture of the- seat of
covernment of the German Pacific Possessions and
definitely and distinctly included in the surrender.?

“
-

As Roger Louis, a recent writer on the subject, has poiﬁted
out, opinion 'divided itself roughly into two camps: those
who regarded themselves as "Little Australians" and those

who thought Australia had a "Pacific destiny"'.

On the guestion as to whether Hughes was correct in

arguing that he had not been consulted on the matter and

1. Munro Ferguson, minute dated 13 May 1915, in 'Precis of
References toc Pacific Possessions in Personal Letters to c.o.',
5 Auagust, 1915; Viscount Davidson Papers, House of LordsBRecord
Office. He was the private secretary of both Harcourt and BRonar

Law at the Office.

2. W.R. Creswell, First Naval Member, Memorandum, 30 December,
1914; c.a.0., (Melbourne), MP1049/1, Box 7, file 14/0461, item
W112/4/657. Senator George Pearce, the Defence Minister, minuted
that it was recommended to the Prime Minister that action on the
above lines should be taken; 10 February, 1915.  The letter to the

Colonial Office finally was not sent. ’



that he had merely 'acquiesced in something which had already

been done', a veritalble fait accompli, it is important at this

point to place his allegations in the context of the general
debate on consultation which, as we have seen already, was a
sore point with successive Australian statesmen. It was to
arise again and again and indeed, constitutes one of the
continuing themes of this study. It was to concern him more
and more to the point of obsession.  ilughes to the end
considered real consultation was denied him on the matter.
Thus this issue warrants detailed critic. analysis,
especially as it has been the subject of attention by recent
writers on the subject. Louis, for example tends to suggest
there was consultatidn of a sortl while Meanev asserts that
Hughes -nly backed down on his claims when the Australian
Cabinet indicated it would not support such unrealistic

claims.® ~F

We have seen that the attitude of the British towards
the Anglo-Japanese alliance in 1914 was that it was
necessary for strategic reasons. Reluctantly the British
Government had ‘to admit that German naval operations could
not be resisted effectively single-handed. The weakness of

British naval capability in the Far East at this time was

1. W. Roger Louis, Great Britain and Germany's Lost Colonies 1914-
19, (Oxford 1967), pp.46 and 79-80.

2. 'N.K. Meaney, 'Australia's Search for Security in the Pacific',
Paper delivered at Institute of Commonwealth Studies, University of
Iondon, 1972.
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due directly to the re-organisation of Britain's naval
forcesl that so alarmed the Australians. Although Britain
had maintained superiority over the German forces it could
not put them out of action without calling on the Japanese
and so invoking the Alliance. This acti - therefore was
partly responsible for the subsequent occupation and
retention of the German possessions in the North,Pacific.z
If Japanese naval action was required, the Foreign Office,

and Grey, were prepared for the quid pro quo:

Jdapan is barred from every part of the world except the
Far East, and the Anglo-Japanese Alliance cannot be
maintained if she is to be barred there also or if we

are to take the German concessions in China as well as
taking German concessions in Africa and elsewhere...

I do not wish to make offers to Japan at the expense of
China, but in my opinion if we had not made it clear that
we should not bar Japan's expansion of interests in the
Far East, it would clearly have been in Japan's advantage
to throw in her lot with Germany.3

As Cedric Lowe has concluded, 'the reckoning was to come,

they thought, after the war in Europe was concluded'.4

’British statesmen and officials for the remainder of
theyrar were to mask their anxieties on these areas in

their relations with Australian officials and statesmen.?

t

1. See above and Marder, From the Dreadnought to Scapa Flow,

vol.I pp.40-43, 236-39 and vol.II chapter VI; also see Lowe, Great
Britain and Japan 1911-15, pp.178-9 and I. Nish, Alliance in Decline:
A Study in Anglo-Japanese Relations, 1908-1923, (London 1972), B
pp.l118-19. For a view that opposes the contention that naval
exigencies demanded Japan's naval assistance see D. Dignan, 'Australia
and British Relationships with Japan, 1914-23', Australian Outlook,
vol. XXI, no.2, August 1967, pp.144-146.

2. P. Lowe, Great Britain and Japan, 1911-15, PP-178—9.\

3. Grey, Minute, 16 February, 1916; F.0. 371/2647.

4. C.J. Lowe, Mirage of Power, vol.II, British ﬁoreign Policy,
1914-22, pp.2-7.

5. There is abundant evidence. in marginal comments and minutes in
F.0. 371 on this score to which there will be references as we proceed.

.
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If the full record of Foreign Office anxieties and
opinion had been relayed tc the Australian Government it
might very well have alarmed them, created bitterness, and
strained relations, leading to emotive measures.l All
this could have been in the minds of the British causing
them to withhold the full picture, but one must agree with
Dignan's conclusion that in the long run it might have been
better for Australian Authorities to have been 'exposed
to all the fact- and undistorted specialist opinion'.2
For the Australian expert on Far Eastern affairs, E.L.
Piesse, this aspecﬁ was made clear to him at the Paris
Peace Conference by Commander J.G. Latham, a. 'technical
advisor® attached to the Australia. delegation:

I have met quite a number of Foreign Office

people subordinates of various kinds, and a

lot of Naval people and have formed the

impression that we have their fullest

sympathy with respect to Japan Their view is -

that the utterances of high persons are not

due to any particular affection for our Eastern

neighbour, but are dictated by expediency and
are part of a general camouflage policy.3

’

C.J. Lowe has also commented that Grey, by his handling
of Japan between August and December 1914 'ensured that '

Britain obtained the worst of both worlds':4 That is to say,

1. One Australian MP in the 1916 conscription debate opposed
conscription for overseas service on the arounds that Australians
would be required to defend Australian shores against the menace
‘from the north'. See D.M. Catts, James How 4 Catts, (Sydney,

1953), Passim.

2. bignan, ‘Australia and British Relati-ns wi.th Japan', p.149.
3. Latham to E.L. Piesse, private, 21 Februniy, 1919; Piesse
pPapers, N.L.A., MS 882/5. Piesse was Director of the Pacific

Branch in the Prime Minister's Department and was the Australian
expert on Far Eastern affairs.

4. Lowe, Miragé of Power, p.287.
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not only was the integrity of China threatened but Japan
also expanded into the Pacific to the consternation of the
United States and the Australasians. onp toplof this the
issue strained relations witthapan, an invaluable ally
against Germany which was the main pre-occupation in Grey's
mind at this time in what was by far the critical_theatre of
the War. This pre-occupation may well account fof his
policy going astray in the face of the Japanese who, as

Ian Nish points out, 'were Playing the stronger hand.' For
Nish, the crisis of August was an early occasion when the
Japanese manipdlated British needs for their own ends and
exploited the Alliance to the limit to fulfill their own

purposes . 1

This is a convenient point to comment on the Australian
involvement in the Pacific. As a result of the Japanese
expansion into the Pacific; which Grey had been unable to
contain, it was their forces that effectively occupied the
German Islands in the north Pacific rather than the
Australians who had expected to do SO on the basis of
British instructions.2 What the Australians did capture

Was'Rabaul, capital of the whole German Empire in the

1. Nish, Alliance in Decline, p.131, ff. See alsoxpl;Lowe,
Great Britain and Japan, and L.F. Fitzhardinge,'Australia;“Japan
and Great Britain, 1914-18; »a Study in Trianqular Diplomacy"*,
Historical Studies, vol.XIV, no.54, April, 1970, pp.250-9

2. On 5 August, 1914, a C.I.D. Sub-Committee, the 'Offensive
Sub-Committee' authorized operations against the German

Colonies, Hankey the secretary of the C.I.D. states: '"Harcourt

as Colonial Secretary had of his own initiative and so far as

I know wdthout consulting anyone, communicated with the Various
Dominions and Coloniesrwith a view to their taking action'. Cited
in Hankey, Supreme Command, PP.168-9; see Louis,»Germany's Lost
Colonies, p.41, f.n.20.
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<
Pacific, north and south, in mid-September 1914. In the
'"Terms of Cavitulation' the Islands north of the Equator

were specifically included:

Islands. Admiral Creswell, the First Naval Member, proposed
in December 1914 that the Australian right to a claim to
these islands should be lodged with the British Authorities
for consideration 'in any final arrangement for their
disposal.' The best legal opinion in the country was sought.
R.R. Garranz, the Solic;tor—GeneraJ, whom Hughes, now the
Attorney—Genenal, ranked as the greatest public servant in
the Commonwealth, concurred with the iegal advice. Although
it was accepted that the Germén pPossessions north of the
Equator were included 'in the Terms of Capitulation fas
distinct from a formal surrender), it went on to conclude

that:

~

It may be doubtful whether the mere surrender by the
Governor of Rabaul, even if expressed to cover all

German possessions in the Pacific, would put the Marshall,
the Caroline, the Pelew and Marshall Islands in British

occupation....(But) in company with the other facts
stated (7¢ would) be a substitution of the British or
Allied occupation for that of Germany....3

1. E. Haber (Aeting Governor!) ang W. Holmes {Colone? Australian
Forces), 'Terms of Capitulation', 17 September, 1914, (Holmes
Papers) in the Travers Papers, Mitchell Library, Sydney, Uncat.
MSS15/1. This collection will be referred to as the Holmes Papers. .
Travers was the son-in-law of Holmes.

2. 'R.R. Garran, (1867-1957) ; Solicitor-General, 1901-1932; Hughes's
legal advisor at Paris in 1919; Knighted in 1917, ) :

3. Gargon. Minute, Attorney—General'S“Department to Secretary Dept.
of Deféﬁce, 4 November, 1914; attached 1s the legal opinion, 'German
New Guinea-Effect of Surrender', w. Harrison Moore, C.A.0., CpP316/1/17.
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At the very lecast this legal opinion left the question
open; 1t would have to be settled later. And this
really squared with Admiral Creswell's thesis, and
subsequently Hughes's that the occupation of these
Islands ought to be 'without prejudice’ pending the final'
arrangement for their disposal when it was expected that
the Australian case could be aired.

The So-Called 1915 'Agreement',

It is evident that Imperial authorities had been

embarréssed'by the t.rn in events. Grey had informed Harcourt

earlier that 'there are the materials for a tragic row' and
that the 'Australians must hold their hand somehow, till we come
ub with an understanding with the Japanese.'2 The Foreign
OfficeAbegaﬁ#its review of these events almost immediately.
One official typed on the back of his copy 6f Grey's letter
that the 'Australian Authorities are jnistaken about this. '
Ambassador Greene, a Jaunophile, taking up this argument,
expounded the Japanese case. Japanese forces had taken

these islands; they were 'as near to Japan as they are far
removed from Australia' who ought‘tolbe'satisfied with her
acquisitions 'south of the line'.. Moreove if the war were
.to swing to Germany's favour it would be ti: Japanese and

not the Australians who would have to fight Germany for their
possession.4 'However, the weight of opinion in the Office,
and with which Grey agreed, was that the Japanese action was
'at variance with assurances given in public' by Baron Kato

on 19 August. Not only this, it was considered that while

the Japanese Note Verbale stated on the one hand that the

1. Secretary to State for Colonies, cablegram, 3 December, 1914;
C.A.0., Melbourne, MF 1049/1. f£f/112/4/446.

L

2. Grey to Har-ourt, private, 23 November, 1914; F.O. 800/91/481.

3. ,Typed comment, unsigned, Ibid. .

4. Greene to Crey, private, 5 December, 1914; F.C. 800/68/194-201.
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ocrupation was 'without prejudice to final arrangements' it
concluded that in view of services rendered 'the nation
naturally would insist on retaining permanently all the

German islands lying north of the Equator..v..'1

While these lengthy minutes and correspondence
emphasised that the Japanese action had not squared with
previous public guarantees it was recognized, as Kato was
quick to point out, that Japanese participation had been .
greater since 19 August; but again, as Alston observed, so
far as the British were aware there had been;no Japanese
losses at sea nor did they capture any ships nor was any
blood spilt in the 'capture' of these Islands. There is
a sense of resignation in the Foreign Office's acknowledge-
ment -0f the realities -of the situation. Thus while Alston
noted the Australian insistance that these Islands 'formed
part of the adﬁinistrative area of German New Guinea which
was included by the Governor in the surrender to the
Australians', he still felt obliged to acknowledge that the
Japanese must have some compensation somewhere in the
Pacific. However, it was still impossible for thélBritish;
'to considérrthe matter as settled' as the Japanese had
urged, in view of the Bfifish undertaking with the French
and Russians that all territory occupied was without
prejudice péhding final arrangements. This prior arrangement'
between the Eufopean Allies proved to be the means by which
the Foreign Office was able to stall the Japanese and save

face with the Pacific wers.

i .
1. Grey to Greene, 1, 3 December,ti9l4, latter including Note Verbale,
F.0. 371/2018/77663; Minutes by Alston, Langley, and Nicolson, 2,
17 December, Ibid.
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As much as anything, the British were concerned about
' American reaction. Grey cabled Greene at Tokyo with evident

urgency, that it would be well to be informed of anything
that Japan had said to the United States. From the exchange
of cables it would appear that the United States Ambassador
at London had not mentioned their reaction to the occupation.l
Ambassador Page had in fact informed President Woodrow Wilson
that there is 'much talk quiet and discreet about Japah' and the
Pacific Islands.2 Quiet and discreet were the operative words
at this time. Thus:Harcourt wrote to Munro Ferguson ho@ing to
allay the fears of the Australians explaining the turnabout
in events only days after his cable requesting the
Australians to remain south of the Equator: Harcourt admitted
to Munro Ferguson that it was the pressure on the Royal
Navy that had led directly to the call for 'Japaneseiaidjh
He could rest assured.that Japanese pressure to consider the
matter settled had been resisted: -

All this is a long story...but the moral of.it is

that you ought in the most gradual and diplomatic

way begin to prepare the mind of your Ministers for the

possibility that at the end of the war Japan may be

- left in possession of the Northern Islands and we with
everything south of the Equator.

1. Grey to Greene, telegram, 3 December, 1914; F.Q. 371/2018/77663,
Greene to Grey, 5 December, 1914; F.O. 800/68/201. *

'

2. "Walter Hines Page to Woodrow Wilson, 15 July, 1915; woodrow
Wilson Papers, cited in Braisted, The United States Navy in:the
Pacific, p.163, Page commented in January 1916 that he felt that
Britain would resist Japan's request for 'large advantages and

" privileges' after the War: Ibid. (The Americans retained their
interest in Yap and the Marshalls. Yap is the subject of debate

at Paris in 1919 and a subject for treaty at Washington in 1921-22.

R.H. Fifield, Woodrow Wilson and the Far East: the Diplomacy of the
Shantung Question, (New York), 1952,,p.126 f.n. 57 says these Islands.
were used for naval bases during the Second World War. P.B, Haigwood i
shows that Japan between the wars did not fortify the Isluands in

the. 'classic' sense but the installations erccted would have been

easily converted almost immediately when required; P.G. Haywood,

'‘Japan and the Mandates', in W.R. Louis (ed.) National Security and
International Trusteeship in the Pacific. (Annapolis, 1972), pPp.97-109.
Such matters were the basis of Hughes's 'nightmares' and thus were not '
Just shadows in the night. '




Harcourt acknowledged that he had set Munro Ferguson a hard
task and that the Australians would not ‘like it but the
prospect of gaining German New Guinea 'the territories most

continguous to Australia' was the important aspect to

1

emphasise. !

There was no need to urge Munro Ferguson on in a task

54

that related to the extension of Britain's 'Liberal’ Empire.

He had anticipated Harcourt's request: As early as October
he discussed with Sir Edmund Barton, the first Prime
Minister, Sir S. GJiffith, the Chief Justice 'of the High
Court, and Colonel Burns, 2 me thods of ‘administering

British possessions in the Pacific with specific references
to New Guinea. It was their belief, he informed Harcourt, 3
that there would be a direct relationship between
Australasian War effort and "Imperial defence' and the
prospect of gaining the responSLblllty for admlnlstratlon

of these Islands.

For some months Munro Ferguson was to pursue this course

of sounding out leading men in business, legal, military,
4

naval, and political circles - the 'best' opinion,® which included

1. Harcourt to Munro Ferguson, private and personal very secret,
6 December, 1914; Novar Papers, N.L.A., 696/1306-9. ’

2. Sir James Burns, Colonel, M.L.C., Head of the large mercantile
and trading firm, Burns Philp & Co., having extensive interests in
" the Pacific; a confidant of Munro Ferguson; MsS Section, N.L.A., 1968.

3. Munro Ferguson to Harcourt, Melbourne, 21 October,il9l4; Novar
. Papers, MS 696,/608. Y \

4. Munro Ferzuson to Colonial Office, Despatch, 25 January, 1915;
Novar Papers, N.L. A., MS 696/656.

14

&
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the Prime Minister, and the Attorney-General, Hughes.
Colonial Offiée reaction to this was mixed. While
Harcourt had instigated the whole business and even though
Munro Ferguson had been requested to discuss matters in
general, Colonial Office opinion was concerned that the
policy being outlined by the Governor-General to the
Australian Prime Minister might not be the policy of Her

Majesty's Goverp t, so that, it was felt, he 'should he

"warned of AM ‘. Apart from the German possessions

Munro F%ﬁ%» : nefred to the possibility of the
Commonwea biJ, ‘New'Caledonia and the French
interéégt Lﬁebr'des. This elicited a final minute
that~"I>aﬁﬁafrq}A‘§if R. Muhro's sense of proportion has become
affected'.l R '

In an endeavour to retair proper sense of proportion
the Australians pressed Harcourt concerning the termétof
the Japanese occupation of the IsJands.z"So concerned was
ﬁarcourt now, that Australians should have the 'facts' so
that they could appreciate the dilemma that faced the
British Government he:- requested the Foreign Office for a
memorandum on the Japanese negotiations citing the actual

texts of the cables and correspondence. The Foreign Office

agreed only on the understanding that paraphrases should be

1. Minutes, 10 March, 1915; c.0. 418/132/11137, incorporating the
above despatch of the gevernor-general of 25 January, 1915,

2. Secretary of the Prime Minister's Department to Official
Secretary of Governor-General, requesting cable to Secretary
State Colonies, 18 February-, 1915; C.aA.0., Melbourne, MP 1049/1.
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employed rather than the citation of the original text.
The Foreign Office, fearing for the safety of its cypher,
complained that in fact the Colonial Office Mcmorandum that
had been despatched to the Dominions virtually was the text.
Not only was the secrecy of the cypher endangered but, as
one official noted, 'I am not convinced that some of the
gquotations might not find their way to the public which
would be madness'. In the event, Grey and Harcourt, made a
virtue out of necessity, pointing out to the Australians that
the correspondence demonstrated that now there:should be no -
'uneasiness in the minds of your Ministers lest the British
Government should have come to some understanding with t?g
Japanese Government'.l There was more to be said. Harcourt
informed. the Governor-General that Grey had permitted the
‘despatch of copies of the actual cables of all essential
telegrams which have passed between the British‘and
Jaganese Governments:

These telegrams are of such a very secret character that

though you are at liberty to show them to your Ministers,

I hope no copies will be taken of them by anybody and that

no reference to them shall be allowed, by any possibility
to leak out.?

Harcourt thus had had a serious difference Qf opinion

with the Foreign Office in his desire to inform the

1. This subject is dealt with in F.0. 371/2382/32664, which included
the above Minute by Miles Lampson, 15 March, 1915, Harcourt to Munro
Ferguson, most secret, 19 March, 1915 and Grey, F.O., to the C.O.,
draft, 6 April, 1915; also the Memorandum in question on the
correspondence between Greene and Grey in 1914, sent ¢nt in the
despatch to the Governor-General, 23 February, 1915.

2. 1Ibid. Grey's draft letter to the C.O. included Miles Lampson's.
recommendation that 'they destroy them as soon as they have communicated
thelir substance verbally to the Ministers concerned.'
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Australians of Britain's dilemma in the Pacific. At much
the same time he ran foul of Montagu and the Conservative
leaders, Bonar Law, and Lord Lansdowne. Harcourt had
prepared a Memorandum for the War Council, entitled 'The
Spoils', concerning the fate of African, Middle-East, Asian
and Pacific territories. The possible fall of Constantinople
and the Ottoman Empire, Harcourt argued, 'would force a
premature discussion of a division of the yet unacquired
spoils of the whole war.' The Memorandum is one of the
earliest on British war aims on the colonial question and
argued that the German pdssessions would be essential for the
future securlty of the Empire. It would mean that even if
the War in Europe was inconclusive the British Empire and
the Al}les would have, at any rate, gained a solid prize.
The territories also could be used to settle outstanding
colonial disputes with the French. On Pacific matters
Harcourt maintained that it was evident that the Japanese
intended to claim the possession of all the islands she now
occupied at the end of the War with the possible exception
of Yap: 'I fear that this will “cause great trouble in
Australia especially as regards the Marshall Islands the

trade of which has been even under German rule exclusiVely

with Australia'. Nor would the United States be pleased at the
expansion of Japan athwart her communications between the
1

Philippines and the Hawaiian Islands.

1. Harcourt, Memorandum, 'The Spoils, 25 March, 1915, Bonar lLaw Papers,
House of Lords Record Office, MS 55/41; only nine copies were printed.

Concerning the Marshall Islands' trade Harcourt overstated the case.
Australia was the major trader followed by Germany then Japan; see

L.E. Gelfand. The Inquiry: American Preparations for Peace, 1917-

1919, (New Haven, 1963), pp.269-272.
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Harcourt evidently apnroached Bomar Law and Lord
Lansdowne, both of whom were members of the War Council,1
tor their opinions but they refused point blank to tell
him. Bonar Law was loath to commit himself to premature
decisions which could be.prejudicial in the final event.2
Moreover he recognized that the issue of a 'hard' or 'éoff"
peace was 1nvolved and a consideration of such matters at
this time was too d1v151ve an issue. Similar thoughts had
passed through Hughes's mind at this time concerning
Andrew Fisher's call for an Imperial conference to discuss

'inter alia the pr1nc1ples and terms(?) of peace' He also
was not in favour of anticipating the position which would
exist at the termination of the War and for much the same
reasons: 'It may mean the parting of the ways'. That is,
he expanded for Garran's benef. t, 'we may hurt the feelings
of one or more of our present allies' and 'a settlement say
of a Pacific policy which would be- acceptable to Britain

might be more distasteful to us. And we should have a right

to bevheard'.3

Harcourt's Memorandum left Montaqu non-nlussed to say
the least, judging from the stinaing robuke he prepared in
his rebuttal oﬁ Harcourt's thesis. There is no evidence

that this_Memofandum was ever used but as an expression of

¢

1, See Doreen Collins, Aspects of British Politics 1904-1919,
(London, 1965), Chapter 4, 'Liberals in War Time' for a discussion
based on primary sources of the Ccreation of the War Council and its
expansion to include these Conservative leaders.

2. Lansdowne te Bonar Law and Bonar Law to Harcourt, both 1 Aoril,
1915; Bonar Law Papers, MSS 37/1/1 and 5/4, cited in V.H. Rothwell,
British War Aims and Peace Dlplomacz, 1914-1918, (C)tford, 1971), p.20.

-3. Hughes to Garran, 27 February, 1915; Garran Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 2001/13/1-2. '

” —

-
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Montagu's distaste for a 'hard' peace is superlative
in its characteristic phraseology and as an example of
scholarly invective it would be difficult to surpass.
Harcourt who was ﬂ}epared to fight the battles of the
Australians on this point found no sympathy from Montagu:

He (Harcourt) fears that .the Australians may be

angry 1f the Japanese get some of the Islands...and

yet I think the Japanese have been far more useful

to us in this war than the Australians and would

have been still more useful but for Mr. Harcourt

himself...I would f.r rather cede ‘Australia to the

Japanese than cede to Australia anything that the

Japanese want .1
What surprised Montagu was that such a man as Harcourt
whose liberalism was impeccable could write such a
Memorandum: 'The seductive attractions of the CX. nad
destroyed Mr. Harcourt's "Li*+le Englandism and made him
a-Flag Waver".'2 4

Between February a-d May he Governor-General carried -
out a veritable campaig: of b 1nging rouns,Australian
leaders to the Colonial C. . i1ce view uf matters. 1In February
he chatted with Colonel Legge, Chief of the General Staff,
who was convinced Australia should stay out of tho§é*regions
and stick to south of the Equator, for this was all that

2

L.

1. The memorandum is in appendix I d¢ this thesis, n.n., n.d.
(probably April 1915 being attached to the foreg01ng of similar date);
,Asquith Papers, Bodleian lerary, Asquith MS 27/§3 95.

2. 'Edwin Montagu: (1879—1924); statesman, and Liberal MP; 1906-22;

' Private Secretary to Asquith, 1906-10; Parliamentary Under

_ Secretary ~f India, 1910-14; Financ1al Secretary to Treasury, 1914-16;
' Chancellor of Duchy of Lancaster with’ a Cabinet seat, 1915; Minister
for Munitions, 1916; Secretary of,State for India, 1917-22. ’
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\
_ \ '
'in common pfudence we should attempt to administer'. Legge
relterated these v1ews in May: 'They would be expensive to

hold, *and Japan would seize them on the outbreak of War';
whilst\lf Japan held them 'she could not mass troops there
withoutxthe Australian Government knowing of it and they
would stfll be 1000 miles from our uu'1Ving possessions'.

in March he consulted Sir Samuel Gri:f .h, the Chief Justice
of the High Court' and Sir william Irvine, a former

Attorney General and now deputy leader of the Oppositi-- of
whom Munro Ferguson had the h;ghest opinion. The former

saw no difficulty with the Equator as the boundary between
thé two spheres of interest but Irvine, a firm proponent of
the 'White Australia' policy, considered Australian opinion
would be greatly disturbed weré Japanese influence extended
beyond the Equator. He acknowledged that between Allies
there would have to-be give and take but would be far happier
. to see the Japanese out of the Islands occupied by her but would
not be keen for an Australian occupation.? The leader

of the Opposition, Sir Joseph Cook, was alarmed,gt the
prospect of Japanese bases so close to the Equator and
Australia, though as he confided to Munro Ferguson, he would

not quarr ' with Japan over the issue.3

Most iwmportant of all were the conversations with the

leaders of Government. Hughes appears to have been consulted

e . N

4 <
;1. Munro Ferguson to Harcourt, 18 February and 13 May, 1915; Novar
Papers, -N.L.A., MS 696/656-60, and 687; Novar Diary, entry for 18
May , 1915; ‘'saw Col. Legge before he sailed'. This diary is in
the possession of Professor Poynter, Vice Chancellor (Research) of the
University of, Melbourne; extracts are to be published shortly.

. A}

2. 1Ibid.. 10 March, 1915; Novar Papers, MS 696/667; and 24 March, 1915,

MS 696/673; Novar Diary, 12 May.

3. 1Ibid., 6 April, 1915; Novar Papers, MS 696/676-7; Novar Diary,
30 March, 1915. - ,
N . v ra
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once early in the round. Munro Ferguson noted that Hughes
quite appreciated 'the importance of the Pacific Question
as it affected India, Japan, United States and Australia';
He showed a reasonable spixit in discussing concessions
but 'he was a born politician' and I am afraid that it is
unlikely that h-s real opinion will femain unchanged Yy

party prejudice and assion'.l The implication héq%ﬁ;s that
Hughes would in 'vent be uncompromising 1n*5§sﬁéﬁy with
Irvine, Atlee Hunt, Burns, Creswell, and Pearce Amongst

other matters on which Hughes was consulted was the problem

of the New Hebrides Condominium that Munro Ferguson Hoped D
to solve and the Enemy Trading Bill. On this latter subject€>».a#
the Governor-General noted that Fisher and Hughes were

not completely in accord though the Chief Justice agreed . a%
with Hughes's approach on it which was fundamental to his

concept of waging war to the uttermost against an enemy

whom he judged to be already within the gates. b 7

§ .
Sendtor Pearce, Hughes's confidant, was with Andr?w

Fisher, the Prime Minister, when Munro Ferguson dave them 9
access to the 'most secret' material despatched to him by
Harcourt and Grey. He was privy to all the material that

was available.

The record shows that theﬁa had been the fqllest
discussion and consultation with Fisher. He had had the
benefit of Colonel Burns's memoranda. He hall seen the

RN

1. Munro Ferguson to Colonial Secretary, Despatch 25 January,
1915, C.0. 418/132/11137,

2. Creswell and Pearce already had expressed their uncompromising
stand in the Memo prepared for the Admiralty, 19 Februagy, 1915;

see above. Munro Ferguson's light estimate of Creswell would
account for no record of an interview: Ibid., 23 September, 1917,
Novar Papers, MS 696/690. Of the Pearce interviews there is no
record of his opinion; 13, 27 April, 15 May, 1915, Novar Diary, and
Novar Papers, 13 April, 1915, MS 696,/6960-1.
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'most secret' correspondence between Grey and Greene.

In February before fhe weight of all the correspondence

and eyents had had their maximum impact Fisher was
‘convinced that Australia would have enough on her hands
south of the Line and ‘that for the 'Little Australlans

even this would be too much. He had dévélbped a
'nervousness', so Munro Ferguson informed Harcourt, over

the possible establishment of bases so close to the equator
although it was apparent that Cook was more 'jumpy’' or
‘alarmed' than he. There were also the revelations of the
Grey-Greene correspondence, the extracts from Japanese
newspapers supplied by the British Embassy at Tokyo and then
on top of it 'mll, the accounts appearing in the press of
Japanese aggression in China, the notorious ’Twénty One
Demands' - all calculated to increase Fisher's‘%ﬁéte of
nervous tension.l He therefore dec1ded that in the most.
informal way he would allude to this Pac1f1c qdéstlon.-ESomé\
time before 13 May he informed Cabinet that 'nothing is té ‘
be done until the peace settlement' on the Islands question.
On the nineteenth he 'initiated an infogmal discussion on
the future of the Islands. of the Pacifid' which, he

informed Harcourt, 'followed lines aé}eei')e to your

views. The feeling (was) for not giving trouble over the
continued Japanese occupation of islands north of the line'

These two quite informal discussions appear to be the
only times that the subject reached Cabinet level. As

L.F. Fitzhardinge has put it, ' the question was never

1. 1Ibid., 18 February, 10, 13 May, 1915, Novar Papers, MS 696/656-60, .-
687, Novar Diary, 13, 17 May, 1915.

2. 1Ibid., 13, 19 May , 1915 Novar Papers, MS 696/687, 692; Novar
Diary 17 May, 1915. Andrew Fisher, (1862-1928), Australian statesman;
migrated from Scotland; prime minister, ‘1907, 1908-9, 1910-13, and
1914-15; high commissioner at London, 1915-21. -
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squarely put to Cabinet'.! There certainly is' no record of
a Cabinet decision. Tt is also difficult to accept that the
leading members of the Cabinet who were consulted by the
Governor-General gave their opinion on the basis that these
consultations constituted a final Yea or nay. There is no
air of finality about the matter at-this stage although the’
Governor-General concluded that the Australijans would very
likely acquiesce to the fact of the Japancse in the Iglands.
It seems to me it was the blanket of secrecy that Harcourt;
Grey and their advisers covered over the whole affair, and
with good reason, that stifled any proper consultations. |
As Hughes had noted,f@ﬁ&ihﬁerial conference on the matter,
Fisher's idea, would risk offending those who currently were
- Allies. And as Harcourt expressed it, that no 'anti-
Japanese agitation shduld, dufing the progresé of the war
be allowed to arise in Australia', was vital for in such
circumsténces the Japanese Government might 'press us-for
an immediate‘recognition of ‘their claims'.? He could well
have added what was in the minds of British leaders; that
Japan then might véry well swor partners. As Fisher was
Sworn to secrecy no full scale debate was possible in

Cébihet let alone in Parliament.

It is significant to note that Lord Robert,Mcil's
memorandum did not claim that Fisher's Government had given

any assurances, but merely noted the full and’ frank.

s

l. L.F. Fitzhardinge, 'Australia, Japan and Great Britain, 1914-1918:
A Study in Triangular Diplomacy', Historical Studies, Vol.XIVj no.54,
April 1970, p.256; and his The Little Digger. <

*

2. Harcourt to Munro Ferguson, most secret, 23 February, 1915;

g~ L.C. 418/132/8056.

~1
p;
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disclosure of the‘correspdndence in March 1915. Certainly
tbe Australian Government was informed of what had happened.
The introductory section of this Cecil memo was based on an
earlier one, in December 1915, which traced matters through
1914 and 1915.1 There is no reference again to any
assurances giQen by the Fisher Government. Nor does Grey
refer to them at all in the vital 1916 consultations with
Hughes in London.<¢ And again in the February 1917 request
by the Colonial Secretary for a formal acquiescence by the
Australians of the agreement that Britain was prepared to
conclude with the Japanese there was no reference to these
discussions. Yet Bonar Law and Lloyd George both had
stated that the matter had been settled in Asquith's time.
It would seqg that the Foreign Office felt they were on
safer or stronger ground by ignoring these 'negotiations'
for the purpose of formal argument or else considéred them
as informal discussions that could hardly be used as a
basis for an agreement between Gomernments. But there is
no doubt the opinions of Australian leaders provided the
British authorities with the information which could be used
as a basis on which to proc ¢d when the Japanese inevitably

would seek permanent occupatr%n

Hughes's critics in the Australian Parllament had to
wait till the debate on the. Treaty of Peace in September
.1919, before they could confront hlm personally with his

.deeds as Prime Minister abroad and 'plenipotenionary

1. C. wWing, 'Memorandum on the Japanese Occupatlon of Pacific Islands,
22 December, 1915; F.0. 371/2689/18115. Wing minuted to Alston, &
22 December, 'This is the promised memo...I feel that our information %
"as to the facts is not complete whilst we know nothing as to the
attitude of the other Departments towards the permanent posse591on of
these islands by Japan.

2. Cecil, memorandum, 15 October, 1918; F.0. 371/3236/176414.
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extraofdinary'. It was contended that 'apparently he gave
the islands away in 1915 and.then went and kick@d'up a
shindy in France in 1919 to mislead the people of this
country.'. J.H. Catts, continuing his marathon diatribe on.
Hughes's misdemeanours overseas, labelded this 'the most
traitorous act that ever occurred in the history of
Australia'. . Hughes thus as second in command in Fisher's
Government had consented in 1915 to the position whereby
the 'flood tidé of Asia had rusha three thousaﬁd miles
nearer these shores'. Catts, F.J. Tudor, the Labour Party
‘Leader, and Senator O'Keefe, all fruitlessly sought an .
answer to this question.l

Hughes -and Sir Joseph Cook pointedly avoided refe&ring
to the 1915 discussions let alone answering the charge.
Whyﬁdid Hughes refugeﬁpo answér Catts? Sissons suggests
that it may have be®a" to shield Fisher. 1If so, Hughes
kept this up, for some forty years later he still contended
that there had not been an agreement by the Fisher
Government.2 There is a simple solution to the problem.
There was no case to answer for there was no agreement
as far as Hughés was concerned. He could insist quite

}

~

1

1. C.P.D. vol. LXXIX, p-11249ff., 17 September, 1919;) Catts apparently
was one of the very few politicians. who bothered to cull information
from overseas sources that related to Australia's external relations
during the War. The official cloak of secrecy wagféffective; Even
a statement on China's 'Twenty-One Demands' was censored; see
Sissons, 'Attitudes to Japan and Defence', chapter 3. )
2. Hughes to N.J. Gleeson, personal letter, 28 April, 1950, cited in
Sissons, Ibid., p. 103; see also Hughes to Fifield} 13 March, 1915,
cited in Fifield, Woodrow Wilson and the Far East, pp.60-61 where
Hughes does not even allude to the 1915 discussions in an explanation
of these matters. !
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the final disposition of these Islandg whether it be

1916 in London or 1917 by cables, Informed, ¥es; consent,
acquiescence, yes, but consultation no, 71t was a

constant refrain. For Hughes consultation wasg be fore

the fact, implied options for both sides. Britain coulgqg

that 'we may hurt the feelings of one or more of our
present allies', at such a conference Australia coulg not

be silent:

is being discussed. we ought to have a chance
to argue qQuestions, not merely to Say Yes! or No!

,
1. Hughes to Garran, 27 February, 1915; Garran Papers, N.L.A,,
MS 2001/13/1-2. .



III THE GERMAN ECONOMIC THREAT AND THE ANGLO-JAPANESE
TREATY OF COMMERCE AND NAVIGATION, 1911.

Hughes as Attorney-General, more than anyone in
Australia, was alive to the perils posed by overseas
firms to Australian interests whether it be the
Japanese in the Pacific or the powerful German groups
in Australia. He informed the Parliament that coal
sold to the Germans ended up in the 'Emden', the
'Gneisenau"and 'Scharnhorst' which sent British and
Australian sailors to their death, 'murdered by the men
in Australia who sold it. So far we have not been able

to get them'.l

Hughes's memoéandum on the subject of Ge' ‘an ,
control of the basic metals industry in Austr. .a was
incorporated in a despatch to the Colonial Secretary
in December 1914. His aim was to free the lead,
zinc, copper, and tin industries from the control of
the German firms that had developed a monopoly
over them in the‘years before the War. The evidence
Hughes catalogued clearly ehunciated the fact that

Rl

1. C.P.D., vol. LXXVIII, p.6874, 9 September, 1915. Hughes
reported in October, 1915 that the metal industry had been
freed completely from the grip of Germany; Munro Ferguson
to Colonial Secretary, 26 October, 1915; Novar Papers,
N.L.A., MS 696/10025.
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by bne means or another specific firms controlled the
output, distribution, and price of the wor&g's lead, zinc,
and copper. Acting through agencies, companies or firms
registered in different countries they assumed the guise
of British, American, or Australian nationality but this
was only a convenient cloak to hide their real German
character. As matters stood, supplies had reached the
Germans and after the War, win or lose, the German monopoly

would remain.?}

‘ In March 1915 Munro Fergusoﬁ reported that Australian
and BrltlSh metal companles had been able to point out that
Mertons was still recognised by the Admiralty and War Office.
Thus it was considered a bona fide British firm. Hughes s
own evidence, compiled partly frcm a memorandum by Sir
,Robert Garran, the Solicitor- -General, identified Mertons

of London for all practical purposes as 'Metallgesellschaft

and Mertons of Frankfort, Aaron Hersch and Beer Sondheimer.'Z?

Hughes reported to the Governor-General that the
legislation that proved effective''was The Enemy Contracts
Amendment Act passed in May 1915 which legallzed the
cancellation of enemy contracts. ‘He had been bombarded wiﬁh

applications for cancellation of contracts as a result.3

1. M.L. Shepherd, becretary, Prime Minister's Department to
Governor-General for transmission to Colonial Secretary, 10 December

1914; C.A.0., CP 317 tem 29. Sir George Reid, the High
Commissioner at Londor rtalnly backed this up with his article,
the same day, in the S.M.H. 'Reciprocity Urged to Capture German Trade'.

2. Governor-General to Secretary of State for Colonles, 30 March,
1915; C.A.0., CP 317/6 item 39; Garran, memorandum, "Mertons' n.d.,
Garran Papers, N.L.A., MS 2001/9/819.

P
3. Hughes to Munro Ferguson, personal, 16 July, 1915; Novar Papers,
N.L.A. ‘
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o?

were puzzled by the 'slack' attitude of the British

Government to the issue.l However, Hughes was to pursue

the issue with great vigour in Britain in 1916 and again
~

in 1918, with sSome success.

We have already alluded &o the Anglo-~Japanese Treaty
of Commerce and Navigation of 1911 to which Australia had
declined to adhere. This Treaty provided that the
signatories should have ful] liberty to enter, travel and
reside in each other's territories, that the conduct of
commerce and manufactures should be on equal terms and
that imports and €Xports should recejve most favoured
nation treatment.2 The Commonwealth without giving redasons,

‘notified the Colonial Offjice in 1911 that it would not '

adhere to the Treaty.3 To gr.-+ such rights
reversed not only the White /. - - a1lia policy®

proteq&ionist policy that had taken a decade ¥o construct.

Japan insistently and persistently plied Australian
Authorities righe through into 1919 with requests, enﬁreatiés,
and arguments for Au§tralia's adherence. Early in 1915
Baron Kato, the Japanese Foreign Minister, requested his

ambassador in London Mr. “Inouye, to contact Grey with

1. Munro Ferguson to Bonar‘Law, 4 August, 1915; Nbvar Papers,
N.L.A., Ms 696/733 and Davidson Papers, House of Lords Record Office.

2. Cited in Sissons, 'Attitudes to Japan', pp. 76-7.

3. AtYee Hunt, Permanent Head of the Department External Affairs,
Memorandum, 24 May, 1915, 'Adherence of the Commonwealth to the
Anglo-Japanese Treaty of Commerce and Navigation'; C.a.0. CRS All0s,
vol. XXIII. ‘ . ‘
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a view to the British Foreign Secretary exercising:

his good offices in a manner. that the Government of the

Commonwealth, keeping in view the very special cordiality

uniting two allied Empires at the present moment, may come

to the decision of adhering...so that the development of

trade between Australia and Japan may further be assured.
Inouye was instructed to impress upon Grey that since the
‘War trade had developed steadily but the lack of a treaty
hampered matters. More importantly, Japan was prepared to
exclude immigration matters from the Treaty just as it had
done.in the cases of Canada and the United States. And as

if to settle the immigration guestion, once and for all, he

was to'point out that 'the long establishc. Ticvy of the
Japanese Government was not to send ny immiaran-s to
Australia - a policy, indeed we ha consis*tant - followed

sinc¢e (s7/c!) several years',

Harcourt took the matter u: He sent a copy of Kato s
letter and at the same time supr:  od the Commonwealth with
a « 'py of the terms of adherence by the Canadian Government
who 'had notified its acceptance earller, subject to the
Sp€lelC exclusion of immigration questlon.2 Needless to
say it caused a flurry in the Departments concerned. Atlee

Hunt, reviewing the issue crystallized the sensitive point

1d

1. Baron Kato to Monsieur Inouye, translation of a despatch, 15
January, 1915 C.A.0., CRS 1108, item 23.

2. ' Secretary of State for Colonies, confidential déspatch, 19 March,
1915; ¢ited in Piesse Papers, C.A.0. CRS 1108 item 23; it was not
possible to see the whole file under the requlatlons prevailing in
Australian Archives at present; this file was taken by Hughes to
the Imperial War Cabinet meetings in 1918.
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for his Minister: '"Are the peonle ot ‘Anstraliasorepared to
regard the people of Japan as on the same footing as
Europeans in all matters except the right of free
immigratjon?’l The Consul-General saw Andrew Fisher, the

Prime Minister, on 10 June 1915 leaving his own memorandum

on the subiject with him.2 Still unsucces 1] he tried the
Governor-General the next day, who info med .im that the
proper channel of communication for suc:. - matter\was
through London. Not prepared to be bbed off again Shimizu
reminded him thatHCanadian adherence to the Treaty had
originated at Ottawa. Munro Ferquson reported he.was not
moved by such tactics.: A week later, he saw Mahon and

Atlee Hunt who was pressed for a response. Shimizu,
apparently anxious, indicated tW&at Japan might even grant
further concessions but HHunt temporized pleading that War-
time pressures were such that the Government intended to

defer the whole issue till after the War.4

Once Hughes became Prime Minister in October, Shimizu
deemed it appropriate to approach the new head of affairs.
It appears he was diverted to Atlee Hunt once again, who

1. Atlee Hunt, Permanent Head of the” Department of External Affairs;
memorandum, 24 May, 1915, 'Adherence of the Commonwealth to the Anglo-
Japanese Treaty of Commerce and Navigation'; C.A.0. CRS Al108, vol.XXIIT.

2 Andrew Fisher, minute, 10 June, 1915, memorandum by Consul General,

<.

'Brief Statement of Reasons for desiring Australia to Join Treaty of

Commerce and Navigation between Great Britain and Japan'; Fisher
Papers, N.L.A., MS 2919/6/89. 100-101.
-

3. Munro Ferguson to Secretary of State for Colonies, secret, 11 June,
1915; Novzr Papers, N.L.A., C.P. 532/78. ) e

4. Atlee Hunt to H. Mahon, Minister for External Affairs, 17 June, 1915,'
minute attached with reply by Mahon, same date; Atlee Hunt Paners,
N.L.A., MS 52/1515.
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Informed him that'msttors were unchanged and that since
Hughes would bhe away 1t would have to awalt hig re-
but the whole question might be discussed in Lond.

He would mention it to Hughes before he left !
Cabinet .approved 0f this temporizing Manoceuvre and emphasised
that Hughes should. consult the Imperial Government during
his visit to LondOn.2 Howeve: Shimizu dig get to see
Hughes in December. Munro Ferguson reported to \
Bonar Law that Hughes 'found him most pertinacious

and aggressive!, Shimizu left his own mémorandum

on the subject ang at~§§e same time, in"éassing, referred
to the altered conditieps likely to be operative

after the War to tHe admission of Japanese to Australia

and that these issues currently were being raised in I.ondon.
As Munro Ferguson informed the Colonial Secretary, any
relenting in the "White Australia' policy would bring any
government in Australia to g;'ief.3 Shimizu also hoped for
a.reply before Hughes left for London. Hughes did see him
égqin“on the eve of his departure. In the interval he had
gained the benefit of memoranda from the Department of
External Affalrs and counsel from anxious Imperial’

Authorities. cable from Bonar Law urged.a Conciliatory approach,

on political grounds, with respect tc 1s issue. There was .

A

. TN noo
1. Atlee Hunt to Shimjzu, lq November, 1915; External Affairs
Department, C.A.0., CRS A98] Japan 101, .

2. Atlee Hund, Memorandum, : 3 January, 1916; C.A.0., CRS AllQ9,
vol.XXITI. "

) .
1
2. Munro Ferguson to Bonar Law, 22 December, 1915;° Novar Papers,
N.L.A., Ms bvs/787,

&t



no need. Contrar} to the impression given by Hughes's

critics he could withdraw into a shell of silence from which

V

« .

he could not be drawn. This was one of those occasions.
'\Acknowledqing‘the plea for conciliation Hughes gave a clue
.to his me*hod of dealing with the Japanese question during
the greater part of the w;;; 'l have allowed the healing .
balm of silence to do its work'.l je could be dlplomatlc.’
With relief Munro Ferguson cabled back that 'Hughes swill
deal aivilly and evasively' with the Japanese Counsul. And
to Hughes he acknowledged the good scnse of such a tactful
appnpaip: ‘I admire your diplomacy ghd should Mr. Shimizu
attack me in your absence 1 shall endeavour to preserve

"continuity of pollcy"'2

‘The advice tendered by the Minister for External

Affairs and Cabinet's decision were at variance somewhat

with the aspirations of the caba’ ‘round Colonel Burns3

who had recommended a commerci: i wjement with Japatfy.
. : 2

Cabinet as well @ecided that no agement was to be

given to the Consul-General while ti® Prime Minister was
ed that Hughesl
ject.4 ‘The First

consult the Imperial Government. Mahon.
took the Department s memoranda on the su4
v s ) ' -

'.,V i o

W‘__ 0

1. Munro Ferquso GNBondx Law, w1th post script, 11 January, 1915;
Hughes to Munro Ferqus&h 7 January, 1916; Davidson Papers, House of
Lords Record Off1§§ and Novar Pﬁpors,¢N.L.A., MS 696/2431 .

2.. Munro Ferguson tb Hugifes, 8 January, 2915; Novar Paper«, MS
b96/244l

3. Harcour‘, 9"mnar Law, Steel;Mathdnd and Munro Ferguson; - see above.
4. Atlee Hunt, minute recording Lablnet ddcision, 13 January, 1916; -
C A.O0. CRS-All108 item 19. All cCabinet decisions are restricted in

-A.0. and special permission isg necessary to gain access to such
materlal :
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.which Shimizu hinted .3t .in their-last 1ntnrv1ew recommended
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“ & T
one outlined tHe blocks the Japanese.hadfplaced in the way

of Australian trade in the North Pacifiq yn general and the

Marshall Islands in particular since the outbreak of
hostilities. Burns Philip, the chief complainant, had
compiled much of the information. It also included the
correspondgnce on the subject between the Colonlal and
Foreigf Off '-es and Jagan. The Dcpartment concluded that
ai@deﬁof Japfnese opinion expected the permanent

on of the Islands.! . It should be noted that the

Japangse denied that they were being unfair to Australian

r

trade in the Islands. Nevertheless ‘Creene at Tokyo asked

delicate matter. Brrxtaia had no wish to offend a valuable

ally. As the Fore;gn Office had shrewdly noted Colonel

Burns a&so had proposed exclnsxylst trade pollc1es south
[ R

of the Equator directed agalnstg;he Jaganese to preserve .
&
Anglo-Saxon trade. ‘It was not in Erhtaan S interests to

become mixed up in this, Yrangle and “émbark on a tariff
V,)J,r.

war with Japan. 3 o ~%~,

d"
-

Atlee Hunt, encouraged by ‘the prospect of concessions

‘fﬁgr fair treatment for British trade during the War. 2 It was

that perhaps con51derat10ni0ught to be glven to %cceptlng the

Japanese offer 1mmed1atel Y

w1lllngne s to adhere now
\ H

7 . le s ¥4
1. Memorandum, Department of External Affairs, 20 December, 1915;
Fisher Papers, N.L.A., MS 2919/6/149-154.

2. Secretary of State for COlOanS to bovernor General 17 September,
1915; C.A.0., CRS A981 Marshall and Carollne Islands.?

3. Chris Wing, memorandum, 'Japahese Occupation of Pacific Islands'
22 December, 1915; F.O. 371/2689/18115.' :

dn the grounds: that by showing a
:ghe Japageae would be more likely

-,



. have agreed With :
W .
the- questlon that the 3apanese were llkely,to rengw_and

75

to,undertake tq recognize all of our 'existing laws both as

reSpécts immigration ard employment within Australia'

‘Further, 1t was unllkely that Australla would again gain

these condltlons if it deﬁerred the matter on this occasion.
.
In the Jong term, he concluded the position might very well
be far worse:
'I‘hern is undoubtedly a considerable feeling a; gst
intelligent people in Australia that when the ar end¥
Japan will make demands for much more extensive

concessions in the way of immigration of her subjects
to Australia than she enjoys ‘at present.

| v o
Hunt | requeSted that-HLghes should be 'fully acquainted

with the views of hla‘colleagues on the ,subject'.l
hxt Hughes at thlS tlme would
telllgent people' at least on

There’ seems little

1nten51fy thelr demands in the pést-war period. His con-

,éau51on though and“taat of the Cablnet were qulte ‘the

. - NN i
opp051te » AR @ )
- \ &
I'm gure [bhlmle] thinks I'm th&hlggest fool, or the .
deafest one, in all the worid. Anyhow he got nothing
ot qﬁnm : . . ' ¢ >
L] o, e
. . - R e
Q) Y S
1. Atlee Hunt, 'Memorand ;Ee Mlnlster 13 January, 1916; , ‘
CRS A981, item Japan 101°'. AN
¢ & )
L . a
Z&Nghes fo Munro FergUSon, 20 January, 1916; Novar Papers, ]

N.L,A., Msse96/2447 'Tn 1919 Hunt flna{lly recommended that no -
arrangement should be entgred into with Japan., C. A 0. CRS Allios,
Vol .XXIII. While Hughes was prlme minister no further éhtlon was

* taken on the subject.

? ¢ -
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"IV Ty CALL TO LONDON, 1915 "

In O¢tober 1915 the Australian Prime Minister, Andrew
Fisher, worn dqu and war weary, announced that he had
de ided to reign his position and instead fill the vacancy
the position of High,ggmfissioner ap London. Sir George
igl having cqﬁg}%tﬁd 1p- rm of office d@’Hiéh

)mmissioner, chose to stay on in Britain and was elected

member of parliament for Hanovey Sauare. By a unanimous

vote the Labour Party Caucus elected Hughes to the leader-
ship of the.Party and so to the positioh of Prime Minister.
C.H. Grattan, a most severe critic of Hughes, has accused

him of virtually'forcing Fisher from office, though Grattan
does not offer any evidence to support his cdntentioﬁ.?

There does not appear to be any reason to doubt the apparent
facts of the matter.. Leadership ip the context of Ehe War L
and divisions within his.'own Parry over the means of o
conducting it, prdduced a gredt straln on Fisher never an
over- robust man, and it was obvious to his closest colleagues

that a change was necessary to avert a.physieal breakdown.

Within months of becoming prime minister Hughes was
in Ldﬁdon to consult Britain's War leaders on important

1mper1al maeters relatding to the Pacific and Japan. Flsher
R DN S ’

g3

1. Sir George Houston Reid, (1845-1918); born in Scotland; Pr}me

Min. ster, 1904-1905; first Commonwealth High Commi®wioner, 1910=-

1415; D.N.B. g e s ,

. i . ’
2. . Grattan, The South-West Pacific Since 1900: A Modern History,

(Ann Arbor, 1963),”p.53.

¥3, J. Hume Cook, 'The Man and the Jdour' f}pescript; J.Hume Cook
Papdrs, National strary of Australla,1MS 60)¥, Series IX‘~(}), Hughes

. is the sybject of this study that includes comments pn Fisher's poor

physxcal/and nervous state durlng the War.
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was there to greet him.l As one contemporary publicist

put it:

At a time when Australia has sent to London her Prime
Minister and her late Prime Minister, while a fgfmer
Prime Minister is in the House of Commons, it is
rather like cafryinq coals to Newcastle to scribe
for English readers the Australian feeling/ about
Imperialbpartnorship and policy....What ﬁZi Hughes
says therefore, in Australia's name, and what the High
Commissioner says can be depended on. No politicians
have gqone home. amid so general a chorus of approval.2 ' o

, From Frederick E8gleston, who was to become one of Hughes's
@P most inveterate critics these are indeed flattering  ~
remarks. 3 However, in retrospect, his recollections of

them at this time were that:

Fisher and Hughes must be taken as a pair. Fisher was

stupid, almost inarticulate....For. a Party that suspected " n

all leadership like the Labour Party, he was ideal, and

it was a perfect arrangement to have a brilliant lieutenant

like Hughes whosdﬂstintillagions could be smothered by his

unimaginative chief. ' Hughes was prolific in ideas up to

1915, but Iifevékher great men who go through the ordeal of ..

a greatﬁ”nterna‘tﬂal' ¥onference, he wascompletely run er..w‘ )
W “ by his experience in Paris in 1919 and has never cont -

anything since except iflasheg of wit.d : . E

.

re

. That both Fisher and Hughes were in Britain together .VT

were quite fortuitous. Barly in 1915 the Secretary‘of the

'

1. The Argus, March 9, p.6; 'The Brains of the Labour Party', Argu§.
“March 3, p.7. ) v
L] § .

.

2. Frederick Eggléston, JAwskralia and the Imperial Partnership',
=« The National Revigw, vol.XV, (March-August), p.464.

- N v . v
3. Frederick William Eggleston, (1875-1954); born in Melbourne;

'~ lieutenant, A.I.F. 1916-1919; member of Australian delegation on the

kg

B.E.D. at-Paris, 1912;' Australidy Institute of International Affairs ,S;}lr

and Institute of Pacific Relations; first Envoy to China 1941-44;
Minister to 0.S.A. 1945-9; member of Australian Delegatiem U.N.O.,
1945; 1946-9 advisor to Department of External Affaigs; 'A Guide to -
. w-Bapers aof Sir Frederick qulgipon', N.L.A., 1972. :
™ 3 i 2 N .
4. -'F.w@gleston, Reflections of an Australian Liberal, (Melbourne,‘ a
. 1953), pp.11-12. . ‘
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State for the Colonies, Lewis Harcourt; had hoped that

Fisher would come 'Home' to Britain to discuss with the

Prime Minister urgent matters that had arisen concerning

Japan and the Pacific.l 1t was hoped that this

private arrangement would satisfy Fisher who was most .

upset not only over the POstponement of the 1915 “é%
%{rence till after the War, but al;p that - e

there was no alternative plan for consultation. Harcourt

Imperial con

plalnly had been embarrassed by assertlons in The Tlmes@'
that the Dominions had been badly let\down over consultatiag;
SO0 much so, that he brepared a ‘statement for the Commoge: “

; Lv;. A .
It is the intention of Hig Majesty's Government-. c
to consult him [Flsg r} most fully and if at all"
. bassible personally when the tlme comes to dlscuss
N po®8ible terms of peace 2

[

3

When The Tlmes3,.some months later, continued its attack on
this policy of non- consultation by the Liberal- —-Conservative
Coalltlon t-*erw parllamentary Under- Secretary far the®
Arthur SteeL—Maltland remonstrated with the

Colonies,™si%

editor Geoffrey Robins dho steadfastly supported his
staff. While Steel- Maltland fumed that a great 'mischief
from the imperial pc. - of view' had been the resdlt

Robinson resolutely maintained that Fisher had publlcly
voiced his dlsapp01ntment and fruétratlon The upshot of

s

+

‘" 1. Secretary of State for Colonies to Governor- -General, 15 April,
1916; c.o. 418/985,
o ‘%
2. Great Britain, Parliament, Parllamentar§ ebates, . (Commons) 5th
series, 14 April, 1915, 12408, cited in a memcrandum, H. Lambert,@

' 23 July, 1915, Ibid. | o, , 3
=019 . _ p
3. 'Perplexed Dominions', The‘Tiﬁeé) 14 September, 1915. .

4. Ceoffrey Robinson assumed the name Dawson.
~ Loy ..g,r ) -

S ' W0 v
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the whole affair was that the Colonial Office issued its - X
invitation to Fisher and The Times agreed not to publish

anymore on the cuhject.l Further, the Colonial Office took

up the Austr.l,i .n sucgestion of a cabinet colleague ‘
accompanying sher it considered Hughes would be the best
’colleague to e »y him pointing out that the real

purpose of the visit, 'foreign pOlle including the Pacific
Questiont qhould be kept secret.?2 Colonial Office memoranda

at this time expressed ‘a concern that the Australians should

.

be brought over to apprec1ate the 'general as well as
their own local conslderatlons and .therefore it would be

easier for them to éceept 'unpalatable de01510ns aftey

full discuSsion' which was from the’ Colonlal Office point

of view, !'an insurance against unpleasant p0551b111ti's"

as well as Lnsurance for itself!',
B \‘,

Desplte the contretemps there was no doubting
Flﬁ?er S . dcdlcaxlon to the Imperial cause. At his farewell

"banquet he pointed ‘out that 'no-one would have thought that

Australla would ‘have risen. to the occasion as she had'
Indeeﬁ it was as great a surprise to the "Mother Country"
as to themselves' .4h This did not prevent him from returning

<

1. Arthur Steel-Maitland to'Geoffrey Robinson, 14 September, 1915;
The Times, C.0. 537,/986; Robinson to Steele- -Maitland, 15 September,

1915, Ibid. kd

2. Governor-General to Colonial Secretary, 21, July, 1915; cC.o.
539/985; Under- Secretary for Colonies to6 Bonar Law, Colonlaﬁ Secretqu,
26 July, 1915, Ibid. 5

4

3:+ Memorandum, H. Lambert, principal clerk, 23 July, 1915; 1bid.

4. Afgus, 22 Decegber, 1915, p.9. .
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to the old theme when he arrived in Londgn when~QUlzzed
on the mat;ter
If I had stayed in Scotland I should have bheen able to
speak to my member on questiong of Imperial policy, and to
vote for or against him on that ground. I went to
Australia. 1 have been PrimegyMinister. But all the
time 1've had no say whateve *ahout Imperial pelicy - no
say whatever. Now that cannot go on - there must be
some change.l

Within a couple of weeks of his elettion to office
Hughes announced his acceptance of the invitation of the
British Goverpment to 'exchange views'.Z2 However privately
he had decided on this course within days of his appoint-
ment.3 In the circumstances described one may guestion the
logic of having both leaqers in London. Fisher, who had
an intimate knowledge of the matters likely to be discussed,
aﬂﬂled the consultations with the Brltlah

,v Fltzhardlqge certainly questlons the

could have

authoritieé“
wisdom of Hud *embarking on this visit at this time.4 1In
retrospect one may -agree with these strictures but given
~Hughes's impulsive nature and utter involvement . in the war

effort, it was inevitable that he would accept the call to

London. ¢

As both New- Zealand and Canada bordered the Pacific

Hugﬁes wisely decided to .consult Mr. Massey, the New Zealand

v
Aghse . ‘7

Iy :

1. The Times, London, 31 January, 1915.

2. Governor General to Colonial Secretary, 11 November, 1915; C.O.
- 532/78. v . , {

3. Governor-General td Colonial Secretary, 3 November, 1915; C.O.
418/134.

4. L.F. Fitzhardinge, William Morris Hughes, A Biography, The Little
gg r, vol.II, typescrlpt, chapter I .

+
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Prime Minister, and Sir Robert Bordgn, the Canadian
Prime Minister on his way over to London. He had
hoped they all could have met to discuss common
problems but the pressure of the War on the domestic
scene prevented this.l‘}Munro Ferguson informed

Andrew Bonar Law2 thataHughes intended to discuss 'the

Pacific Settlement (including the New Hebrides
Condominiom)';‘ and the choice betweeq Australian
control over Island Dependencies and imperial coﬁggol.
He concluded his private report touching on a subject
that was to occupy a significant part of Hughes's attention

in Britain and on the Continent:

Y
I propose giﬁing him letters to Mr. Asquith and Sir
E. Grey urging them to pay him somc attention. If
it be not expedient to crush Germany's commerce
like her army it would be folly to.,acquiesce in the
immediate re-establishment throughout the world of
the suffocating tentacles of that o@fopus. Few
men can place the case for precautigﬁ more '
effectively than Hughes.3

-y

1. Munro Ferguson to Prime Minister, private, 25 November, 1915,
William Morris Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538; W.M. Hughes t
Governor-General, private, 22 November, 1915, Ibid. :

& ‘ v,
2. Andrew Bonar Law (1851-1923); born in New Brunswick but brought
up in Glasgow; Unionist MP; Colonial Secretary, 1915-16;
Chancellor of Exchequer 1916-18; Prime Minister, 1922-23.

3. Munro Ferguson to Bonar Law, 8 November, 1915, Novar Papers,
N.L.A., MS 696/766. -

-

L



Hughes:...It is vital that we shall have some

opportunity of ulding theg reign policy of 1

this country (¢ Zﬁt Brital efore if is made....
x
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1. Hughes, Imperial war Cabinet, 13 August, 1918, CAB 23/43.
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k4
4.5/ CHAPTER TWO: LONDON, PARIS,®AND NEW YORK, 1916-1918.

LI .

1

% I THE RALLYING CRY: HUGHES}SCALLTO ARMS ,

Hughes's visit to Great Britain and the Confinent
established his rank as an Imperial statesman, war leader,
and international figure. Paris in 1919 would simply.
confirm him as the first Australian to enjoy a truly
international reputation. The British lionized him, the
French applauded his élag, the Canadians honoured him, while
the Germans expressed their detestation for his jingoism.
Only Woodrow Wilson seems to have by-passed him. Through
his speeches, attendance at Brltlsh Cabinet meetings,
consultations wi'th all shades of Britain's war- tlme leadershlp,
part1C1patlon as a Brltlsh deleg&te at the Paris Economlc
Conference, Hughes reached the pLQ’acle of his career; he
had become an 1nternat10nal celebrlty overnight. 1
Australians, douthg;s astonlshedﬁtv . the mgih were . ,
exhilarated by his .achievements' lﬁ l_;nrruqﬂ! 'He 1is
sc1ntlllat1ng very beautifully' .2 Tﬁ& laconlc Bonar Lawy. .
as Colonial Secretary and technically responsible for

Hughes on this London visit, commented at the end of this-
exﬁaustlng and monumental tour 'I have r met a ma% "
who was such a bundle of nerves and energy 3 :;*

The publlc acclaim that accdﬂpanled Hughes during his

barn- stormlngigour of Great Britain was based on the series

L)

.. ’;,3« T ’ .
J .
- .
K

J

1. See M.L. Shepherd, (Secretary of the Prime Minister's Department),
'Memoirs', C¢.A.0., CRS Al632 Shepherd accompanied Hughes. This file
contains a falrly‘comprehen51ve list of Hughes's activities; see the
index to The Times and Argus for a full Tist of public engagements,
January-June, 1916. For the authorltatlve account see L.F. Fltzhardlnge,
The Little Digger.

»

2. Sir Lyttleton Groom to Sir Joseph Cook, 18 March, 191s6; GrcomA‘ ot

- Papers, N.L.A. MS 236/1/15.

3. Bonar Law to Munro Ferguson, private and personal, = 17 August, 1916;
Novar Papers, N.L. A., MS 696/1379 -

{
. ) |
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of addresses he delivered throughout the land between
March and June 1916. The conservative Pall Mall Gazette

at the end summed up the feelings of a grateful nation:

Mr. Hughes is one of the Empire's strong men in
her hour of need. Wales has contributed two qreat
men to the Imperial cause, and one of them is
William Morris Hughes.l » ;

Lloyd George, that 'other' Welshman, gave a clue to the b
éxhilarating effect of Hughes's dynamic speeches to a
dispirited people.2 At a banquet in honour of Hughes, "the
hall packed with Welshmen, Lloyd George pointed out that
Hughes realized that the very iife of democratic government
dependled on this struggle. He 'scorned half-measures'.

He knew that 'you could not attain great ends by halting
means';\3 Bonar Law, one of the &badlnq Conservat1Ves in
the Coalition expressed mumch the same sentiments to

Munro Ferguson. Hughes had qaiﬁﬁd’a"ptomiqpﬁi pagition
anpd great reputation', he believed, partly because of his

own persofiality but also because 'therg. is gond deal of . ®
discontent with the Government' and his own ‘o en' vi¢w§' '
had been used by certain elements of the press as a 'stick':
4 i
'

to beat the Government :with. ‘ . , .
¢ =
When Hughes arrived in Britain early.in March 191§ there

was an apparent widespread despondancy at all levels over

~

‘4
1. 9 June, 1916; cited in Thorold Waters, Much Beside Music,'(Melbourne} .
1951), p.1lo. ) .

*

2. These speecheg were publiﬁﬁed in a book. "The Day" - and After:
War Speeches... (London, 1916&%, arran d by Keith Murdoch and with an
introduction by Lloyd George. References to the speeches are from thi
edition. - Ll

1
3. Lloydr George, cited in Western Mail's report of a banquet at the -
Trocadero lestaurant, 19 May, 1916; George Papers, House of lLords
Record Cffice, F/27/2/25.

4. BOn#F Law to Munro Ferguson, 3 June, 1916; Nowvar Papers, N/L.A.,
MS 696/1376 7. ' ‘ _ ‘ \



85

war losses and failures without any prospect of relief. If
anything, while Hughes was in Britain the situation
deteriorated. .This then was the background to his visit
"and ought to be appreciated in a critique of his speeches

and subsequent actions.

There had been in recent monthsl the drama of the
withdrawal from Gallipoli and the entry of the Bulgarians
on the side of the Central Powers. There.was little doubt
that hpth events were connected. And consequent upon
this the plucky"Erbs were overrun without the promlsed
support.’ Grey, Speaklng on behalf of the m111tary had
gﬁgranteéd support in an important address in the Commors.
In retrospect he felt that his dlplomacy had been the
victim of mllltarx failyre. 2 A1l of ‘this conflrmed the
view in the public's mind and.in qu‘d Gedrge in particular
"that the Central Powers weére in an overwhelming position
in the Balkan theatre. The setback at Loos iﬁ%September o

1915 and the stalemate on the Western Front were all part

\zlof the picture of uﬁrelieved gloom in *he military situation.

Tke 1nconclu51ve qavgd engagement at Jutland in. the first
ckn&ﬁof June roundag ‘dut the depr9551qg spectacle that
confronted Hughes And all this ,was on the eve of the

bloody fallures of the Somme, and the gradual petering out

-~

of the Salonlka:expedltlon which expedition 'Easterners

) R ' = . g
" s
1. The following summary of the military background in the first half
of 1916 is from C.R.M.F. -Crutwell, A History of the Great War,

(London, 1936), and P. Guinn, British Strategy and Policies 1914-18,

(Oxford, 1965). For the Balkans, see C.J. Lowe, 'The Failure of
British Policy in the Balkans, 1914- 16', Canadian Journal of History,
1969 and K. Robbins, Sir Edward Grey, {(London, 1972); both are

sympathetic treatments.

2. Greéy, Twenty-Five years, vol.II.
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like Lloyd George, had advocated as a means of achieving

a success somewhere, somehow.l
N o - 0

For Grey, Kitchener, and Asquith, especially, these
military disasters and naval setbacks were severe blows
and damaging to the Liberals. Moreover, they were
considered in the context of what scemed to be diplomatic
blunders in the Balkans which accounted for or at least
accompanied the military reverses. The failure to prevent
cither Turkey'or Bulgaria from entering the War on the wrong
side was laid at the door of the Foreign Office and Grey
in particular.2 As partial as these criticisms were, to
the run.of-the mill politician and to public opinion, there

was a prlga%?ac1e case to answer. Lloydﬁceorge s retro-

spect1vq€%r1t1c15m of Grey 1S @ damnlng estimate of his
2

’methods a% puch as hlS capacities and p011c1es-

His stiff and !ormal béckonﬁnqs to them to cross over

J "

to our side could only provoke ridicule....a more strenuous 0
or resourceful Foreign Minister would have converted into
success...his] fumbling nogotlatlons‘3

oW . %

Even at the time, Lloyd George delivered a:masterly

/

condemnatioﬁ\fi/the whole of the Government's Wayg strategy !
_ o N

"“and effort:

Too late in moving here. Too late-in arriving there. Toc
late in coming to this décision. Too late in starting with
enterprises. Too late in preparing. ?n this War the. fobt~
steps of the Allied forces have been dogged by- the mogking

1. Lloyd George confided to Sir Maurice Hankey, secretary of the
Committee of Imperlal Defence, -on 9 December, 1916 that we are going
to lose the war' cited in Hankey, The Supreme Command, vbl II,
(London, 1961), p.557. .

2. For a.qeneral assessment adverse to Grey see Zara Steiner, The
Foreign Office and Foreign Policy 1898-1914, (Cambridge, 1969), and
for the Balkans during the War, see Doreen Collins, Aspects of British

Politics, 1904-1919, (Oxford, 1965). . iy { n

e \

\Joyd George, War Memoirs of David Lloyd George, 2 vols., (London,
Popular Zdltion, ,4938}; wvol.I, p.59. This is the edition that will
in general be, used. )

v

1
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- )‘
spectre of "Too Late"; and unless we quicken our wvements
damnation will fall opn the sacred cause for which so much

gallant blood has flowed.l

The British political world of 1916 into which Hughes
stepped and in which he played a significant role is just

as 11luminating of his policies as 1s the military scene.

In January 19162 Lloy~ George was successful in
pressing a reluctant Asquith into introducing a first
instalment of compulsion for military service. It was to

. be applicable only to single men at this stage. Asquith
was bent on preserving something of the voluntary principle
and thus retain an air of liberalism.3 Even this half-‘
measure seemed to true-blue Liberals that Asquith had
bowed down to Lord Derby's Conservatives and ‘conscriptionists
within their own party. Conscription in the end split the
i.iberals as no other issue during the War until the Cabinet
crisis of December, 1916. Thus the first Conscription Bill
was the classic Asquithian half-measure. This was just the
type of measure which Lloyd George had inveighed against in
his 'Too Late' speech. By March Lloyd Géorge urged that
married '"slackers"' should be called up.\,The-subsequent
row and political crisis were carried outhip the 6§en, with
the press following up and commenting on the manoeuvres:

The Manchester Guardian on 19 April carried the headlines:

'‘Acute Crisis in Cabinet - The Differences Beﬁween Mr. Asquith

‘&qQ!Mr. Lloyd George". Next day it was reported that Asqu}th}hd

-~

i SR

1. Parliamentary Debates, (Commons), 77121, 20 December, 1915.
2. Ibid., vol., LXXIY, 77951, S January, 1916.

3. See Trevor W _«- The Downfall of the Liberal Party, 1914-35,
(London 1966), fc. . older account that displays a distinct animus
against Lloyd George; Cameron Hazlehurst, 'Asguith as Prime Minister,
1908-16"', Enalish Historical Review, (July, 1970), is written from

the other side. See also Roy Jenkins, Asguith, (London, 1964).
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referred tc ¢he imminent breakup of the Government. The
Times the same day crystallized the issue. On the one hand
were those who 'wait d see' and on the other those who are
‘unalterably fixed on a final settlement' of the recruiting
issué¥ on 25 April The Times commented on the secret
session 6f Parliament that_dax2 so that Lloyd George could
supply the fact and figures on regfuiting. Et was also the
day of the rebellion at Dublin and a few days later came

news of the §urrendfr at Kut. All .squiv “s compromises

were swept away in a tide of pat: ~»tiem. . withdrew his
compromise proposals and the Gove-niii:.. : ‘eed to the
immediate conscription of all fit - military age.3

Here was a reversal of policy that inevitably elevated
the stature of Lloyd George and undermined that of Asquith.
Moreover Lloyd George had potential allies in a number of
camps. Aﬁart from his own follébwing in the Liberal Party,
é}s,work in the Ministry of Munitions had placéd him on
extremely favourable terms with organized Labour. On the
Cogservative side his 'win-the-war' policy .and conscription
proposals won him support while he also established vital
links with the imper%alist wing through Sir Arthur Lee, 'a

. . . 4. D
Unionist Lieutenant at the Munitions ministry' who was

1. Manchester Guardian, 19, 10 April, 1916; The Times 20, 25 April,
101e6. -

\

2. My emphasis; x.J.P. Taylor states 26 April, in English History
1914-1945, (Oxford, 1965) p.89. Taylor arqgues that the session was
not just an informative meeting as The Times suggests but to conceal
the party rifts from the public.

3. The Times, 29 April, 1916. The Times backed conscription to the
hilt. 1Its owner, Baron Northcliffe, decided its policy. Alfred
Harmsworth, (1865-1922); Baron Northcliffe, 1905; Viscount, 1917;
United States mission, 1917; director of enemy prdpaganda, 1918;

opened new epoch in journalism; acquired Evening News and founded

Dally Mail, chief proprietor of The Times; after the armistice in

1918 became estranged from Lloyd George and bitterly attacked him; D.N.B.
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himself in contact with Lord ﬁllnﬁl'ﬂ '"Round Table' group
which was dedicated to the promotion of closer imperial ties -
one of Hughes's main themes on tonr.] From the ’Rnund

Table' qroup Lloyd Georae was soon to find his own private
secretary in Philip Kerr, co-founder and fi-st editor of the
ngnd_zgpig journa1.2 Lloyd George thus had wide support

for a more effective prosecution of the War. Hughes, as we
shall see, played a part in shaping a climatd of opinion

-1ich by the end of the year resulted in the replacement of

Aasquith by Lloyd George as Prime Minister.

Here then was a nation in turmoil, or a beleaguered
city~-state, for such a description helps to explain the
overwhelming reception Hughes was accorded when he came to
the shores of the United Kingdom. To the shut-in citizens,
blockaded by the unrestricted‘éubmarine campaign he was a
fresh, revitalising agent who captured the imagination of
- audiences all over the nation and of those British leaders
who wanted a resolute leadership and prosecution of the war-

hence Hughes's appeal 'As Sir Keith Hancock points out

\
1. P.A. Lockwood, 'Milner's Entry into the War Cabinet, Deccmber 1916,
Historical Journal, VII, no.1, (1964) , pp.127-9. See also K.O. Morgan,
The Age of Lloyd George, (London, 1971), pp.58-76, for an account that
severely revises Trevor Wilson, Downfall of the Liberal Party; and
Peter Lowe, 'The Rise to the Premiership, 1914-16', in A.J.P. Taylor
(ed.)., Lloyd George: Twelve Essays, (London, 1971): bo-~ ‘Morgan and
Lowe are based heavily on primary source m terial, with Morgan publishing
extracts from documents.

o

2. See J.R.M. Butler, Lord Lothian: Philip Kerr 1882-1940, [New York,
1960), especially, Chapter III, 'The Round Table', pp.35-37 for an
account of the work of Kerr, L.S. Amery and Lionel Curtis3 in the group,
and for their connection with Lord Milner's 'Ginger~-Group' which included
such leading lights as Sir Fdward Carson and Geoffrey Dawson, editor of

The Times. The Group met regularly to promote a more effective
prosecution of the War. Huches had contact with this group. Lionel
Curtis visited hlm in Australia in 1916, in his work for the 'Round
Table'. Tee below, Chapter Two, (V). )

3. Lionel George Curtis, {1872-1955); secretary to Milner, 1900;
Assistant Colonial Secretary, Transvall, 1903~09; editor, Round Table

1909; Professor, Oxford 1912; visited Dominions 1916 for the 'Round
Table'

K3
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'without some imaginative support to the understanding we
can hardly recall the wild clamour' which accounts for the
surge of emotion against Germany and anything of German

origin.l

An analysis of Hughes's themes in his speeches
demonstrates the simplicity of his messages. Reéepeated again
and again to varied audiences all over the country, reported
almost exhaustively in the national press,2 delivered with
great emotional power and with the évanqelicé& fervour of a
'Welsh tribesman' there is little wonder that there was the

atmosphere of a revivalist meeting about these gatherings.

» Hughes's ungfficial press agent, Keith Murdoch was
wonderfuily successful in 1916 in promoting the image of
Australia's war effort and Hughes's in marticular. There
was a strong liaison with Northcliffe and his newspaper
chain and Hughes developed an almost filial regard for
Murdoch as the correspondence during the war years reveals.
MBrdoch's delight with the generous space that Northcliffe
arranged for Australian news in his press chain is evident
from the warm letter he pénned to 'My dear W.M.H.' weeks
before Hughes departed:

- Northcliffe now agrees to one column daily of Australian
news in the Daily Mail and good space in the Times.3

1. See Sir Keith Hancock, Survey of British Affairs, vol.II, Pt.1
Problems of Economic Poligy, (London, 1937) pp.95-6.

2. Keith Murdoch, (1885-1952); 1908-09 studied at London School of
“Economics; from 1915, London editor of Sydney Sun and manager of
United Cable Service; during the War, correspondent for Sydney Sun,
Melbourne Herald; with Australian troops in various theatres of the
War; established a reputation as an intriquer at high levels over his
large part in the recall of Sir Ian Hamilton from Gallipoli; see

E. Ashmead - Barnett, The Uncensored Dardanelles, {(London, 1928)

pPp.239-240.

3. Murdoch to Hughes, 5 June, .916; M.L. Shepherd Papers, (Hughes's
private secretary) '"Memoirs": 1873-1936', C.A.O., CRS Al632.
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Hughes's themes are reminiscent of the ones he employed
in the first decade of theVCommonwéalth when he played so
prominent a part in establishing #he nation's defence forces.
In his first major address he touched on most of the themes
that occupied his attention on the public platform.

Speaking at the Empire Parliamentary Association in the
commonsl he deplored the illusionary world of the pre-War
pacifists who‘had argued that the 'arms race' was a figment
of the imagination when in fact in the real world there had
been 'the ceaseless clanging of armament factories' that had
deliberately prepared for 'Armageddon'. Thﬁs for the 'bad’
German brought up on Treitschke and Bernhardi the War was
inevitable. Gerﬁany's great men of business, mercantile
interests and industf& had prepared well. Even in Australia
they had captured the lion's share of the heavy industries
trade ousting Britain from her position of pre-eminence

and this was due to 'the veneration in Britain for almost

a century' of the tradition of, allowing trade to follow along
its natqral channels. These were the basic economic |
doctrines of Liberals and Asquithians that Hughes blamed in
part for this situation. It is useful to observe at this
point that Hughes also would run counter to Lloyd George's
views on how to encourage imperial trade at this time.2
German interests, Hughes went on, had monopol%sed the basic

metals industry under the guise of British names and firms.3

} "
1. Hughes, "The Day" - and After, pp.1-13; reported in The Times,

10 March, 1916.

2. Sir Robert Garran, Prosper the Commonwealth, (Sydney, 1958), p.227.

3. Hughes's thesis here admirably suits Fritz Fischer's revisionist
Germany's War Aimg in the First World war, (London, 1967). Compare
with Gerhard Ritter, The Sword and the Sceptre: the problem of
German militarism. sjour volumes, (London, 1969-1973), vol.II, _'Igm_e_
European Powers_and the Wilhelmian Empire, passim.
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Even now Englishmen and Adsgfalians were being slain with
ammunition made from Australian ores. ‘To complete the Srony
of the situation, he further claimed lﬂat the British Govern—.
ment was compelled to buy thrbugh German agencies at three
times the old price. 1In these circumstances it was incon-
ceivable that this should continue for a moment and it was.
just as .important to ensure now that .in the post-war Period
Germany would not regdin its former position of economic
power that had enabled it to be a menace to national

security. National safety and interests demanded exclusivist
economic policies on the part of the Empire. Bonar Law,

who presided, tossing aside his customary caution, publi@ly
assured Hughes 'there will be no secrets while he is here.
When-the war is dver things cannot remain as before'.l

This was ;‘Eryptic reference to the very matters that had
brought Hughes to Britain.

At the-Pilgrims' Club a week later,?2 addressing an
audience) that included Americans, he did not 1lose the
opportdg{ty, however small, of referring‘to Australia's
desire in the past for stronger links with them. It was
to draw him to the United States some two years hence in his
bid to oust the Japanese somehow out of the Islands. As it
was St. Patrick's day, on the eve of the Easter Rebellion,
Hughes publicly extolled the virtues of the gallant andg

loyal 1Irish. Victory was assured he informed the Pilgrims,

1. The Times, (London), 10 March 1916.

2. Hughes, "The Day" - and After, pp.24-31; reported in The Tiﬁesu
18 March, 1916, along with Balfour's remarks from the chair.
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W
because their cause was 1ight. The qulf between Britain's
ideals and those of Gerhany was as wide as the 'gulf
between heaven and hell'. Providence thus was on the side
of the British. This element in Hughes's speeches was not
over done; it was simply a characteristic biblical Welsh
style that he shared with men such as Lloyd George. A
moralistic vein was a useful one to tap im a nation that
still believed.and had a faith. Lloyd George himself was
the voice of the protestant churches and mpre particularly
of the non-conform: =t conscience. In a society that was
nurtured in the belief of the righteousness of its causes
it was obviously helpful for those ideals to be invoked on
the public platform. Tﬁere would be little hope of raising
armies, conscripted or otherwise, in such a society withouty

the justness of the cause being firmly established.

Balfour chaired Hughes's meeting at the City Carlton
Club late in March. Balfour's remark$ centred on the
evolution of the British Empire which now faced problems
that would 'tax the highest statesmanship here and in the
overseas Dominions'. The problem was to bring the distant
parts into a yet closer 'intimacy, organicallv, as well as
patriotically', but at the same time in such a way that:

the separate parts would never feel that they were

hampered by belonging to the whole but would fully

realize that it was only by belonging to the whole

that they would make the best of themselves.
As much as Hughes would have been prepared to philbsophize
on the unlque nature of the British Empire, on. this
occa51on, he struck the theme of the necessity of a
decisive victory. Peace w1thout victory would be
impermanent and chimerical, and simply lead to yet another

and more fearful conflict. To attain a permanent victory,



economi ¢ war now, and later, was absolutely nocéssnry. !'The
extirpation, root, branch, and seed of German control and
Iinfluence' 1n British commerce and industry would be no easy
task for its roots were 'embedded deevly in the very vitals' 5
of the bvnhomy. But economic war now, prosecuted to the f{
limit, with the pbrospect of 1t beingcarriedon after the

War, would mean that:

the bubble of their (Jormior s’ hopes will burst and

confusion and dismay will spread through the lang,

dissensions honeycomb  their molitical structure and

the spectre of revolution rear its sinister head.
There was a measure of prescience 1n these latter remarks
for Germany in 1918 and 1919 went through these very stages

that Hughes had outlined.

On the first anniversary of Anzac Day Hughes spoke to
the troops at the Hotel Cecill and reinforced the imperial
theme. It was an imperial war. The Dominions had
participated in the Empire's struquo for survival. At
Glasgow at the end of the month he emphasised the duty of
protectina imperial trade, commerce and industry. The
Empire should make it clear that it would take those
'sensible and prudent' actions in economic and national
affairs that 'men take in their own affairs'. The world of
litigation with which he was familiar provided a ready fund
of analogies. 1In fact this was just the analogy he would
use to defend his thesis at the Peace Conference fng

r

proposina a crushing indemnity.

1. Hughes, "The Day" - and After, pp.68-72; reported in The Times,
26 April, 1916.
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There xS mi.oStr ttron to these addresaes. His
eminent colledAgue akd omrade S11v Robert Garran recal led
that 'at the very —=fnith of his cratorical power he hal
. . ! .
brought a new thrill to Britai: ', Huahes himself.,, at the
time reported té Munro Ferguon that there was:
certainly a rapidly increasing body of poblic opinion :
in favour of the adoption of a policy which will enable ;
Britain to be organized in such a way as to ensure her 1 i
national freedom as well as her commercial and industrial
brospects. T have done my best to help in this work. <
The Empire Review thanked a benign Providence ‘or the advent
of Mr. Hughes:
a plain, clear-headed patriot from the Dominions where -
men knew how to get things done, a real statesman qui te N
unlike the hesitating university-bred persons who still
cumbered British politics waiting and seeinqg, not vet
understanding that henceforward we must be a self-contained
Empire not only in name but in being.?
A number of Britain's leading fiagures were so impressed by
Hughes that they felt it essential that ke stav on. Lord
Fisher, till recently the First Sea Lord, but as profuse
and extravagant as ever in his correspondence, wanted him
to stay on as 'War Director' if not as Prime Minister.?4
L.S. Amery wanted Lloyd George to use Hughes as a, detached
outsider to conciliate the Irish dissidents with the
1. Garran, Prosper the Commonwealth, ©.227.
2. Hughes, Hotel Cecil, to Munro Ferguson, 12 May, 1916: Novar Papers, .
A o 'b-

N.L.A., MS 696,/2480.

3. Empire Review, vol.XXXII pp.253-61. Cited in Hancock, Problems
of Economic Policy, pp.95-6.

4. Lord Fisher to Hughes, 12 June, 1916; Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS
1538/117.
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specific purpose of extending compulsotry service to Ireland.l
‘Winston Churchill, still out of favour, publicly stated

after Hughes had left that it was a mistake té }et him go.
Political comploxions he averred were Jdrrelevant in the

face of the titanic sgfugqlo. His véﬁcmcnt tariffs, full-

A
blooded 1mperialism', and his "TOryl '\w re not the issues
man\head and shoulders

z

but his 'fire' and comprehensxqm,J,
~above his fellows whose Gvbry wa&lﬁé thouqht was absolutely
dedicated to winning the wqr - tho%@ ‘were the gualities

4

that counted. 2

Critics saw him as the pawn of the Nortﬁgliffe press
and as a ';ory hero'. Sir Joseph Cook the Aug\ralian
L.beral Opposition Leader, while he applauded his efforts as
an Australian, considered that Northcliffe had 'hold' of him
and appeared to be 'running him very earnestly'. Cook
labelled the Northcliffe press as conscriptionist and
suggested to Parliament that it was clear where Hughes aqd

3 Munro Ferguson acknowledged thgm

he stood or the matter.
The Times and other leading newspapers were using Hughes s
visit as 'a stick to beat the Government with' repeating
Bonar Law's own assertion.4 ©Later Hughes revealed the

extravagant offers of Northcliffe and the suggestions of

1. L.S. Amery to Lloyd George, 7 May, 1916; Lloyd George Papers, House

of Lords Record Office, D/14/l1. L.S. Amery, (1873-1955); Intelligence
Officer in the Balkans, 1915-191t; Assistant~Secretary, War Cabinet
Secretariat, 1917-8; rarliamentary Under-Secretary, Colonial Office,

1919-21; First Lord of Admiralty, 1922-4; Conservative MP, 1911-45.

2. Extract Daily Telegraph, (London) n.d., but early 1917; newspaper
cuttings, Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538.

3. Cook to Littleton Groom, 18 March 1916:; Groom Papers N.L.A., MS
236/1/15; Cc¢ =, C.P.D., LXXVIX, p.7773, 10 May, 19l6.

4. Munro Ferguson to Bonar Law, 27 March 1916;: Novar Papers, N.L.A.,
696/813.



Cabinet Ministers that he stay on at Cabinet rank in a
roconétructed War Committee.l There appears to be no reason
to doubt the general tenor of these recollections in view

of the chorus of press statements to this effect.? Quite

' :fically Lord Riddell nétod in his War Diary at the

time that Hughesy himself was anxious to join the War
Committee. Lord Milner actually had approachedbLloyd George
with a view to the Dominion p;ime ministers becoming part of
the War Committee. Although Lloyd George favoured the
proposal he expected that Dominion leaders would need to
stay on 1in England for an extended period for them to be of
lasting value to the war effort.3 For Hughes as a prime

minister this was out of the guestion in 1916.

Hughes also recalled that he was®aware at the time that
he was being 'lionized'. One need hardly doubt this
assertion. But Hughes was no man's catspaw. He was a
~willing captive ir a programme and policy that reflected his
own approach and views and which brou@ht international
recognition overnight. It is all very well for those with
fastidious tastes to turn np their noses at swych goings on
but the need was there and the barn-storming had to be done
and Hughes did not recoil from it as Smuts did; rather, it

suited hils temperament. When Smuts was in London for the

1. Hughes, - ..+ 'n J. Hume Cook, The Man and the Hour, p.29ff.,
and 1le64ff.
2. For examp.', .he Herald, (Melbourne), May and June 1916 carried a

number of articles discussing Hughes's place in a reconstructed British
Ministry; 3, 5 May and 1 June, 1916.

3. Lord Riddell's War Diary 1914- ., (London, 1933), pp.165-6.
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1917 Imperial War Conference he contided to his wife 1n
their native B?er tongue that he had been asked to
campaign but had declined:
Ik wil niet de zelfde flater als Australia's Hughes
hier maken.
German reaction was predictable and perceptive.

Hughes flourished, stated the VossischepZeitung in the

'somewhat uncommon role of commercial traveller' for \

reactionary economic belicies while the Frankfurter

ceitung baited him as ‘the chief dailing of the jingoes' and
labelled his speeches as 'national rowdyism'. It cited

the Nation against him, taking up their description of his
speeches and views as having the 'jourﬁalistic stamp of
shallow and fluent phrasemaking'.? To balance ghis the

French press recognised a kindred spirit with the élan

that was the hallmark of the:

orateur de grand talent et de temperament combatif.... ot
En homme d'aztion..."L'heure", a-t-il-dit, "n'est pas '/
plus aux paroles, mais aux actes", ;

~

The Australian press carried much the same range of {~
opinion as the British and Continential. The liberal
protectionist Age, appraising his performance did not see
any thing remarkable in it nor was there anything new in his

speeches whose 'sum’aqg substance' was nothing more than

1. 'I do not want to make the same blunder here as Australia's
Hughes'. Smuts to 'Marma', 31 March, 1917; Sir Keith Hancock

and Jean van der ¥ocl, 3elections from smuts Fapers, (Cambridde,
19€6), p.471. W.A.S. Hewins, The Apologia of an Imperijalist: Forty
Years of Empire Policy, vol. II, (London, 1929), noted on 29
september, 1916 that 'there is some idea of getting Borden over

but he 1s rather shy after the Hughes Campaign'.

2. Vossische Zeitung, 15 June, 1916; Frankfurter Zeitung, 22 June,
1916; extracts from the German and Australian Pressz, Crewe Papérs,
Cambridae University Library, MS M/6/5 in Fitzhardinge, Hughes Angfxe,
“.L.A. This latter collection has been kindly donated by Mr. "

.

Fitzhardinge. It consists of primary source material from a number
f archives, manuscrirt ccllections and libraries, all invaluable for

]

OL
a study on Hughes. -
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cconomic war fare d3ar=3t the 'Zorman cancer'., His merit,

-
1t would seem, was that he Ar:aved 1n England at the

psychological moment : ) “

LI we search U the reason of fhese e sanescent *

TThadolator e, WA shall, find none “tronder than the \
Supreme need & the ood hatur.a Rrailish public ~
for a liton. .. Winston churchi !, was under
eclipse and Llovd George's more tur::d oratory. o
was at g h\m;mr.n‘v discount | Lord :'lt(hvnvr s 5t_ar

had paled and My, Asquith had refused t¢ coruscate. . .
The advent o1 the Australian Prime Minister was a
qu send. ]

v

Offsottinq his somewhat, tho.A{qus; not wishing to be too

uncharitable on the occasion of an overseas triumph had

to resort th rephrasing a Nazarene epithet to account for

his 'wizardty': ' "
he has bheen a prophet of smaller honour in his

adopted country thén he 1s where dmlllar ty
has not had its *nescarabie effeﬂ -

Looking ahead, the newspapéh\predicted a problem. The

people of Great Britain, its statesmen, the Torieé and
duchesses, all want to keep him: ‘'what wifll Labaur do

with him?'?2 Lloyd George ought to have ¢ e last say on all
of th%s: '"Hughes 1is [one of the men] whose courage, 1ght,
and inspiration the Brltlsh Empire depend on, in 1ts

v

great hour of trlal' : .

The Age, Melbourne, 15 April, 1922; c.n. 418/144.

-’
>

.

The Argus, 22 April, 1916; C.o. 4?8%144.

3. Lloyd George, ‘Introduction, "The Dé"’ - and Afterv(

[h}
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th THE IMPERIAL WAR CABINET:  GREY, HUGHES, AND

CONVERSATLONY, WITH THI: JAPANESE AMBASSADOR.

one of the s1gnal honours paid to Hughes was
participation in the deliborations’ of the British Cabinet
to which he wdas invited on specitic occasions. ! The
precedent had been established gy S1r Robert Borden's
attendance in 1917 ang subsequeﬁt]y in 1917 Jan Smuts
established a much more significant precedent by remaining
as a regular member of the British War Cabinet under Lloyd
Goorgo.z It was cvidently Asquith's intention in 1916 to
1. tain the arraagement of 1915 whereby he would issue
ipvitatjons to Déminion prime ministers in London to attend
certain Cab%not meet ings %aﬁhor than to extend an open
invitation to be present whenever 'it was convenient or the
agenda applicable to Daminion matters. This was character-
1stic ef his olympian manner. lowever, Hughes complained
that 1in the midst.of the greatest of %trqules Asquith was
"at a loss to know what to do WLth me'. As Garran put it
he was a welcom? guest' at Cabinct; he was not there by

right.3

. The two Cabinet meetings which Hughes did attend convinced
him that positive direction of the War was lacking and this

threw him into the Lloyd George camp which anyway suited his

LN
1. Asagui- he King, 1u March 1916; CAB37/144/22.
2., Smut: oirec ~he War Cabinet on 'loan' fre- th- South African
sovernmer: et ¢ held the rank of general as the Defence
Minister; -I. Margot Asquith implored him not to take this step
COmMpoOsSing a ’ rebutdl for distribution to 'all the papers'
Harqbt Asquitn to Smuts, 19 June, 1917, Smuts Papers, p.768. It is
rrobably pointless to speculate on whether Hurthes would have done
‘better in postponing his 1916 visit till the 1917 I.W.C. where no
doubt he also would have been invited to stay on - as a Prime Minister

this would have been awkward. .

3. Garran, Prospef‘the'Cmaonwealth, p.227; he appears to have cited
Hughes 1n splendid Adventure, p.39.
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convictions and femperament . In particular he was thoroughly
unimpressed with what must hnvo been the first meeting he
cattended. He said as much at a breakfast with Lloyd George
and Lord Riddell: "Your trouble [is] you have got too many
clever men. 'l yet one would have thought that g coalition

ot all the talonts~kn war-time would have been ideal.  The
Cabinet for Hughes was too large and there appreared to be
'no, plan of action which is being rosolntvly and persistently

adhered to. ... Hughes would not have been the only one nor

the first to suggest a small War Cabinet.

The Cabinet discussion on the Salonica qarrison was a
Case 1n point., Although not directly related to Australian
participation in the war Hughes entered into the dlscussion?
having gained useful infbrmatfbn on French opinion‘on the
situation. The British proposal was to withdraw their
divisions gradually from the Anglo-French forces holding the
front and transfer them>to the north of France in preparation
for the forthcoming offensive at the Somme. Hughes informed
the startled group who .1t secure in the belief that the
French were not only aware but approved, that the French did
not approve and were most indignant. Kitchener was non—plnssed.
Hughes's sources were impeccable: Joffre, Castlemain and
Petain.3 Lord Bertie, the British Ambassador at Paris,
bpresent at the consultations with the French subsequent to |

the British Cabinet discussiens confirmed Hughes's information.

1. Hughes, 10 March, 1916; cited in Lord Riddell S War Diary, pp.161-2.
Thomas Jones, an assistant- secretary to the Cabinet and a Welshman after
Lloyd Geora:'s own heart has noted that 'if Lord Northcliffe wanted to
sec Lloyd George, he rang Riddell'. Riddell was Lloyd George's constant
adviser and press agent. See T. Jones, Lloyd George, (0.U.P. 1951),
pp.62-3. )

2. Asquith to the King, 23 March, 1916; CAB37/144/69.

3. Hughes, 23 March, 1916; CAB42/11/9 being the verbal proc: :din
the meeting.

el
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Bertie noted that:

Asquith seeing that Kitchener and Robertson had not made
Ut a logical cage satd that having regard to the
objections urged by Briand ang the Rnsgian'Rupresvntatives
he would not pPersist in the pProposal put forward by‘the

British Military. 1

At the same Jinet meeting Hughes contributed to the
discussion on the shortage of 1abou£ in British ports;
essential military supplies for the Western Front lay on
the waterfront . Hughes had had vast expCJienco in handling
indust: iql problems at the waterfront and the sort of labour
required. He had risen in politics from the ungle of
waterfront unionism, This was where he had jaineg his
grounding.?2 71t may well account for his forceful style in
dealing with certain situations. Hughes's solution to the
problem at hang was labelled by Kitchener as 'organization
of the nation', or as Cook called it, 'war socialism'.3

Cook complained that the Australian Government under the
‘cover of war was hurrying the Commonwealth into 'complete
Socialism'. 71t was not a question of politicial labels as
Kitchener ang Cook seemed so concerned about but g4 question
of positive organization in the interqsts of the war effort,
If commandeering equipment or in this instance’ the orderly
and systematic apportionment of manhood' was necessary, then

~he believeg the simplest solution was to use troops to

1. Bertie, Hote] Crillon, Paris,_27 March, 191e; Bezifﬁjpapers, F.O.
800/175. '

2. See L.F. Fitzhardinge, Hughes, vol.1, passim, and Waters, Much
Besides Music, (Melbourne, 1951), p.21.
—==-rF- fAusic

3. Cook to Groom, 30 March, 1916; Groom Papers, N.L.A., Ms 236/1/15.

4. Hughes, 23 March, 1916; CAB42/11/9.
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At much the same time, Hughes suggested to Lloyd George,
on the strength of dissatisfactions that had been cxpressed

that 'Bonar Law should be approached with a view to closer

co-operation', to which Lloyd George had remarked that 'he
did not quite see the obj&ct in view'. 1 These are, on the
face of it, Cryptic remarks. But by June Bonar Law had

noted that Hughes had been used 'as a stick to beat the .
Government' and Lord Fisher had urged Hughes to 'make him
[Lloyd George] take the Plunge'.2 Did Hughes ever actually
urge Lloyd George to take tﬁis,action? Years later, in his
reminiscences which like all in this genre are notoriously
Suspect Hughes has stated 'but for me he [Lloyd George])
would never have dared to supplant him'.3 Fron the extant
material it would appear that all that we can safely say is
that Hughes was but one of a number who urged suth action
at this time and that he helped to Create that climate'of
opinion which before the end of the year saw Asquith

replaced by Lloyd George.

One of the most important areas of consultation that
engaged Hughes's attention was the Pacific question and its
corollary, the Japanese question. Hughes, on his way over,
very wisely had consulted Massey and then Borden on the
issue. - Massey evidently agreed with his views and thought
Borden.could be relied 'to back us up'.4 Borden though must

have been non-committal, for he simply noted Hughes's

1. Hughes and Lloyd George, cited by Riddell, war Diarz, 19 March, 1916,
pPp.165-6.

2. Fisher to Hughes 12 June, 1956; Hughes Papers N.L.A. Mg 1538/117/2.

3. Hughes to J. Hume Cook, 14 February, 1930: Hume Cook Papers,
N.L.A. Series i1i, (7), 2C. 1t is interesting to note that Cameron
Hazlehurst's next volume on Lloyd George, The Triumph of Lloyd George,
argues that Asquith was not supplanted - he resigned; conversations
with the author, A.N.U., 1973-6,

4. Hughes to Pearce, 24 June, 1916; Pearce Papers, Australian War
Memorial Library, Ms 1/3.
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anxieties and aspirations in his diary. Hughes was 'anxious
that we should put a fleet unit in the Pacific' as Australia
'greatly dreads Japan's future aims”.l Hughes was aware
that in certain circumst inces with the British fleet maimed
after an encounter with the German high seas fleet, the
Japanese navy would be the most powerful in the Pacific. He
was now aware,as no other statesman was, of the views of the
Pacific Dominions. Just before he left, his Defence Minister
gave as hisvconsidered opinion the view that the north
Pacific Islands were of no great value to Australia and in
given circumstances would Be a source of weakness. There
was no gquestion that the south Pacific Islands from a

defence view point were considered a sine qua non.

Significantly, ﬁhe possible commercial value was emphasised

by Pearce. Nauru, he reminded. Hughes, was an established

and valuable asset. It was also hoped that the long standing
unsatisfactory condominium arrangement in the New Hebrides
could be re-negotiated. France's presence on the one hand

was considered invaluable but there was always the possibility
of France selling its share to a host;le power.2 As Munro
Ferguson observed, the retention of British rights would be

a useful '"point d'appui" éhould France and Japan combine

to annoy us'.3’ \ ' R

1. Borden, 18 February, 1916 cited in H. Borden, (ed), Memoirs,
vol.II, (New York, 1938). :

2. Pearce to Hughes, 14 Jénuary, 1916, Pearce Papers, Australian wWar
Memorial Library, Pearce MS 1/3. )

3. Munrq Ferguson to Harcourt, 19 May, 1915; Novar Papers, MS 696/
692. 1In view of Vichy France's relations with Japan-early in World War
IT these remarks are not so unrealistic. The Australian Navy found it
necessary to force a coup de ‘main in New Caledonia to prevent such a
possibility; see H. Gill, Royal Australian Navy 1939-42, (Canberra
1957), pp.258-66. For a thorough treatment of the New Hebrides Question
see R.C. Thompson, "Australian Imperialism in the New Hebrides, 1862-
1922', Ph.D. thesis, A.N.U., 1973. -
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Significant also is Hughes's consultation with
Harcourt in his first week in Britain, on the 'Pacific
Question', as he noted in his cable to Pearce. There is no
record of the details of that interview. Related to this
matter was the curious omission, as the Colonial Office
saw it, on the part of Munro Ferguson to reply to the
critical 19 March 1915 despatch. After repeated requeéts
by the Colonial Office the Governor-General replied in
February 1916 but simply responded that Hughes would take
up the question of the Anglo-Japanese Treaty of Commerce
now that he was in Britain.l 71t would seem that now that
Hughes was the Prime Minister Munro Ferguson was anxious
to drop the whole question of the disposition of the

Islands.2

The Foreign Office thought that it was a 'strange
coincidence' that the latest Japanese request for Australia's

adherence to the Commercial Treaty as a quid quo pro for

more Japanese naval assistance should coincide with the
news that Hughes would shortly be in London on just this

matter.3 There was on the face of it a concerted effort by the

\

v

1. Hughes to Pearce, Acting Prime Minister, 16 March, 1916; cC.o.
AA63/48 item J2/3/2. Henry Lambert, Colonial Office, to Foreign
Office, 7 January, 1916, F.O. 371/2688/30932 and Munro Ferguson to
Colonial Secretary, 12 February, 1916; Ibid.

2. Munro Ferguson to Harcourt, 13 May, 1915: Harcourt Papers, Bodleian
Library, MS Harcourt dep. 479, f.235.

3. Beilby Alston, minute, ‘17 February, 1916; F.0. 371/2690/36950.
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Japanese to lobby at every level. After Hughes left, the
Japanese Consul had interviewed Atlee -Hunt early in
_February.l Representations were made in Tokyo to the
British Embassy later in the month.2 Also, the Japanese

Ambassador at London left an aide memoire from Baron

Ishii, the Foreign Minister, which pointed out that there
was a feeling of regret in the Japanese Diet at the
strong anti-Japanese sentiment in the British Colonies.
Yet the British re@uested further naval assistance. In
fact, a secret session of the 'Committee Meeting of the
Japanese Diet' had been essential to gain their approval
for the naval assistance. Ishii remarked that unless
'satisfaction' could be guaranteed he would find it difficult
to recommend assistance.3 Greene pointed out that the
Japanese would expéct the north Pacific Islands for
services rendered to date. Grey responded by noting that
it was the question of the Treaty that was the Japanese
object at this point.4 It appeared to Alston that the
best policvaeuld be to pay the Japanese expenses and
stave off for a while 'the nightmare of our effacement in
China'.

The Japanese then, were applying heavy pressure on Grey

-~

1. Hunt to Mahon, 9 February , 1916; Hunt Papers, N.L.A. MS 52/1523;
Huni w5 prepared to negotiate but stipulated that the 'White
Australia' policy was sacrosanct.

2. & onr > Grey, 24 February, 1916: F.O. 371/2690/59701.

3. Lkera -f telegram, aide-memoire, from Baron Ishii, 20 February,
191e; . 90, 30950.

4. Gr -ne ., Grey to Greene, 5, 21, February 1916; F.0.

371/2690 ’ 36950; minu* @ by Alston; 17 February f30818).

Green+s enc ' oNgls o on i speeches from the Japanese Diet
inveigiing . - r Jordan, :rnd the Australians, Dr. Morrison

of 'Chinag' -r1c 7. ., the conscrvative publicist.
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and Hughes who thrashed out the matter in discussions in
mid-March at which Bonar Law and Sir John Anderson were
present. After the first round of discussionsl Grey
immediat ly informed Greene and the Japanese Ambassador in
Londog~jat Australia was prepared to negotiate its adherence
to t Commercial Treaty. Immigration would be excluded,
and it appeared that the Japanese were prepared to accept
this. Most-favoured-nation treatment would be accorded

the Japanese on the tariff, but Australia reserved the right
to retain the 'coasting trade' south of the Equator in
British territory. Then Grey informe8 Greene that 'Japan
also reserves her coasting trade' and 'would no doubt treat
as coasting trade any territory that she acquired north of
the Equétor.2 This version accords with the Japanese

recollection on the subject.3 Hughes in writing to Pearce

was much more graphic. He confided that he had had several
long conferences with Bonar Law and Grey. It was clear to
Hughes Japan was 'most keenly interested in Australia'. The

Japanese Ambassador had enquired even before his arrival about
the Commercial Treaty but there had been no talk about the
'test [the White Australia policy]'. One can therefore
.assume on the strength of Hughes's own assertion that the
Japanese goal in 1916 was 'commercial' and not 'immigration®'.
Grey had explained, Hughes ‘went on, that‘éﬁere had been pressure

on Japan's loyalty and inducements had been offered to Japan

l. F.G.A. Butler, Colonial Office to Drummond, <{Foreign Office), 6
Anril, 1916; Grey Papers, F.O. 800/91/553; comparing notes on the
conversations in March.

2. Grey to Greene, 23 March, 1916; F.O. 371/2688/56401.

3. Memorandum.by Japanese Ambassador,. 2 February, 1917; F.O. f7l/2950/
26707.
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to defect but he believed that Japan would remain loyal.
Hughes however feared the worst. Referring to Britain's
need for Japanese naval assistance Hughes could see the

difficulty of a quid pro quo, for the Allies could hardly

expect Japan to remain loyal to the Alliance if she could
not gain concessions in China; her people could not come
to Australia nor was sher~eligible for most-favoured-nation
treatment with respect to the British Empire and Australia.
It would appear at this point that Hughes reacted character-
istically:

T told Grey that Australia would fight to the last ditch

rather than allow Japanese to enter Australia. Upon that

point we were adamant. I told him that as to control of

the Pacific after the war, we were prepared to consider

favourably the Equator as a line of demarcation, giving us

control of all Islands to the South.l
This was not a sudden act of generosity or impetuosity.
All that Hughes had said was that 'we were prepared to
consider'. His options on this still remained open. With
regard to the Commercial»Treaty Hughes informed Pearce that
he had 1let Grey know that if the British Government, under
the pressure of war, felt that.it would help to secure
Japanese aid 'we would consider the gquestion of giving
Japan moét—favoured—naﬁion treatment with respect to the
tariff'. Again Hughes retained his options. Hughes ‘
concluded thig .engthy communication, pointedly referring
to the inadequate method of formulating imperial foreign
policy:

The difficulty is to avoid faying too much. What T propose

to say is this. That the present system: under which the

Parliament of Great Britain determines our destiny - we

having no voice, cannot (ought not to) continue: I shall

not say what form the change should take. Please put this
view before the government and cable me immediately.

A

1. Hughes to Pearce, 21 Aprii, 1916; Pearce Papers, Australian
War Memorial Library, Pearce MsS 3/3.
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When Bonar Law was asked by Grey to confirm the
substance of these dis®ussions he recollected that Hughes hac
reserved 'all British Possessions in the Pac.fic and not
merely those South of the Line' for her coasting trade. This
was a point he felt sure Hughes would notice and upon which
he would be adamant.1 As we have seen, Australian trade was
being excluded from the islands in the north Pacific held by
Japan and Hughes wanted to reverse this trend. Grey
hurriedly advised Greene at Tokyo to inform the Japanese of
this and reasoned that the Japanese were not likely to

object:

Unless we were to claim something north of the Equator

which did not belong to us before the war which Japan

desires.'2
The Japanese response to all of this was generally
favourable.3 It appears though that matters were fuzzy or
cloudy in Hughes's own-mind, possibly owing to the
assumptions and hypothetical analogies that had been employed
in the conversations. He therefore instructed his secretary
Shepherd to deliver a note clarifyiné his position which
stated that 'nothing he said during the course of his
discussion involved support of the proposal to submit t'»
commercial treaty except only so far as placing Japan or.
"favoured nation" basis in any tariff and his promise bec

and ended there.'4 Even though this was crystal clear Hughes
\

1. Bonar 'Law to Grey, 24 March., 191¢; F.O. 371/2688/56401.
2. Grey to Greene, 25 March, 1916; F.0O. 371/2688/56401. .

3. Telegram from Ishii, 8 April, 1916; C.A.O., ‘AA 63/48, item
3/2/3/2. o -

~—

4. Secreté;§" -2 Minister's Department, M.L. Shepherd, to Mr. J.C.
Davidson, Col<:. . Office, S April, 1916; Grey Papers F.O. 800/91/552.
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still was uneasy. Matters still were indecisive in his

1 In

own mind. He sought another round of conversations.
response to his last communication which had been handed on
to Grey, Hughes was told that the Japancse had been informed
that only most-favoured-nation status was being negotiated.
There also had been some discussion on the question of
immigration. However, it was agreed that the subject was
not one that cduld be discussed at this time. Finally,
'coasting trade', a thorny issue, was to be reserved for

local interests and was 'not open to foreigners'.

~

In the interval also, Grey had received disquieting
news about the Japanese which was not communicated to the
Australians. German overtures to the Japanese Ambassador at
Stockholm revolved around a separate peace, a trois, with the
Russians. Germany had guaranteed the Japanese the north
Pacific Islands and Kiaow Chow. Japan had informed all her
allies. Thus pressure on Grey had increased in this area,
for Britain had applied pressure herself on Japan to tone

down her demands on Chjna.3

The next round of conversations had been delayed owing
to Hughes's prolonged illness. In the meantime, Grey had

had conversations with the Japanese Ambassador, Inouye.4

1. Shepherd, Secretary of Prime Minister's Department to F.G.A. Butler,
Colonial Office, 17 April, 1916; C.A.O0. AA63/48, item J2/3/2; Hughes
had minuted on 10 April, 'This matter 1s to be thoroughly cleared up

by another interview. W.M.H.' 1Ibid.

2. F.G.A. Butler, Colonial Office to Drummond, Foreign Office, 6 April,
1916; Grey Papers, F.O. 800/91/553; C.F. Dormer to Butler, 7 April,
1916; C.A.O., AA 63/48 item, J2/3/2.

3. Grey, memorandum, 4 May, 1916, including Grey to Greene, 29 April,
1916; CAB 371/147/167' printed for Cabinet, May 1916; on this subject
see Peter Lowe, Great Britain and Japan, chapter 7, and Roger Louis,
Germany's Lost Colonies, pp.48-9. '

4. Inouye returned to Japan in September 1916 and was replaced by
Sutemi Chinda; see Nish, Alliance In Decline, p.149.
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There 1s little wonder that Hughes, faced with the programme

he undertook, would fall 111, especially in one who did

not enjoy the best of health at any time. His deafness,

poor digestion, angd extreme shortness were all handicaps

he bore stoically and must surely account for the irritability
under pressure that critics, especially cartoonists, delighted

to portray.l

When Grey ang Hughes did meet again, in May, Hughes
still held his ground giving nothing away. Prepared to
discuss matters, he pointed out that it would be a lengthy
business for the Australian Parliament to go through the
Commercial Treaty line by line, clause by clause, for this is
what Australia would do before it would consider adhering to
the Commercial Treaty. Grey's reaction to this was to .
suggest that in these circumstances the most-favoured-nation
status on the tariff seemed to be the area where some agreement
could be reached. The coasting trade question again was -
raised and again the realm of hypothetical analogy and
assumption was employed whereby  Japan 'in possession of some
islands in the Pacific north of the Equator' would certainly
reserve for herself the Coasting trade for 'any islands
which are now or may hereafter be, in her possession i: _he
Pacific'. Grey informed Greene that 'Hughes had given me to
understand gﬁat there would be no objection to this
definition.'2 1¢ 1s a moot point'qs to whether Hughes or

even Grey for that matter, on the strength of the above

1. See David Low, the Bulletin, 16 March, 1916. F. Owen, Tempestuous
Journev: Lloyd George: his Life and Times, (London, 1954), records
the aphorism about Hughes, p. 369: 'He was too deaf to listen to
reason, too loud to ignore and too small to hit."

2. Grey to Greene, 11 May, 1916; F.o. 371/2688/92475 and CAB 37/147/
30. The Japanese version is in 2 May, 1917; F.o. 371/2950/26707.
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» OXChanoes thought that Japan would claim possession of all

the north Pacitic Islands currently an her. possession.

, .
‘ There was vet a tuarther ound ot negotiations, This

time Grey requested an interview with the lapanese

1 : . A :
Ambassador prescent . Fv1<hw1tl§' prior to this, late in May, -
at a luncheon with Grey, Hughes had cong?rmod the fact that

he was prepared to commencoe neaotiations on the most-

favecured-nation status. A delighted Arey communicated ag

.
muck to Greene.” - final round however d4id no t 1nclude
Grey as pldanned. Arthur Nicolson, Huahes, and the Japanese

Ambassador cé;ferred on a Jnno§ In Grey's abgence owing to
the illness that was to rob him of the effective use of his
eyesiqht.4 Huahes confirmed his acceptance of according most-
favoured-nation status tc Japanese imports, apart from the
rate applicable to British Goods. Tourists, students, and
the 'leisured' classes would be aiven Furopean status in
travel arrangements, it beina emphatically recodnized that
labourers and traders were excluded from these liberalized
ar:angements.5 |

Lord Robert Cecil's 1918 reconstruction of these
disc séffgs concluded that he was justified in claiming
Huchex had accepted the Japanese case for the Islands on th@v

basis of his acceptance of ar. s 'analoay' and

1. Trey to Hughes, 19 May, 1916; Grey rapers, r.O. 300/91. ;
2. Grey to Greene, 24 May, 1916; F... 80N/68/28].

3. Arthur Nicolson, Permanent Head of Foreian 0Office, draft memorandum,
9 June, 1916; F.O. 371/2688/113542.

-

4. On these occasions Lord Crewe took over Grev's duties; Grev soon
moved to the House of Lords and in June, Lord Hardinge took over from
Nicolson: sce Robblns, Sir Edward Grey, rn.322-3 and Lord Hardinge,
'0ld Diplomacv -~ The Reminscences of Lor: Hardinge of Penshurst,
(London, 1-i8), p.200.

5. See also Huaghes to Fifield, 13 ™arch, 195] cited 1n Fifield, Woodrow
Wilson and the Far Fast, pp.60-61.
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\
‘assumptions'.l E.1,. Piesse, extremely careful in his
assertions on Australia's external retations with Japan, avoidﬁ
this ;nirti<n1]$¥ point 1n axﬂ<jcltﬁc which 1nclude these 19160 -
negotiations, observing that ‘perhaps no one in Australia but
Mr. Hughes knows what p?ssod, and probably there is no- *
complete record of it outside the Japanese I-‘(wroiqu‘()ffiC(?'.z
S1ssons concludes that Hughes 1n 1916 cannot be held to have
Aaccepted the permanent posscession by Japan of these Islands.
As 51Ss50ns notes, in Hughes's 1919 rebuttal of Catts's
assertion that he 'gave away the 1slands', Hughes refers to
the events of 1916 when on his return from England he had
informed Cabinet, the Parliamentary Labour Party, and a
secret session of the whole Parliament that:
the responsibility for that position [Catt's assertions)

rested not onomy.shoulders but on the shoulders of those
vharged with the conduct of the war.? ({

»
That the Imperial Government the following year felt it
necessary formally to enquire whether Australia would object
to their aiving a pledge to Japan to support her permanent
occupation of the Islands is a sufficient indication that
the 1916 discussions were not considereq\conclusive by
Britain herself. There ié this inconclusive note about the
whole question at this time. Hughes's own statement to his

\colleague Pearce is

AN

1. CCEEQJ Memorandum, 15 October, 1918; F... 371/3236/176414.

2. E.L. Pilesse, 'Australia and Jarvan', address, Melbourne 1915;

Piesse Fapers, N.L.A., MS 882/9: ~ese had been Director of the
Pacitic Branch in the Prime Min: r Department with access to all
papers in the possession of the -+ awealth. Mut of Office he
reqularly addressed meetings of the 'round Table'. See also his 'Japan
and Australia', Foreian Affairs, vol.Iv, ©t.111, January 191, pp.475-88,

where this pcint 1s avoided completely.

3. Hughes C.P.D., vol.L¥XXIX, £.12611, 19 september, 1919: see Sissons,

103-94; see also Foger Louis,
'Australia and the German Colcnies', rp.412-3. As Sissons nbserves,
there are no extant records of the statements of Hughes to Cabinet, the
secret session of Parliament, and the Parl:iamentary Labour Party.

'‘Attitudes to Japan and Defence', pp.
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conclusive: A to the control ot the Pacitice ITslands atten
the war, 'we were prepared to consider tavourahl v othe cauaton
as o a line of demarcation'. His oremarks in 1916 were 'wit hout
prejudice’ . Huahes was walting for the terms ot peace when

he would expect to be able to thrash the matter out final Ty,

Tt was a pity that Aucsten Chamberlain of the India
Of tice had not been involved in these discussions. He wrote

to Hubhes just before the departure of the Australian.

B . ~ )
Chamfierlain pointed out that 1t the Japanese now were to bhe

accorded more tavourable conditions in going to Australia it

"'would only bo falr to extend rhose rights to Indians'.  He
confided that the Govérnment of India 'are thomselves
confronted with special dilrfcultios, in part commercial,
industrial, And rc}atfhc-tp shippina and in part also
political relatina to Janan'. He hoped that the various \

‘units of the Fmpire' with Japancse- interests would be able

~to 'compare notes before any final decisions we-e reached

~ ; 1 . .
by any of them'. Such consultation as envisaged by

»
Chamberlain would have been welcomed by Hughes. A much more

realistkc picture. ot she Far Fast and the Pacific would have

L ) RN
emerged for all conderned. Such realism was essential for

those like Hughes charged with,a.Deminion's external

N

relations.

7

‘1. Austen Chamberlain, to Hughes, 20 June, 1916; C.A.0. AXC3/48,

item J2/372.

O



[0 THE PARIS BCONOMIC CONFERENCE

The author of Wﬂu‘ Hl(njkqdi\<wfi}l1v (\\ntlnllm}X>wurwz 1914~

I8 has commented that the 'Recommendations of the Fconomic
Conference of the Allies held at Paris' in mid-June came to
nothing. ] The Allied revresentatives did not find it
di'tficult to agree abon c@neiete obligations during the
ZtTJnSitiond] period atter the War., They agreed to eoxclude
Germany from their most-favoured-nation status, to refuse her
access to raw materials which they wanted themselves, and

to erect barriers against her goods. However, the so-called
'"permanent measures of mutual assistanvy and collaboration'
necessarily were left wide Opon.) Sir Cecll Spring-Rice,

the British Ambassador at Washington, pointé@ ~t that , the
published results of the Conference with roqnfh o y/futuro
policy of exclusion directed against German trade ?Hoes not
appear calculated to win the sympathv of the American
public'. The World reckoned -hat the Allies were imitating
Bernhardi and pertetuating war. Thev had lowered their moral
tone. The best thina that could be said for the plan was
that 'success is impossib]c'.2 Britain was esveciallv
susceptﬂvle to American sentiment at this time howine rhe
United States would soon enter the Wir on the side of the
Allies. The Board of Trade therefore, hastily prepared an

aide-memoire, with the objective of correcting any false

1. A.C. Bell, The Blockade of the Central Fowers 1914-18, (London,
1961) being a volume in the Nfficial History of the War, mp.557-588,

at Paris on June 14, 15, 16 and 17, 191¢6; Command 8271, 1916.

2 Recommendations of the Economic Conference of the s held L

3. Spring-Rice to Grey, Washington, 23 June, 191¢; Bonar I. Papers,
House of Lords Record oOffice, Box 61, Paris FEconomic Conference:
also CAB37/151/2.
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impressions. The memorandum denied a 'permanent economic war'.
and denied 'a determination to prolong in the ecdnomic sphere
the present s$tate of war' and after peace 'a policy of
aggression against the Central Powers'. The real force of

the Recommendations was for the 'Transitory Period' which
would be the period immediately following the War. The
proposals for this period were of a purely transitory and
temporary nature and had been forced upon the Allies by the

necessities of the case.%

The American criticisms smack of the allegations levelled
at Hughes some time after his return-to Australia. A censure
motion was lodged by F.G. Tud ", the Labour Opposition
Leader, who contended that ts. Prime Minister's speeches and
proposals at and in relation to the Paris Peace Conference
would prolong the War. Hughes in reply rose to the

challenge:

If there is anything I glory in more than anything else

it is the part I took at that Conference. When I make

war it is war to the death....In ten years time this

country would have been the economic vassal of Germany.2

There is no doubt that Hughes's, participation in the
Conference contributed in no small measure to the final
Recommendations of the Conference. A close examination of
his involvement therefore will help to establish basic goals

in his economic policy which dovetail with the general

1. Board of Trade to Foreign Office, Draft, n.d.; Llewellyn-Smith,
Board of Trade to Bonar Law, 25 July, 1916; Bonar Law Papers, House
of Lords Record Office, Box 61, Paris Economic Conference.

2. Tudor, Hughes, C.P.D., vol.LXXIV, p.4017, ff, 24 April, 1918.



Objcétivos of his foreign poliry.]

In December 1915 walter Runciman, President of the Board
of Trade, informed Lord Milner that he had initiated movesg to
investigate the genéral question of trade relations after the
War with a view to the successful promotion of British trade
and also with the Object of devising measures for the
" Prevention of the effective resumption of Germany's policy of
peaceful economic penetration.2 Thus in January 1916 in the
Commons he went q step further, and announced wnlans for
economic war afper the shooting had ended '"We must see to
it that having ended this war victoriously we do not give
Germany the chance of reconstructing her commercial
production'.3 Early in February the Conference was
announced and even before Huahes had reached England Bonar
Law had sounded out Sir Edward Gy concernihg Dominion
rep'resentation.4 Also, Pearce had cableqd Hughes, drawing his
attention to the subject. The Prime Minister in New York
lost no time contacting Bonar Law concerning Dominion

representation.

However, he was faced with blocks to the participation
of ‘the Dominions in general and to his Presence at the
Conference in particular. Asquith raised objections. Tn the

Commons on 9 March, speaking atout the proposed Conference in

—_—

1. For an exhaustive treatment of Hughes at this Conference see

Fitzhardinge, The Little Digger.

2. Ruaciman to Milner, 23 December, 1915, Milner Papers; cited in
Marvir Swarz, The Union of Democratic Control in Britain, (Oxford,
1971y, p.78.

3. Parliamentar Debates, Commons, vol.LXXVIT, col.1368, 10 January, 1916.

4. Bonar Law to Grey, 14 February, 1916; Grey Papers, F.O. 800/91/536.
5. Hugher to Pearce, 21 April, 1916, Pearce Fapers, Australian War Memorial
Library, Pea:ce MS 3/3. Bonar Law to Hughes, n.d., Grev Papers, F.O. 800/
91/554. cable for Secretary of State Colonies, 25 February, 1916, C.a.o.,
Cp 447/3, 1916 Paris Economic Conference.
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Paris, he made it clear that whoever represented Great Byitain
'nothing will be done and nothing will bé said' which will

'in any degree fetter the free action either of the

Government or of the House of Commons'. But it was

imperative to accept the invitation of France to confer on
ways and means during the war and 'as a belligerent Ooperation,
to put some kind of economic pressure upon our opponents’'.,
Also it was just as necessKry "to offer some kind of

economic assistance to our Friends'. However,, speaking of
the period after the War Asquith was most quarded and pointed
to thé danger of adopting measures that could rebound on the
Allies.l It was at best a tentative attitude to the
Cohference. There was no mention of Dominion representation.
As W.S. Hewins, President of the Tariff Commission noted in
his diary: 'conference affairs fare) not going very well.

. Hughes wants to go but the (Aritish) Government are against
it’;2 Hughes relayed much the same news to Pearce but also
that he was 'opposing vigorously'..3 The Dominions were
informed that even though they could not be represented
nothing'would be done to commit them to any line of action

without consultation with them.4

It s at this point that the jockeying and lobbying
over the .~sctual representation reached a crisis that 'in the
end resulted in the announcement on 10 April in the Commons

of Hughes's selection as one of the delegates - not of the

1. Asquith, Parliamentagx_gegqggg, Commons, vol.LXXX, cols.1755-58,
9 March, 191s6.

4

2. H.W. Hewins, Diary, 14 March, 1916, in his Apologia of an

Imperialist, vol.IT, p.66.

3. Hughes to Pearce, 16 March, 1916., c.a.0., CP447/3. sCII,- (S).

4. Pearce *o Hughes, 16 March, 1916., ‘1bid.
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Dominions - but of Great Britain itself.l rThis in itself
was a remarkable brecedent. 1In the end, Lloyds George, Bonar
Law, an aroused public opinion, and even the King, all

became involved in the issue.

Sir George Perley, Canada's Minister for Overseas
Military Forces, informed Sir Robert Borden, his chief, that
the conference after all would be a low level affair, more
in the nature of Preliminary,discussions than in reaching
settled and lasting policies. This was the distinct impression
Bonar Law had conVeyed. It was expected that Runciman and
Law would be Britain's representatives.? George Foster, the
Canadian Minister for Trade and Customs had relayed much the
same message. Two days later in the Commons, during Lloyd
George's speech on the Conference he raised the question of
the possibility of Hughes's attendance at Paris. He also :
saw the Conference as a deliberative and cdnsultative
exercise but he did not believe that the status quo ante bellum

could ever be restored. This did not necessarily imply a
protectionist tariff wall that was prohibitive, but, for
example, the War had proved that there were industries
essential for war and therefore for national existence.A At
this poipt Lloyd George paid,Hugheé an eloquent tribute as
the man who laid open these matters to the public'and to
himself: 'I have never met an astuter man of business when

dealing with affairs'.3 such promotion, along with the

1. Sir George Foster, the Canadian Minister for Trade and Customs
was the other 'British’ delegate from the Dominions.

2. Perley to Prime Minister [Canada), 21 March, 1916; Foster Papers,
Public Archives of Canada; Fitzhardinge, 'Hughes Annex'. George
Foster to Sir Robert Borden, 21 March, 1916; 1Ibid.

3. Lloyd George, Parliamentary Debates, vol.LXXXI, cabs., 517-20,
23 March, 1916.
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'inspired' newspaper campaign provided a climate of opinion
that would have been difficult to resist. Bonar Law, loath
to or at least hesitant to push Dominion representation, was
bPressured with suggestions that Hughes should attend.l The
British? and French press in the last week of March and
first week of April called for his inclusion as a delegate
to the Conference. French pPress advocacy of Hughes must have
been significant and may well have been the critical factor.
The French press approved of Hughes's policy of economic war
against the Germans but was at the same time concerned at
the implication of an Anglo-Saxon trade bloc that could

éxclude"foreign' trade from the Empire:

La Voix de L'Empire

f
Ce doit Stre d'aprés M. W.M. Hughes le premier ministre
d' Australie l'empire britannique de demain...(Il) a .
insisté tout d'abord sur la necessite d'extirper toute
influence allemande dans la commerce britannique....Il
voudrait unir les colonies a la mere bpatrie par liens
qui, en les solidarisent étroitement, les séparaient
assey sérieusement du reste du monde....C'est contre 1°'
Allemagne qu'il se prononce, mais il est evident que son
Ostracisme s'étendrait forcement 3 tous les autres pays.3

Perley reported that Hughes's statements 'caused a sensation'

in France and his visit to Paris was 'earnestly awaited'.4

‘Meanwhile, Bonar Law was anxious that the Conservatives

should be represented, suggesting Austen Chamberlain to

1. For example, Walter Long, President of the local Government Board,
lord Duncannon. ’

2. The Times, 16, 21, 25 March and 7, 8, 10 April, 191s.

3. Argus de la Presse, Paris, 23 March, 1916; Journal des Debates,
Paris, 28 April, 1916; newspaper cuttings 1916 Paris Economic Conference.

C.A.0., CP447/3, SCII, (5).

4. Sir George Foster to Sir Robert Borden, 27 March, 1916; Foster
Papers, Publ.ic Archives of Canada; Fitzhardinge, 'Hughes Annex'.
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'Asquith, who approved rather of Bonar I, :w himself
accompanying Runciman.1 In the event, Runc iman, who became
ill,2 was replaced by Lord Crewe,3 the Liicial imperialist,
only after Asquith's nominee, Harcourt, had been dumped by
the Conservative's Business Committee whichm}*jected.4 Bonar

Law became the Conservative member of the British delegation.

Bonar Law early in April thus informed the governors-
general that there was 'a strong feeling here' that since
Hughes was on the Continent advantage should be taken of hiss
presence by inviting him to represent Great Britain on the
strength of his position as an 'Imperial Privy Councillor'.5
The King was assured that this was possible and
constitutionally valid. The Prime Minister formally
announced on 10 April that Hughes hid been invited to attend

as one of the representatives of the' 'Imperial Government'.7

That Bonar Law had extreme reserations about the
Conference in view of the 'delicate nature' of the subjects
to be dealt with, and the possibility of raising 'old
controversies' is clear from these remarks to Munro Ferguson

l. Bonar Law to Asquith, Asqguith to Bonar Law, both 23 March, 1916;
Bonar Law Papers, House of Lords Record Office, MS 53/6/65; 52/4/27.

2. Wickham Steed, of The Times thought this fortunate for he did not
believe the 'economic team of the Empire' should be led by a 'jibbing
mule'. Wickham Steed to Hughes, 2 May, 1916; c.a.0., cp 447/3 SCII (5).

3. Marquis of Crewe, (1858-1945); leader of House of Lords from 1908~
10; India Secretary, 1910-15;: Education, 1916; resigned with Asquith.

4. Hewins, Diary, 20 June, 1916; Apologia of an Imperialist, vol.II,
p.74. ) '

5. Secretary of State for Colonies” to Governors-General, Union of
South Africa, New Zealand and Newfoundland, 12 April, 1916; Bonar
Law earlier had sounded out Sir Robert Borden for his approval on 8
April; Bonar Law Papers, House of lLords Record Office; Box 61,
Paris Economic Conference; MsS 50/2/3.

6. Lord Stamfordham, (private secretary of HKing George V) to Bonar
Law, Bonar Law to .stamfordham, both 8 April, 1916; 1Ibid:; MS 53/1/8
and 53/6/72.

IS

7. Asquith, parliamentary Debates, 'vol.LXXXI, cols.1471-2.
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when he reported that Hughes would attend the Conference
which he hoped would be 'of some little use'.1 Asquith, a
week or so before the Conference was due to begin, attempted
to delay it, . ostensibly to suit the Italian delegation.
Hughes recorded his objections and saw it as yet further
evidence of cold feet: 'I am trying to stiffen the backs of
those that be: here'.2

Hughes it would seem. As Wickham Steed observed, Hughes's

This was precisely the objection to

bPresence at the Conference as a British delegate would ensure
that the '"wobblers and "ready-to halts" would be . snowed
under’.3 In the attempt to keep Hughes silent Bonar Law
informed him, so Garran and Hughes recall. ‘hat he was not
permitted to spéak. One can imagine Hughe '« ‘action to
this, 4 In the event, the proces verbaux of nc¢ snference
laconically records the words of the Chairman M. ‘lemental,

the French Minister of Commerce; that only two nem i rs of
each delegation should speak to any one item but:

il servit toutefois permis aux represents d'Australie et
du Canada d'exposer leur point du wvue.S

The case that Hughes outlined that day was substantially

what had been developed under his guidance and inspiration in

1. Bonar Law to Munro Ferguson, 3 June, 1916; Davidson Papers, House
of Lords Record Office.

2. ﬁughes to Pearce, 3 June, 1816; Pearce Papers,.Australian War
Memorial Library, Pearce, MS 3/3.

3. Wickham Steed to Hughes, 2 May, 1916; cC.a.0., cp 447/3, SCII (5).

4. Garran, Prosper the Commonwealth, PP-27-9; Bonar Law was so taken
aback by Hughes's reaction he sought Asquith's advice.

5. Clemental, procés verbaux de la Deuxiéme Séance mercredi, 14 Juin,
1916; Conference Economique des Governments Alliées tenue a Paris...
1916. Programme, delegations, proces verbaux, des séances et actes de

~la Confercrece; 'Hughes's Working Papers', C.A.0. Cp 447/3 SCITI (5);
Hughes had séfawled a note to his interpreter: ' can speak can I not?' *
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Australia. 1In fact 'Lois Australiennes, interdisant

le commerce avec 1'ennemi' was tabled as a Conference Paver
as Hughes did not believe the proposals set forth for
consideration went far enough.l The chairman himself had
noted that on the question of enemy contracts the Australians
'a mis fin indistinctement tous les contrats avec sujets '
ennemis' whereas the English had stipulated that only
contracts considered 'nuisibles 3 1'intéret générale' should
be annulled.2 The Conference decided on a compromise which

was incorporated as one of the Recommendations:

Ils rechercheront l'establissement d'un rééime permettant
- :

la résiliation pure et simple des contrats souscrits avec
.. D s A . 3
nuisibles a 1'intéret natjional.

This really suited Hughes, for his own Paper, 'Lois
Australiennes’, had state ! that a contract could be annulled R
if in the opinion of the Attorney General an enemy subiject
possessed a material interest - which for Hughes would have
been against the 'national interest'.”? 1t was because
Australia had utterly eradicated enemy influences and Britain
had not, that Hughes was SO active on the subject. As he
advised Pearce: 'If Britain with whom we do most of our trade
exists as a house of German influence' then Australian

measures would be nullified;5 Q’

1. Hughes, 14 June, 1916; Ibid.
2. Clemental, Ibid.

3. Recommendations of the Economic Conference of the Allies, I(C);
my emphasis denotes the compromise phrase.

4. 'Louis Australiennes', 14 June, 1914; Hughes Working Papers,
C.A.0., CP447/3. sCII (5).

5. Hughes to Pearce, 21 April, 1916; Pearce Papers, Australian War
Memorial Library, Pearce MS 3/3. N
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Runciman was pleased with Hughes's efforts at the
'

Conference:

1 gather that YOou gave emphatic support to the resolutijons
which T had drafted for the Conference before I feel ill.

the British delegations in paris.l

Foster reported that 'we are having our own time with Hughes
but are managing to keep him in fair bounds'. He rather
felt that 'Australia has been over boomed through Hughes or
rather Hughes via Australia' but then, as much asg he hated
advertising, 'sometimes some of‘it has to be done'.2 The
important aspect, Hewins noted, was that his hopes for the
Conference had been reali;cd by the adoption of the extreme
resolutions that he hag proposed.3 He had adviseqd the
French, he Says, to prepare two programmes: one moderate,
the other extreme which incorporated thev'deeper economic
tendencies'. As the Cdnferehce date approached and the
climate of opinion appeared to favour the latter Programme, it
was the one presented to the Conferenée. There appears to
have been very little conflict between the British and the
French proposals.4 Bonar law very quickly notified Lloyd

George of the conclusions of the Conference:

1. Runciman to Hughes, 18" June, 1916; C.A.0., CP447/3/ SCIT (5).

2. Foster, Diary, 15, 18 June, 1916;  Foster Papers, vol.l, Diarz
Canada Public Archives of Canada, MG27, 1I, p7; Fitzhardinge, 'Hughes

Annex'.

3. Hewins, diary, 20, 23 June, 1916; Apologia of an Imperialist, vol.
II, pp.74-5.

4. 'Memorandum on the Paris Economic Cohference', n.n.; Asquith
Papers, Bodleian Library, Ms Asquith 33.
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1. The Allies in response to what appears to be
cconomic war wagoed by the Central Powers declare
their own to continue through the ensuing peace.

2. Prohibition of trade with the enemy to be complete.

3. To continus for some vyears after war to allow
restoration of economies.

4. Permanent measures to be adopted to guarantee Allles'

raw materials essential for normal economic deyelopmenp..

Ironically enough, Asquith was the one who proposed
the adoption of the Recommendationsjjlthe Commons.2 7Tt
must have surprised his followers in the leeral Party and
strengthened the grOWLng dlsenchantment in others at this
latest sign of apostasy from cla551c economic llberallsm .
The postscript to, these events must wait till November 1918
when the Board of Trade prepared memoranda on the economic
desiderata in tﬂe Terms of Peace. ‘By November 1918 it could
be argued that the 1916 Paris Recommendations were 'consistent
with a reasonable intergretation'of free trade' in the
twentieth centur¥’ Thus the Board of Trade could recorﬁmend,3
as far as the Pacific was concerned, the retention of the
German Colonies by the Allies. It noted the predomlnant
position of Australasian interests in German PaC1f1c trade
before the War and that therefore they would want to be

consulted 'as to any commercial de51derata in connection with

’

1. Bonar Law to Lloyd George, copy, telegram, 20 June, 1916; Bonar
Law Papers, House of Lords Record Office, Box ‘61, Paris Economic
Conference

2. Asquith's statement in the Commons, 2 August, 1916.

' % N
3. Mr. Llewellyn-Smith, Board of Trade, memorandum, 'The Paris
Economic Resolutions in Relation to Free Trade' , 6 November, 1918;
Lloyd George Papers, House of Lords Record Office, F/2/6/2.
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the territorial rearrangements in question'.l Britain it
recommended-should retain,ﬁauru, well known for its
incomparable reserves of phosphates.l As we shall see, the
Australasians had their own thoughts on the question of

Nauru,
“

In November 1918, with respect to the terms of a peace
no less than in June 1916, the problem of steerihg between
the Scylla of a chauvinistic 'Brest-Litovsk' peace
and the Charxb&is 0of a bolshevist 'peace without victory'
faced the Allies. We have seen where Hughes's inclinations
lay. Again, under the extreme pressure of the War it was
not so much that Statesmen such as Hughes were completely
blind to theé inherent contradiction in economic self-
sufficiency along with exclusivist ecoﬁomic policies but
that they were determined that hever again should.
Germany pose such a threat to national security. This I
believe explains Hughes's behaviour on these matters here in
June 1916 no less than at the Peace Conference in 1919 om
the question of reparations. And it underlies the policies
carried out by Australian authoritiesdnn the mandatedvTerritory
of New Guinea in the immediate post-war years - the ‘transitory
period', Having said this it is just as true to state thét
Hughes saw in the Empire the national security and economic prosperity

which were the twin goals of his policies.

1. Llewellyn—Smith,.Board of Trade, Memorandum, 'Economic
Considerations Affecting the Terms of Peace, November, 1918;
Ibid., F/2/6/1. .



IV CONSCRIPT{QEmﬁﬁgvTHE“EMFIRH

We have observed that Hughes was in England when
compulsion was introduced there., Cook, the Australian
Oppositign Leader, noted in Parliament that Hughes associated
with the conscript press ot [Lord Northcecliffe. Araguing ¢on the

grounds of complicity by association Cook was pleasced to seoe

Hughes's position on the matter. This 18 as much ar could be
sald at this time for there does not appear to be any

documentary evidence to Support 1t but there is some ovidence
to the contrary. In April Munro Ferquson noted to #onar ILaw

that as a result of the 're-constitution of the Australian
Field Forces' which he hoped had not given 'cause fqr
disappointment at Home' he would like to see more recruits,
thhes though, was 'the only man who could carry compulsion
were 1t necessary and he is also the man to adopt it at .
pinch'.l In May, Hughes wrote to Munro Ferquson that he would
return via the Cape and thus would have conferred 'with every
one of the Prime Ministers' on the War. Referring to the
coming session of Parliament Hughes informed Munro Kerguson :

1 certainly did not expect that a proncuncement would

have been made by the Government on the question of
Conscription...2

Thus in May Hughes certa:nly was not certain in his own mind
on the issue. When;ﬂg reached Freemantle in Western
Australia, -Garran met him with a note from Defence Minister,

Pearce, on the poor recruiting situation which cast arave

1. Munro Ferguson to Bonar Law, 1 April, 19! ; Dpavidsoén rapers,
House of Lords Record Office, Murro Ferguson correspornidence.

2. Hudghes to Munro Ferguson, 12 May, 1°16: Novar Papers, N.L.A.
MS 696/2487. -
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doubts on the sulttability of stic..aq to the voluntary

system. 1 The evidence then 15 of heavy pressure around

Hudghes to do someth Ing about { he situat ion. On Hughes's
triumphant progress across the continent he addressed a public
meeting in Adelaide, the uncensored report of which was
published in 1. Reqisgcr. Hughes referred to his having
‘lifted on the top most minarct the badge of White Australia'
but as Australians were 'a drop in a coloured ocean ringed
around with a thousand million of the coloured races' it would
need 'something more than a mere quard sprinkled around the
seaboard of Australia'. Ag Slssons notes, the censor took
these references to mean Japan and thusvthd? were deleted
from further reports of the mectinq.2 Conscription was
.«clearly on his mind but for reasons he could hardly -
acknowledge. While in London Hughes evident 1y had discussed
such matters with a former journalist acquailntdnce, Thorold
Waters, who recalled that w'..n he aquizzed Hughes on the low
figure in comparison with the imited Kingdc Hughes replied

that Australia had home defence to think about:

"But no army can reach vyou," I reminded him. "The
Japanese are your Allies'.

"So they are," he went on. "So they are. But that's
just it - and it will be merry hell if vou say so.'"3

By mid-Aucust Hughes could write privately to Keith
Murdoch tha* . long before the letter reached him 'the issue
of "Conscription" as they call it, will be reached in grim

earnest'. He noted that 'hot times were ahead'. Nearly all

1. George Pearce to Hughes, 20 June, 1916; Pearce Papers,
Australian War Memorial Library, Fearce MS 3.3,

. .
2. The Register, (Adelaide), 7 August, 191¢; cited in Sissons,

. L 'Attitudes to Japan and Defence', p.79, foot-note 2.

(g

3. Thoro'd Waters, Much Besides Music, p.
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the Labour organizations had passed strong olutions

dgarinst compulsion. A large majori ty of the Labour party
were 'trigh tened out of their lives'. He wasn't even
sure of the Cabinet: 'God help the poor = (aio1'. e
expected 'tug of war' on the issue with the "Industrial

and Political Executives on Monday...the Party meeting
the 24th - Parliament on the 30th'. He was still in two

minds on the possibility of success and of even going on

with the issue: 'One thina of course would turn me from
compulsion - I mean a really great victory. 1 doubt if
this is in sight'. Concluding, Hughes urged Murdoch to

keep in close contact for he would be writing to 'Steed

and Dillon and of course Lord Northc]iffe'.1 Within three
days however, Hughes was informed by the Commandant of
A.I.F. Headgquarters in London that the War Office were
concerned at the insufficiency of reintorcements to

replace heavy Australian casualties. It was possible
therefore that the Third Division would have to be

broken up. fhe followkng week the Colonial Secretary
relayed a message from the.Army Council asking for a spocial
draft of twenty thousand infantry in addition to the normal
monthly reinforcements to bring the Third Division up to
strength. It was further recommended that for the following
-three months on top of this the monthly reinforcements rate
should be 'calculated ar 25 pér cent of establishment, that
1s, about 16,500 per-month for five divisions'. Although it
was recognized that this 'may greatly inconvenience your
Government in training and other arrangements' 1t was the

. . S . .
only means of retaining the Third Dlvision in the field.

1. Hughes *“o Murdoch, 15 August, 19%1v;  Murdoch Papers, N.L.A.,
ME 2823/33.



130

. o 1
The 1mplications were clear, Recruitting for June to Auqust
. 5
had been some six thou§nnd per month®, It was in these
Clrcumstances that Huaghes met the Labour leaders, Cabinet and

Parliament.

Lionel Curtis, in Australia at that time on 'Round
Tanle! affairsB had heen outlining to Hughes his scheme for
solving the problem of As{ntic migration into the Dominions,
which Hughes considered favourqbly. I't was the day after
Huqhes's"historic Strugale with the Trade Union delegates on
the question of compulsory service'. As Curtis noted, 'the
proceedings at this,meotinq are shrouded in mystery' but he
had every reason to belicve that Hughes told the 'Labour
leaders that Japan was pressing for the right of free entry
into Australia and that Australia's case would be seriously
prejudiced' unless at the Peace conference he could show that
to win the War the natior 'had shrunk from no Sacrifices'.4
The proceedings of the Sctoiet session of Parliament are also
cloaked in silence. However Senator Pearce and Hughes in
their announcement of «' .. session stated that 'the volunta- .
system’ had failed, for «:uly one third of the required
enlistments for June to August.iad been forthcoming. In

of the 'grave communications' from the war Council the

e

l. Governor-General to Prime Minister, 18 August, 1916; enclosing
cable from Commandant, A.I.F. Head-Quarters, London, 17 August;
Colonial Secretary to Governor-General for Prime Minister, enclosing
cable, 24 August, 1916; Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538, 'Conscription
Cables', ‘

2. Scott, Appendix No.3, Table showing enlistments for each month®
of the War, Australia in the War, p.871.

3. See Hughes to Curtis, Editor, Round Table, 25 November, '1916;
Shepherd Papers, C.A.O0., CRS Al632.

4. L. Curtis to Chelmsford, Vice Roy of India, 2 November, 1916,
National Archives of India: Comme:ce and Industry. Dept., 191s,
Emmigration no.7; Fitzhardinge, 'Hughes Annex'. N.L.A.
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’

Government intended to conduct a referendum on the question
of whether the country approved of ‘compulsory overseas
service to the extent necessary to Keep our Expeditionary
Forces at their full strength'.l Piesse reckoned that Hughes
again referred to the Asiatic menace in the post-War and

that 'to secure Imperial aid Australia must.in this

conflict not spare herself'.2 In cabling to Murdoch in
September for the support of the overseas press and Allied
leaders, Hughes assured him that he was 'quite sure Australia
will not fail Britain. I am quite sure she will do her
duty’.3 I believe this was the element uppermost in his
mind at this time rather than the 'Asiatic menace' referred
to in secret sessions, although that was always present in

his thinking in these matters.

Hughes enlisted an impressive array of Allied leaders
to support a policy that was for the war effort, the Empire,
and Australia. First and foremost Hughes hoped for an over-
whelming vote of support from the troops and enlisted the

support of the French to promote his campaign among the trobps.

¢

1. Pearce and Hughes announced the secret session for the following Qday,
C.P.D., vol. LXXIX, pp.8402-3, 30 August, 1916. The Opposition Leader,
Cook congratulated Mr. Hughes on his statement. We should note that
-Pearce held a secret session of Parliament on 9 May, 1916 while Hughes

was in England. See, Pearce, C.P.D., vol. LXXIX, p.7680, 9 May, 1916.
That day he had tabled in Parliament the British Parliamentary Paper on
- the occupation of the Pacific Islands by the Japanese and Austrdlian
forces. Parliament had not sat since November 1915 thus it was felt ‘
appropriate to table these documents. No record exists of the subject
matter of the secret session. However Pearce in announcing his plans

for the evening referred to the rejection of the call for .conscription

by the Federal Government in April even though the Federal parliamentary
War Committee had recommended that if insufficient recruits were

forth coming the voluntary principal should be reviewed. Pearce was not
satisfied with this result and informed members that Hughes on his return
would inform Parliament on the ful! military situation and other matters
which 'peculiarly affect' Australia. They were of 'such a nature that they
cannot be stated public%y’ - hence the secret session.

2,  Piesse, 'RBustralia and Japan', Foreign Affairs, p.482.

3. Hughes to Murdoch, cable, September; Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS
1538, Conscription Cables.
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Suggesting this line of action to a Captain Millet at Paris,
Hughes even proppsed the outline of the case to be put to the

troops:

That prance has borne the brunt of this furious struggle

for two year;‘ tide of battle now turned, but more men

are nec€Ssary to win the war. France cannot supply any

more men: she has been bled white; she appeals to gallant
Australian Comrades to rally to her side. To turn down

Referendum woyuid be to abandon France.l

. In October Arthur Henderson, Labour Adviser to the British
Government ahqg Secretary to the British Labour Movement
Supplied a SWitabie statement for the 'workers of Australia'.2
This was fplloweg by Aristide Briand the Prime Minister of
France, expressing warm appreciation for Australia's
"invaluable help',3 Then Joffre, Commander-in-Chief of the
French Forces provyided a Message for the Australian troops.4
Andrew Fisher was contacted along with George Reid, now the
Member of parliament for Hanover Square, to adg their names

to Barton, Watson, Cook, and Deakin, all former prime
ministers, who With Hughes's signature would demonstrate a
unanimous suybPbBort for conscription by all the prime ministers N
since the birth of the Commonwealth.s_ Murdoch next reported

that he was able to add messages from Lloyd George.

The soldiers:! VOteS,'so'assiduously cultivated, were

/'
1. Cable to captain Millet, Paris, 29 September, 1916; Hud§p+ Papers,
N.L.A., ConscriPtion Cables, Ms 1538.

2. Murdoch to Hughes, lQ/eéiober, incorporating Henderson's message; Ibid.
g =24
v

3. 18 October, 1916 Ipid.
4. 24 October, Ibid.

5. Hughes to pisher, High Commissioner at London, 4 October, 1916; TIbid.

6. 16 Octoher, 191¢, Ibid.

—
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something of a disappointment for it had been hoped that an
overwhelming vote from the soldiers would have provided a
boost for the Vote in Australia. As it was, it was considered
best, for 'military' reasons to withold publication of the
soldiers' vote and to merge all tbtals,so that their voting
could not be distinguished from the general fiqures‘l

Murdoch, reporting the "unhappy result' informed Bonar Law he
would provide him with the cause at a later date 'because it
has a strong bearing upon the question of polling the

British soldiers'.2 Bonar Law was relieved at the news'’ from
the Governor-General that in spite of the rejection of
compulsion‘by the nation, Australian divisions in the field
were likely to be kept up to strength.3 The King himself

was sorry and indeed surprised at Ehe strength of/the anti-
conscriptionist vote among the froops.4 Murdoch's view was
that the men cared little for political questions and that

the ballot box was used as their chance to 'kick against the
powers above them who héve put them where they are'.5 In his
view the soldiers needed a spell to make them 'fully the o014

force again. of course Australians ask no favours....’6

1. Murdoch to Lloyd George, 23 October, 1916, Lloyd George Papers,
House of Lords Record Office MS E42/2/12. 1n the event a separate
record was kept; affirmative, 72,399, negative, 58, 894; Scott,
Australia in the War, p.352.

2. Murdoch to Bonar Law, 25 October, 1916; Hughes Papers, N.L.A.

MS 1538, 'Conscription Cables and Correspondence' ; 'The voting in
the field was ‘three to one against compulsion'; Murdoch to Bonar raw,

20 November, 1916; Lloyd George Papers, House of Lords Record Office,
MS.E2/17/13. :

3. Bonar'lLaw to Governor-General, draft telegram, n.d., (e&rZy November) ;
Davidson Papers, House of Lords Record Office. N

4. Stamfordham to Davidson, 30 October, 1916; Ibid.

5. ‘Murdoch :o Lloyd George, 25th October, 1916; Lloyd George Papers,

House of Lords Record Office, MsS E4/2/12.
6. Murdoch to Bonar Law, 20 November, 1916 - Davidson Papers, House of

Lords Record Offjice.
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Hughes himself confided to Murdoch that he could 'hardly
forbear to rail against the Anzac vote which could and it

would have pulled us through’.l

The domestic vote was close. As Hughes put it:

Candidly I don't think any country situated 12,000

miles away from the seat of war and drenched

daily with a pubulum of reckless misrepresentations

and wicked lies: would have done better.?2

In this he proved correct. South Africa, that provided few
forces for the major theatres of the War, did not adopt
conscription. Both Great Britain and New Zealand implemented
compulsion through National Service Acts. Cahada was the
only other Domihion that put the question of conscription to
the vote, by means of a general election‘in December, 1917,
It was also fought in an atmosphere of high emotion which
strained national unity to the breaking point. The outcome
was é clear verdict in févour of conscription. It should also
be noted that Ireland was exempted from the 1916 Act and even
in the later 1917 Act conscription was not applicable to
Ireland. 3 Thus Hughes could write with justification:

It was unique. 1In all the world there has got been

anything like it (sic). For the first time in the history
of democracy-of modern democracy at all events, the people ’

1. Hughes to Murdoch, 4 November, 1916; Murdoch Papers, N.L.A.

2. Ibid., The figures were: vyes, 1,087,577: no, 1,160,033. For a dateqd
account of the Campaign see Scott, Australia in the War, chapter IX: g.
Sawer, Australian Federal Politics ang Law, 1901-29, (Melbourne 1956) ,
provides expert factual material. L.cC. Jauncey, The Story of Conscription
in Australia {London, 1935), emphasises € anti-conscriptionist case

in a rather biased way. The author gégrzhpacifist.

3. N. Mansergh, The Commonwealth Experience, (0.Uu.p., 1961), bPp.168-~9;
see also M. Beloff, Imperial Sunset : Britain's Liberal Empire, vol.T,
PP.191-4; for a critical assessment of the Canadian campaign which

' broke the nation asunder'. See R. Graham, Arthur Meighan: a Biography,
(London, 1960), vol.1, Chapter VI, 'Wartime Politics: Conscription'.
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were asked to say whether they would have Peace or

War or what manner they would wage war: Both these

issues were involved - they are indeed one because there

is only one way of waging war.l

In a vote so close one can hardly distinguish the
sectional vote that proved decisive one way or the other.
Munro Ferguson in his despatch to the Colonial Secretary days
after the vote listed the causes that he had identified. -
Firstly, there wAs the 'opposition of the Farmers' who feared

n of their labour force. Secondly there

fur.ner,deple
were the representations of the trade unionists who raised
the'bogey that cheap labour would be imported into the

country to replace conscripted men.2 The female vote, a
sentimental cry against sending a son, or husband or 'another
woman's son to his death' was yet another factor that weighed
against conscription, and finally, Munro Ferguson noted that
the returned soidier whose support for compulsion had been
expected,in fact appeared to héve voted against it on a
‘variety of grounds, the most likely being to prevent the A.I.F.
becoming a 'conscript force'.3 Bonar Law in reply considered
that when Hughes was in London_&he sowed the seeds of

suspicion by his association with a certain section of our
press here which has resulted in his reaping the whirlwind of
criticism in Austral;a'.4 Hughes himself, pouring out his

thoughts on paper to Murdoch and Curtis considered that the

.

s

1. Hughes to Murdoch, 4 November, 1916; Murdoch Papers, N.D.A., MS
2823/33.

2. The 'MalteSe incident' was important from an 'Imperial point of view',
noted Munro Ferguson. A batch landed in September, 1916 in Australia.
This was the source of the rumour. As a result no more were allowed to
enter the.country. Munro Ferguson to Prime Minister, 3 March, 1917;

Novar Papers, N.L.A.; see Scott, Australia in the War, pp.354-6.

3. Governor-General to Colonial Secretary, 3 November, 1916; C.o0O. 418/
146/62211; -~ee also his private letter of 29 October, Davidson Papers,
House of Lords Record Office. .

4. Bonar Law to Munro Férguson,(?) November, 1916, Ibid.
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'chief lie' or 'chain of lies' that harmed him was the
'"coloured labor"' bogey. But the hostility of the
Sydnicalists, farming interests and 'shirkers' all played a
part. He also felt that as g large section of the Irish were
»

hostile to Britain and the Fmpire they would have voteg
against conscription simply on that basis.l Early in the
campaign he had alerted Bonar Law and Lloyd George to the fact
that the Irish question was having a very disturbing
influence on the question of the conduct of the War whether
it was in ordinary recruiting or in the current conscription
campaign.2 Lloyd George regretted his inability to solve the
Irish issue at the time. He told Carson: '

At every stage the Irish question is a Stumbling block in

the conduct of the war. Tt ought to have been settled

last year. T feel that I was a coward then not to insist

upon a settlement then. It has done much harm in Australia.

Hughes begged me last yYear to settle it for the sake of

Australia, but I failed to do so. Twice since then he hag

Sent me messages saying that it is essential that the matter

should be settled.3
That the solution Gf the Irish question was ess as far
as the conduct of the War was concerned in Aust: was
recognized as far back as December 1915 when the censors
were instructed to delete any reference that 'questioned in
any way or reflected on the loyalty of our Irish fellow
subjects'. The press were informed that owing to 'German
Propaganda in America directed to stir up a seditious
Movement among the Irish section of tH? Community' it was

1. Hughes to Curtis; 25 November, 1916; Shepherd Papers, C.A.O.,
CRS nl1632. '

2. Governor-General to Colonial Secretary, 12 September, 1916; Hughes
Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538, 'Conscription Cables and Correspondence'.

3. Lloyd George to Carson, 25 April, 1917; A.J.p. Taylor, (ed.),
Lloyd George: A Diary by Frances Stevenson, (London, 1971), p.15s.
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important to p;?mote the 'essential unity of our people in
the common effdrt to carry the war to a successful
conclusion'.l 1t may well be that events of Easter in

Dublin decided the issue in October in Australia.

From an imperial point of view, was conscription in
1916 in Australia neceséary? As 1t turned out the Third
Division was not broken up2 and by mid-1918 the Australian
forces had been consolidated into the Australian Corps under
their own leader, Lieutenant-General Sir John Monash.3 A
distinguished Australian legal authority,Dr. H.V. Evatt, has
asserted that 'it is now established that Hughes was
mislead.' He has arqued that the critical cable from Army
Council on 24 August was ‘décisive. Hughes could hardly question
it even if he had thought of doing this. He had been in England
through their conscription crisis, had witnessed the stalemate
on the Western Front at first hand. Then theré was the ‘bloody
+failure of the Somme where ‘'or the nighf of July 19 alone the
Australian [fifth] Division had between 5000 and 6000
casualities'.4 These were unparallelled losses and

unguestionably, if, as Pearce informed Fisher, Australian

‘

1. Memorandum, 11 December, 1915; Pearce Papers, Australian War
Memorial Library, MS 3/3.

2. See Scott, Appendix 3, Scott, Australia .in the War, p. 871-3.

3. The Cambridge History of the British Empire, (C.U.P., 1933), vol.
VII, Pt, I, H.S. Gullet, 'Australia in the War - Military', p.560.

He had been an official War Correspondent on Hughes's public relations
staff at Paris Peace Conference.

4. Ibid., p.555 and H.V. Evatt, Australian Labour- Leader, (Sydney,
1940) . ’
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Forces were to be held together and so that the Australian
contribution to the War would not diminish, compulsion
appeared necessary.l Hughes's immediate response to the
Afmy Council's request shows that he accepted the figures in

good faith.

A couple of months after the campaign with Hughes still
Prime Minister, but leading a National Labour Party, the
Governor-General expressed his pique with whoever was
complaining to the British authorities that camp conditions
in Britain were below par for Australian troops stationed
there. This was too much for Munro Ferguson:

Were an average struck of the numbers of Australian Troops

in contact with the enemy for all the days of the War, it
would probably be found to. equal less than 20,000 men.

For England, Wales and Scotland the figure on a like basis

must be well over half a million.?

By March l9l7_Hughes, as a further aftermath of the
conscription crisis, headed a National War Government which
was a fusion of the National Labour Party and the Liberal
Party.3 M@hro Ferguson complained in March that the
'insistent’request for reinforcements was not being brought
home to the public' as it should by the Defence Department
though he acknowledged- that Hughes was keeping up the

¢

l. Pearce to Fisher, 21 November, 1916; Fisher Papers, N.L.A., M5 2919.

2. unro Ferquson to Hughes,_l7 Necember, 1916; Novar Papers, MS
696/2562.

3. In November 1916 the Labour Party split on the issue of conscription
although it was evident there were other basic differences. It has been
contended that 'Labour blew its brains out'. Hughes and the rump of the
Party which followed him formed the short-lived National Labor Party
which aimed at continuing a vigorous prosecution of the War to a decisive
victory. See Scott, Australia in the War, chapter X, 'Political
Metamorphoses'.
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preSSure.1 In April, Sir William Trvine, who, (as we have
secn) was the man with the reputation for being the most
influential personage in the Liberal Party, a Japanophobe, an
ardent supporter «i the 'White Australia' policy, a confidant
of the Governor-General and a thorough-going conscriptionist
challenged Hughes that unless he continued to prosecute the
conscription campaign he would not be able to see his way
clear to allow his name to bpe put forward as a Nationalist
candidate at the forthcoming elections.ﬁ Trvine though,
assured Hughes that he acknowledged him as EPe 'war' leader
of Australia' but to accept the adverse vote of October 1916
as final would be 'to submit to a complete abandonment of the
only possible course' which would enable Australia to 'rise
to her duty’.2 Some months after the defeat of the second
conscription referendum in December 1917, Munro Ferquson-
found other argquments for the implementation of compulsion in

the Australian situation:

Although Japan is nc ikely to be more occupied and
committed more deeply to the cause of the Allies yet T
. still feel concerned (as already expressed to. the

Defence Minister and yourself) at the present state of
our Home Defence...On a continent of three million square
miles we find ourselves ”ecogomizinq“ on the Citizen Force
which is now our sole remaining shield.3

Meanwhile 'in Britain the climate of opinion that Hughes

had observed and indeed had helped to shape during his visit

1. Munro Ferguson to Hughes, 24 March, 1917; Novar Papers, N.L.A., MS
696/2620.

2. Irvine, Drouin, Victoria, to Hughes, 28 April, 1917; Hughes Papers,
N.L.A., MS 1538. In the event Irvine was clected, refused a position in
‘the Ministry but in April 1918 bowed out of Federal politics taking up
the position of Chief Justice of Victoria; see Scott, Australia in the
War, p.396. 1In the May 1917 elections Hughes scored a resounding victory,
confirming his position as War leader of Australia. The electorate that
had rejected compulsion now endorsed overseas military commitment.

3. Governor-General to Hughes, 15 March, 1918; Novar Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 696/2702.
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in the Spring and Summer of 1916 had welled up into a
situation that resulted in the replacement of Asquith by

Lloyd George carly in December 1916.1‘ The new Foreign

Secretary was Arthur Balfour and the¢ new Colonial Secretary

was Walter Long.? Lloyd George's accession to power was a
victory for those who believed in a more decisive war effort

and no truck with a negotaated peace. Lloyd George lost no

time in setting up the intimate War Cabinet that Hughes and
others had advised. It included Lord Milner at the outset

and later in 1917 Carson, the two leading politicians of the
Conservative 'Ginger Group' with which Hughes had been associated
on his visit to England.3 The War Cabinet excluded all Ministers
with portfolios except the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Bonar
Law. Even Balfour, the new Foreign Secretary, was excluded.
Indeed, foreign affairs in general were taken out of the hands

of the Foreign Office once Lloyd Georgefs Garden Suburb was set
up. In this new personal seCretairiat were Curtis, and Kerr,
both members of the 'Round Table', and both were in the Circle

of Hughes's contacts in Englard.

Hughes too, had become disenchanted with the Colonial
Office and so would have app;oved of more dﬁ?eg§‘&hannels of
communication with those ir-the seat of power. - but the
exclusion of the Colonial Office from the War Cabinet,

1. 'S¢ Car ron Hazlehurst's forthcoming study, The Triumph of Lloyd George.
David Lloyd George, 1863-1945. Liberal MP, 1890-193]. Chancellor of the
Excheguer, 1908-15. Minister of Munitions, May 1915-July 1916. Secretary
of State for war, July~December 1916. Prime Minister, December 1916~
October 1922. Independent Liberal MP, 1931-45. Created Earl Lloyd~George

of Dwyfor, 1945,
2. Walter Long, (1854~1924); Conservative MP, President of Local

Government Board, 1915-16; Secretary of State f - Colonies, 1916-18;
First Lord of Admiralty, 1919-21; Viscount Long of wWraxall, 192]1.

3. See A.M. Gollin, Proconsul in Politics, (London, 1964), 'The Monday
Night Cabal', pp.323-364; also Beloff, Britain's Liberal Empire, pp.212-8
and L.S. Amery, My Political Life, vol.II, War and Peace 1914-1929, (London,

1953), pp.80-81.

4. This innovation signals the décline of the Foreign Office in the -

Lloyd George era. See F. Gilbert, The Diplomats, (Princeton, 1953),
chapter 1, 'The British Foreign Office from Grey to Chamberlain, pp.15-35.




foreshadowed, so Walter Long argued,. "a degradat 1on not K

o . >
merely for the Minister but for the Coloing! . Long pléaded

that a note of explanation should be ser, wat, re-affirming
the fact that the new War Cabinet would not in any way
prejudice Dominion interests. On Long's suggestion, a

regular report was instituted 1n which confidential news on

important matters was relayed to the Dominions. After some
months of such communications Hughes was heartily

unimpressed:

The Colonial Office...War News purports to contain all the

dark and bloody mysteries known to the War Cabinet.. They'

make this precious document secret o, . Nearly everythinq«pas

appeared in the press days before. "The blasted Colonies

want to know, you know". We'll show'em!<
Nevertheless Leo Amery, a former associate of Hughes
-expected that the changes would be beneficial. He wrote
almost immediately, plainly jubilant, that at last 'we have
swept away altogether the old system of twenty-three men
assembling without any purpose and without any idea of what
they were going to talk about'.3 Munro Ferguson thoujh, as
one might surmise from his old fashioned views on the channels
of the commun:cation question, was dubious:

I take it that the ”appreciatloq“ written on papers printed

for the War Cabinet by the new "xindergartens" are to be
taken as "premier ori" of the new Piplomacy. Amery's are

1. Long to Lloyd George, 7, 12 December, 1916; Lloyd George FPapers,
House of Lords Record Office, F/327°471-3.

2 Hughes to Murdoch 3 September, 1916; Murdoch Papers, N.L.A., MS
2823/33.

3. Amervy to Hughes, 8 January, 1017; Amery Papers, cited in Gollin,
Ironconsul in Politics, p.393. See 5. Roskill, Hankev: man of secrets,
vol.1l, (London, 1970), where Hankey accuses Amery of being the 'soul
of all the horrible intriques against the Government.' Diar-, 5 Mavy,

131e6.
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dqood cnough, but when 1t comes to, L, jenx d'vurrif 1n

Herlous State document . 1 begin to prefer "the ould

way T oas the Irish lady bverved when the making ot
babiles by “clentific Process was suggest ed ., o
Vo THE 1917 IMPERIAL WAR CONFERENCE;  THE ' SECRET TREATY OF
l?J7';ANDﬁgwthNEEBIALHHﬁB,gﬁBINHT'

(a)  The 1917 Imperial War Conterence

In December 1916 1, oyd George had announced in the
commons  that the time had come Lo consult the Dominions on
the progress and course of the War, the steps to be taken

. . 2
Lo secure victory, and War aims. Thus there was at last to
. ~

a tulfilment of the pledges given early in\thc W o that the

Dominions would be consulted. Lloyd Georage in the war

‘Cabinet noted that there was o fear that they might be asked

to make a sacrifice of their conquests 1n order to make it
casier for Britain to tulfil 1ts pledges to Belgium or
France.3 It was a shrewd asscssment for already  there had
been persistent rumours of an Austrian peace move. A fow
days after Lloyd George had assumed the position of Prime
Minister the German Government i1ssued its famous Peacce Noto.
Later that month President Woodrow Wilson of the United
States produced his own Peace Note addressed to the Allied
Governments. These moves initiated a response by the Allies

rd

in January 1917 which was the first public pronouncement on

1.  Munro Ferguson to Long, <5 october, 191¢; Movar Papres, N.L.A.,
MS 690 ,/973-5,

~. Lloyd George, Commons, 19 December, 1916; cited in his war Memolirs,
vol. 11, ‘Popular BEdition), ».1,025:; Mansergh, The Commonwealth
Experience, 1.170 asserts the move was taken on the advice of Milner.

3. 20 December, 1916; CAB. 23,1715,

be
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the '"terms of settlement they meant to onfofco'.l There was
though, no specific mention of the "Colonial Question'. The
reaction to this secason of peace notes was the construction
of territorial and economic desiderata on the part of the
various military, economic, and political departments involved.
It was an opportune time to convene a conference to discuss
War issues and aims. It was rather traglic or at least
deplorable that the political situation in Australia was so
unstable that Hughes found he <~ould not attend. It is even
more surprising to realise that Australia was unrepresented
at this historic conference. - Provideriially it proved a

temporary reverse.

This was not to be the usual Imperial conference. If
it were, then Hughes had made It clear in his cable secking
clarification, he was not interested in view of the domestic
political cris,is.2 Lloyd George explained that the gathe¥ing
was to be in the first instance a special War Conference of
the Empire. The Prime Ministers were to be invited to a
series of special and continuous meetings of the War Cabinet
to discuss the vital issues of the War and the question of
the peace. Dominion leaders would be aoysldered members of
the War Cabinet and it was expected that if the prime (
minister could not attend, a Dominion would be represented
by his substitute for it would be regarded as a 'serious

misfortune if any Dominion were left unrepresented'.3 Thus

1. See Lloyd George, War Memqlrs, vol.II, (Popular Edition), chapter
XXXIX, 'The German and Wilson Peace Notes of December 1916'; see also

cables enclosing these’ messages from the Colonial Secretary to the
Dominions; C.A.0., CRS Al108, vol.l.

2. Afgus, 29 January, 1917, where Hughes states he re »d from

discussing the Conference until it was clear 'as to the precise matters
with which the conference would have to decal; Hughes to Murdoch, typed
copy of cuat'ns, undated; Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538, 'Conscription

Cables and C@rrospondence’

3. ; comber, 1916;  CAB 23/1/15.
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at last, as Anmery, noted, there was to be 'consultation
between the Governments, direct and on all Imperial topics'
wlthout the double filter of the Foreign and Colonial
Otfices; the Colenial office 'kicked " ard! against it but
had te be content with the responsibility of managing thoe

. ‘ . . 1
plenary sessions of the less 1mportant Conference.

In view of the desperate political\situation in
Australia Munro Ferguson threw his welght against Hﬁqhes
going. For a start he had returned just months ago from
England. If he was 'indispensible at Home', he was 'no less
indispensible here'.z‘ Hughes in reply the same day pointed
out that he did not want to go in view of the circumstances
and 'without being egotistical' he thought he was
ihdispensible.3 Writing to Murdoch in mid - January Hughes
was' still dubious about the nature of the Conference, for his
request, to place Ireland on the agenda, as an Imperial matter,
was turned down4. This was quickly rectified as Murdoch's own
cable which reached Hughes the following day detailed the
precise nature of the agenda: the War including strategy;
possible terms of peace 1in view overtures by the Central
Powers; Ireland; the German Colonies. The latter question
required a decision at once as Britain wanted to be able to
state its position at the forthcoming Allied Conference and

also 1t was expected the issue would figure in the diplomatic

R _ 8.

1. L.s. Amery to Richard Jebb, MP; 27 December, 1916; Richard Jebb
Papers, University of London Institute of Commonwealth Studies: see
Amery, My Political Life, vol. II, p.tl; Hankey, Supreme Command, vol.II,
£.660 and H. Duncan Hall, The Commonwealth, chapter VI, 'The First
Imperial Cabinet', pp.147-54.

2 Governor-General to Huglies, 26 December, 191o; Hughes Ppapers,
N.L.A., MS 950, )

3. Hughes ‘o Munro Ferausor, 26 Decenber, 1316; Novar Papers, NOL.AL,
MS ©96,/2575.

4. aughes to Murdoch, 19 January , 1917; Murdoch Papers, N.L.A., MS
2823/33. ’ ‘



offensive with regard to the terms of peace. Tt wasg
considered that Fisher Or a Minister could at a pinch state
the Australian case. Murdoch intimated that opinion was that
the Conference would be 'little more than a cleverly
controlled parade if You (were! unable to attend' with Smuts

being 'lionized and the others woak'.l

.Right to the last Hughes had hoped for an Australian
representation at the Imperial war Conforeﬁce which had been
’Held back till March,. Federal Parliament was due to expire
some time in 917, Hughes held a comfortable majority in the
Representatives but could not count on a majority in the
Senate which proved obstructive immediately Parliament resumed
in mid-February. Hughes's hopes therefore of'extending the

life of the Parliament till October 1918 which would have

fighting for political survival. S There was no pgint in
expressing regrets, Hughes told the Representatlces "that
‘Australia was not consulted in these great ‘matters before the
war broke out and since it has raged if, now that the
OPportunity presented itself for Australla to be represented

at this historic Conference to exXpress an opinion on peace

1. Murdoch to Hughes, cable, 19 January, 1916; Hughes Papers, N.L.A.
MS 1538; compare with the cable from Secretary of State for Colonies,

26 January, 1917, c.a.0., CRrs 981 item 103

2. See Scott, Australia in the War, pp.2 3.0

3. Irvine had been named as g delegate ; ' vQL. LXXXI, p. 10554,

22 February, 1917. This would have becn una: 1, é% he was not a member
of the Ministry. Sir John Forrest, the Treasurer, was the other
delegate listed; Munro Ferguson to Colonial Secretary, 22 March, 1917;

C.0. 418/.:27/23341.
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and war', it was not accepted with the gratitude and zeal

that such an invitation deserved.1

If no politician was able to attend, there was Andrew
Fisher ready at hand as Australia's High Commissioner.
By this time Hughes had lost all confidence in Fisher's
abilities and capacities. Judging‘from the assessment of
Murdoch, Hughes's 'man' in Fleet Street, the vigorous
representation that Hughes would expect could not have been
provided by the ex prime minister whose lack lustre performance
as a high commissioner did not inspire confidence in his
potential as Australia's 'ambassador' at the Imperial war
Cabinet and Conference. Nor was Munro Ferguson impresseé
by Fisher, for at times he had to explain to the Colonial
Secretary that though Fisher could not match the brilliance
of Hughes his sterling qualities warranted respect. The
former Colonial Secretary Harcourt was disappointed that
Cook, now the'Libefal Leader 1in the House of Representatives
in the new War Government, -had announced 'that neither Sir
George Reid nor Mr. Fisher could adequately ' represent
Australia' at the Conference. 1In these circumstances,
Harcourt commented to Munro Ferguson that it would seem that
the Pacific‘question could not be discussed until the
'Gc rernment here is in a position to know what the final
terms will be'.? A disappointed Walter Long informéd Balfour

that 'the Australian delegates will not come after a11'.3

1. Hughes, C.P.D., vol.LXXXI, p.10632, 23 February, 1917.

2. 'Loulou' to Ronald [Munro Ferguson], 14 March, 1917; Harcourt
Papers, Bodleian Library, MS Harcourt dep 479, f.357.

3. Long to Balfour, 5 March, 1917; Balfour Papers, F.O. 800/209,/121.
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(b) 'The Secret Treaty of 1917' and the Imperial War

Cabinet.

At much the same time as Harcourt had penned these
remarks the Pacific question was in the process of being
well and truly decided. Unbeknown to Harcourt the Admiralty's
request in 1916 for more naval assistance from Japan had
been 'bought' at the price of Britain's pledge to support
Japan's claim to the permanent occupation of the Islands in
tﬁe north Pacific. The Japanese had noted that 'the Allies
had assented to the eventual occupation of Constantinople
by Ruésia and a special arrangement had been signed 1in
connection “Bph the entry of Italy into the war'. There
thus did not seem to be anything unusual in the Japanese
claim.l The Foreign Office memorandum on Greene's
despatch was fatalistic but brutally ;ealistic in its assess-

ment:

Tt has always been certain that the Japanese would claim the
islands north of the Equator and Germany's rights in Shantung

. and if we are going to give them to her eventually we may as
well do so now and get s»me quid pro quo. ’

Hardinge and Balfour concurred with these sentiments.

The urgent need for more naval assistance from Japan
was the underlying reason for the request for assistahce
by the British Admiralty. Yet the British Navy was wary
of Japan's post-War aspirations in the Pacific: 'There
had never been any warmth of feeling in the Navy for the Japanese

as Allies, '3 Marder observes. The King had noted in 1916

1. Green to Balfour, 27 January, 1917; F.0. 371/2950/22099.

2. J.D. Gregory, memorandum, 29 January, 1917; minutes by Hardinge

and Balfour appended; F.O. 371/2950/22137.
‘ "

3. See Mardeyr, From Dreadnought to Scapa Flow, vol.III, p.203.
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a strong anti-Japanese feeling in Britain and deploréd‘it

and 'the high handed treatment of our Allies' as evidehced by
searching their ships when neither French nor Russian vessels
would be searched in the quest for disquised German raiders.1
The Australian Naval Board was distressed at the false
impression created by such a respected and eminent academic
as Professor Berriedale Keith, lafely of the Colonial Office,

in his recently published book on Imperial Unity and the

Dominions:

The much drecaded Japanese undertook much of the .important

work of the ::«tection of the Pacific against the German
Squadron... .. t rmay be hoped that the co~operation in this
naval action may Serve in some degree to mitigate the
unreasoning attitude of Australia towards the Empire of
Japan. N

The Naval Board informed the Prime Minister that while not
wishing to deprecate the value of Japan's naval services such
articles ‘'may easily prejudice British readers against
Australia and destroy the credit of the Australian Navy'.?
The Admiralty wanted two Japanese‘light cruisers for the Cape
and a flotilla of destroyers sent to the Mediterranean to
operaté against raiders, submarines, and to escort cConvoys.
These Japanese vessels were currently e :ged in routine
tasks in'Pacific waters ané were therefure considered dquite

under—employed.3

The Foreign Office in its review of the situation

Created by the Japanese request was guided by the Report of

1. Stamfordham to Sir Arthur Nicelson, 18 March, 1916; Nicolson Papers,
F.0. 800/38/205, Hardinge took over the Foreign Office late in June
1916; see Hardinge, 01d Diplomacy, p.200.

2. Naval Secretary, for the Naval Board to the Prime Minister, 22
November, 1916; C.A.0., CRS A981, item Japan 53, 'Japan: Services in
the war , Naval and Military', This Memorandum cited Keith's book.

3. Admiralty to the Foreign Office, 18vDecember, 1916; P.o. 371/
690/256472. Greene suggested paying the fuel expenses involved!
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Sir Louis Mallet's committee on territorial desiderata which
had been inspired rather by the German Peace Notes. It was
recommended that 'the}Japanese’should not be disturb~d in the
possession of those islands which they have occupied'.l The
Colonial OQffice memorandum, attached, considered there was no
point in pursding a commercial agreement at this time as
nothing had come of the discussions of June 1916 between
Hughes and the Japanese Ambassador, but the reluctance of the
Australians was understéndable in view of the policy the’
Japanese appeared to be puréuing in the Pacific and specific
mention was made to the obstacles placed in the way of Burns
Philp in the Marshall Islands.? Hardinge concurred with these
findings so the Colonial Secretagy was requested to sound out
the Australasians. The War Cabinet instructed Long to send a
cable along the:lines that already have been indicated.
Stress was tos be laid on the fact that the suddenness and
necessity for a speedy response by cable on such a‘matter

was unfortunate but was forced on them by the urgency of the
Admiralty's needs no less than the insistence by the Japanese
for pledges with respect to the Islands.3 Drummond and
Balfour thought that the value of‘Japanese assistance in the
War could have been worded more strongly in Long's cable and

regretted that it was not possible to alter it.?% The same

1. There had been protracted negotiations throughout 1916 for this
assistance; see the minutes on 'Japanese Naval Assistance', 19
December, 1916 Ibid. :

2. Mallet, 'Interim Report of the Sub~-Committee on Territorial Changes',
25 January, 1917; CAR 24/3/118; includes Colonial Office memorandum,

16 October, 1916.

3. CAB 23/1/51, deliberations of 1 February, 1917; Appendix I,
Paraphrase Telegram, Secretary of State for Colonies to Governor-
General of Commonwealth, 1 February, 1917; also in C.A.O. AA63/48, item
J2/3/2. :

4. E. Drummond, Foreign Office, to Balfour, 2 Februar?, 1917;
Drummond Papers, F.O., 800/384/57.
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day Ambassador Chinda in London informed Balfour that Japan
would agree to make available the necessary naval
assistance;l this assurance was given before Britain's
response was known but there can be little doubt the Japanese
were confident Britain would not refuse. 2 Ambassador Chinda
also presented memoranda on Shantung and the German South
Pacific Islands outlining the Japanese case from 1914. Thus
the latter memorandum stated that as early as November 1914
Prime Minister Kato had indicated Japan expected to retain
the Islands and in 1916 on two occasions Hughes by implication
had 'acquiesced' and stated that the course suggested...was
quite fair and equitable and he had himself no objectlon

thereto" .3

The Colonial Secretary did follow up Balfour's suggestion
that a more strongly worded appreciation of Japan's services
in the War should be placed before the Australians. Long
took the opportunity also of pointing out that an
unfavourable reply could habe an 'unfortunate effect on the
general course of the war'.4 The pressure on Hughes to accede
had been intensified. 1In this first week of February he was
.still immersed in the problem of’ formulating his new War
Government when he was confronted with the Colonial Secretary's
cables. Within two days he had framed his response which

was relayed by the Governor-General *

1. . Greene to Balfour, 2 February, 1917; F.O. 371/2950/27203.

2, See Nish, Alliance in Decline, chapter XI, “The Anglo-Japanese
Secret Agreement 1917', pp.196-211.

3. Chinda, memorandum, 2 February, 1917; F.O. 371/2950/26707.

4. Secretary of State for Colonies to Governor- -General, enclosing message
for the Prime Minister, 5 February, 1917, Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 950/
3/40; C.A.O., CRS 981 item Marshall and Caroline Islands 2. E
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--.As explained by Prime Minister when in London attitude
of Australia is broadly speaking that Australia would not
object to Japan's occupancy of islands in Pacific north
of equator except one or two small ones on or near the
border line of which Ocean Island and Nauru are typical.
Commonwealth Government will carefully abstain from
saying or doing anything likely to strain or make
difficult the relations between Hig Majesty's Government
and Japan either in regard to trade or any other matter.

In the event of the Prime Minister attending the Wwar

Conference he will lay before you the views of the

Commonwealth Government on this matter at lenqth.l
The Foreign Office did not accept this as a suitable reply to
thelr request; commenting that the Australian Government did
not seem to understand the ‘urgency of a decision', Long sent
a further message. This one could hardly be misunderstood:

If his Majesty's Government find it impossible to defer

question till conference, may I take it that your

Government agree to His Majesty's Government giving some

such pledge as 1is referred to in my telegram of 1st

February?
The laconic reply came back: "No objection giving some such
pledge to Japan'.3 This surely was grudging acquiescence,
more or less under duress: none the less it was given and
Lloyd George in November 1918 held Hughbs to it. He held
that Britain's pledge to the Japanese was inviolable.
Hughes from this point turned to the United States, in his
attempts to find a solution to the Pacific Question. Somehow
he felt, in Co-operation with the United States the problem

of these iélands could be solved even though the Japanese

1. Governor-General to Secretary of State for Colonies, 7 February,
1917; F.o., 371/2950/30905. )

2. long to Governor-General, 8 February, 1917; Ibid., with minute by
J.D. Gregory, same date. -

t

3. Governor-General to Colonial Secretary, cable 9 February, 1917;
C.A.0O., AR6.,48, item J2/3/2.
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currently were in occupation. Perhaps. the card to play was
United States's opposition to Japanese expansion into the
south Pacific. This was to come later but does appear to

have been in Hughes's mind by 1918.

Publicly, Walter Long announced that the German Colonies
would never be returned to Germany.1 This was a wonderful

reassurance to Pacific Dominions that were visibly nervous on

the issue. Canadians and New Zealanders had recently
expressed concern-over the fate of the TIslands. Long rOported
to. the ,“'Vﬂ'nﬁmet that the Canadians feared German wireless

wvmr Robert Borden 'expressed even more strongly

-thahfph Je# reprd&entatlves opposition to 'any
arrangeméﬁ%J&hat would involve Japanese aggrandisement ' . °
There were also surprisingly forthright public statements by
New Zea.and statesmen which Munro Ferguson found alarming,
Mr. Massey, the Prime Mini._cr, he informed Long, had
announced the intention of retaining German Samoa and

a%sertlng the conviction that Australia was like-minded with
regard to her occupation of the Islands'. At this juncture,
the Governor-General considered such statements must serve
to 'stimulate Japan's activities in the Pacific'.3 Bertie
at Paris informed Balfour that the French recognized that
there could be 'no question of retroceding to Germany what

had been conquered: by the Dominions.4

1. Reported in the Argus, 3 February, 1917.

2. Walter Long, 2 vdanuary, 1917, CAB 23/5/311:; and again, 16 October
1917; cCAB 23/1/250. ’

3. Governor-General to Secretary of State for Colonies, 2 Februarvy,
1917; Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 950/3/40.

4. Bertie to Balfour, 28 February, 1917; Balfour Papers, F.0. 800/
201/380-1.
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f
There was then a unanimous chorus on the pdrt of the
Dominions and an Anglo-French accord on the colonial
question at this time on this point. German peace feelers

regardless, the Allies would not- budge.

The War Cabinet had considered the reaction bf the
United States during the discussions on the Japanese request
for it was known that they would not favour any territorial
expansion by Japan into the Pacific. Ambassador Sprina-
Rice's correspondence with Balfour was full of the
reservations held by Americans on this subject.l lThus the
War Cabinet decided that in view of the imminent entry of the
United States into the War it was propitious to conclude
negotiations so as to avoid the complications that would
necessarily arise by the involvement of another Power in
the mattcr.2 The decision to grant a pledge to the Japanecse
was all but unanimous, Curzon only dissenting on the grounds,
it would seem, that the Japanese were ge!  ng off lightly..
Apart from expecting the Japanese to sup: . Britain's case
on the South'Pacific Islands at the Peace Conference, Curzon

held that Japan. should support 'our general policy elsewhere',

a point which the Cabinet had discounted as being

unreasonable.3

This 'secret treaty' of February 1917 was the last to
be concluded during the course of the War. On 7 April
President Wilson signed the proclamation that formally
declared that a state of war had been 'thrust upon the United

1. Correspondence of Sir Cecil Spring-Rice to Balfour, 29 December,
1916; 11 January 10, 23 February and 9 March, 1917; TRalfour Papers,
B.M. Add MS 49740, £f.35-105.

2. 5 February, 1917 CAB 23/1/54.

3. 14 Feb.mary, 1917; CAB 23/1/65;  sce also Curzon's foot-note of
10 Nevwmber, 1920, in D.B.F.i., T, (xiv), no.167. My emphasis.
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States'. Months earlier Wilson had called on the
belligerents to declare their terms of pecace , in his famous
'peace note'. He followed up this unsuccessful appeal in
January 1917 with his more famous (or infamous) call for
'peace without victory'. He proposed government by the:

consent of the governed, freedom of the seas, and moderation

in armaments. VYet in the same speech he could invoke the
Monroe Doctrine as 'the doctrine of the world', presumably
meaning in thi . context the right of the small nations to

exist free from the interference of the Great Powers. There
was thus the implied denunciation of ‘annexations and 'secret
treaties', and 'secret covenants' covertly negotiated whose
condemnation was enshrined in his historic 'Fourteen Points'

of January 1918.l

Consequent upon the entry of the United States into the,
War, Arthur Balfour as Foreign SeCretary, met with Wilson,
Colonel House, his confidant and alter €go, and the Secretary
of State for Foreign Affairs, Robert Lansing. As Balfour |
wrote after the War in a justification of his ac¢tion, he
showed President Wilson, confidentially, the terms of the
agreement with the Japanese and the other secret agreements
and 'talked with him quite frankly about any and every

question which I supposed our two countries were interested’.2

Lloyd George refers to Balfour's mission in his War Memoirs
and has pointed out that Colonel House freely acknowledged

that Wilson was informed by Balfour of the arrangements. Yet

1. See Arthur Walworth, Woodrow Wilson, (Baltimore 1965), for Wilson's
22 January, 1917 address; PpP.79-80; see Lloyd George, War Memoirs,
vol. I, chapter LIV, 'America Enters the War'.

2. Balfour, Whittinghame, holograph memorandum for Curzon, 14 October,
1019; B.M. Add Ms 49740, ff. 186-92.
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Wilson in his evidence before the For&;qn Relations Committoee
of the Senate 1n Auqust 1919 denied knowledge of the
arrangements in 1917 for '"the whole series of understandinags
were disclosad to me for thftfirst time when T arrived in
Paris for the Peace Conferoﬁce."' Lloyd George made
allowance for this 'palpable misrepresentation' of the tacts,
for Wilson was on the verage of his tragic breakdown.
Lansing at the same hearings on the other hand, while
affirming that BRalfour, Ishii, and Lord Reading, all kept
silent on the arranqcment'statvd that 'he did kﬁbw three yearg
ago that Britain and Japan aqgreed to divide the Pacific
Islands taken from Germany'.2 This also was the source of
the evidence for the Australian criticisms of Hughes's
involvement in the affair. A« a post-script to these
comments on Wilson, it id Surprlsinq‘to note that Mhnro
Ferguson in January 1917 was furnished with an intimate
description of Wilson by his great opponent, Theodore
Roosevelt who considered that:

Our pacifists‘have consistently played the game of the

German militarist. Wilson's peace note was part of this

game. He 1s a very clever, Jquite consclousless, and

thoroughly obnoxious, demagogue, whose hysical timidity

is offset by his unscrupulous adr~itness. He is
immensely admired by the British pacifists....

The British General Staff even as late as September

>
v

1916 argued that it would be pointless, if the situation

1. Lloyd George, citing President W:ilson's evidence on 19 August, 191Y;
War Memoirs, vol.T, (Popular rkdition), P 990-1000; see also, Blanche
Dugdale, Balfour's niece, in Arthur Balfour, (Lohdon, 1936), vol.1T7,
pp.209-10. .

2. A Reuter's report, Washingtoen,, 11 August, JSIK> clited ir the

(Melbourne) Herald, 12 August, 1919, Sece Lansing, War Memoirs of Robert
Lansing, (London, 1935) wiich confirms these assoertions and revelar ‘ns.

s
' A 1
N - 1 . I ) - -~ .
3. Theodore Roodevelt - Mnap %;rqnson, 17 Januarv, 1917; ‘lovar
Papers, MS 63:/4974-7. N
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arose, to expend Lives necedlessly Y1or the sake of some
Atrican territory'; thus o German request ' for the
restaration of a4 portion o! her colonies' should not be met
by 'a direct non_ possimus’', General Sir William Robertson,
the Chief of th; General Staff roecognized though, that the
Dominions and Japan cere unlikely to relinguish their hold
on the islands which they had om‘upiud.'] The Foreign Office
refuted such arguments pointing out that the 'bSargain'
envisaged by the Military would tend fo undormigy Britoa, .-
world empire: "We cannot allow any nation to share our
supremacy at soa: our qooqrnbhicnl position alone obiiges
us to claim this monopoly’ .2 The comprehensive Inter-
Departmental Committee's Roporr; chaired also by Mallet

confirmed this position.

The Colonial Office in preparing its own reg s tor the
- .

Imperial War o.nference breathed a siah relief, at the

conclusion of the }\-nqlo—J nese Agreement for it had been
faced with the task « A 'ing a full despatch oxplain.i ng
the situation to the Sastial ans. 4 The Tmperial war Cabinet
thus had before it wh: RS t in March and April 1‘)175 the
Report of the Mallet .C. ceo and the ttms of the Anglo-

t . .
Japanese Agreement. These were discussed on 17 April and

both were warmly approved. 't was noted that th# Australian

1. Roboer son, Memorandum, 1 August, 1916, CAR ;‘.("lp/}; memorandum,
qeneral staff, 9 September, 191e, CAR lo/36: A

J. 0 Sir btouls Mallet, chairman, memorandum, 'Views of the Forei gn Oifice
Representatives on the Question of the Retention of the German Colonies',
21 January; 1917: CAR 16,736, )

> \“.
3. Mallet, 'Interim Rgport of the Sub-Jommittee on Territorial Changes',
b d Y
25 Janugry, 1917, CAB 4737118, Colonital Office memoranda, various dates.

4. Lambert’, minute, 15 February, L1700 837 vg7, -

5. Last session of the War cabinet was 2 Moo, 1917,

N



and New Zealand Government s had assontod to the Agreement
with Japan. Massey of New Zcaland ventured to suggest that
Japan hadl'”playcd the game" generally speaking' but
Australia and New Zealana wished to be re-~assured concerning
the islands south of the Fquator both from a defence view-
point and in view of their 'considerable economic
,meortance'.l Balfour already had addressed the Db>minicn
leaders on the role of Japan in o ae r in his wide ranging
and discursive speech on War aim: '
.thverc 1S il‘l every quarter of the Fastern world a

,certain upeasiness as to wm'thox Tapan is in the

futtire going to try to play, the part in those regions

which Prussia has played 1n Europe; whether she is not
AT going tf aim at some kind of domination...
Ralfour supported Lord Grey's view that if the Japanese were
excluded from North America, Canada, Australia, New Zealand
and the south Pacific Tslands then 'you do not forbid her to
expand into China'. Even though the Germans had planned to
detach Japan from the Allies, he believed Japan would, during
the War, remain 1. val and he was not one to under-rate her
services to the Allies.2 As one of *he originators of the
Anglo-Japanese Alliance of 1902 Balfour retain®d not only d
sentiméntal attachment to it but a firm belief that for this
War the Japanése card was vital. Lloyd Glorge in his
statem- n War Aims also touched a sensitive spot pointing
out that the Colonial Question should be treated from an
Imperial viewpoint and as part of the whole problem of a
world settlement and not just from a local 1nterest He

indicated too that in the cvent of an inconclusive mllitary
"

1. Mlnutts of the Committee of tho Imierial war LdblnLt on
Territorial Desm]erata 17 April, 1917: Hughes l’npers, N.L.A., MS
1538.

) AV - )
2. Balfour, Imperzal War Cabinet, profEs verbaux, 22 March, 1917;

CAB 12/43.
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result then 'we could not expect our Allies to bear therr

share of the sacrifice while we were enjoying practically the
whole of the advantaqo'.l The final meecting on the terms of
peace, however, chaired by Curzon, resolved that in the event

ot an inconclusive termination of the War necessitating the

restoration of somé patt og Germany's 'lost territories' there
would be no res* - lon f Pacific tc‘fritorics.2 Llovyd )
Georqge recolle *eod * 1% this was the first timo.theqﬁkitish
Government off1 , had given any indication tha¥3~as a
condition of the peace it meant to retain its d@ﬁ%ﬂpsts in
the German Colonial Empire'.3 o
Lord Milner, as one might expect, chaired the Committece ®
on Economic and Non-Territorial Desiderata. It was ©
considered that the Paris .Resolutions 'do not under the ;?»JA&ﬂ
presents circumstances rrovide any stable basis for the ) ‘Q%g
guidance of ‘the British Government' with respect to the
negotiations for peace. The entry of the United States had
added a 'new and doubtful element' in this area byt the .
géneraﬁﬁbolicy of Paris in denving most-favoured-nation staus
to the enemy Powers and in seeking to secure economic  gelf
sufficiency were commended.4 Thus the followinq'day at the
Conference, Sir Robert Borden enthusiastically endorsed the
~call to develop imperial raw materials, resources, and
manufactures so that the Empire would be self-sufficient.
Further, the Conference resoLqéd to take action, each nation
individually and freely, to prevent“dumping"by enemy
; < 5

1. Lloyd George, address to Imper..:l War Cabinet, 20 March, 1917;

cited in his War Memoirs vol.l, (irepular Edition), pp.l1l047-57.

2. Report of the Committee on Terms of Peace, 28 April, 1917; CAB
29/1/15.

1. Lloyd George, War Memcirs, vol.l p.1037.

4. Report of the Committee; I4 April, 1917; CAB 29/1/15; see also
Lloyd George, War Memoirs, vol.l, pp.1066-7.
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Powers in the transitory period after the war.l Massey who
was ‘the author of this resolution also.successfully moved
that the Empire adopt through its tariffs a system of

"imperial preference'.

In Lloyd George's recollections of the Conference and
especially the inauguration of the Imperial war Cabinet he
paid tribute to the useful and in fact 'invaluable work'
laid down by Hughes in 1916.2 go successful was the
'experiment' as Amery described it in his letter to Hughes
afterwards, the question of its perpetuation was mooted.
Borden's suggestion of Jn annual meeting of Pprime MinisteTrs

in the end prevailed.3

Two matters in external relations that preoccupied
Hughes &hroughout this difficult year of 1917 were Irelang
and 'Russia', both of which affected the domestic scene with
respect to the May general elections, thg second
conscription referendum and attitudes to the war effort.

On Ireland, Hughes advocated 'Homé rule'.’ As forvRussia,
Hughes was thoroughly Opposed to the seditious brood of

'Bolshevism', Syndicalism, the I.W.w. and pPacifism.

Hughes persisteﬁtly pleaded wth Lloyd George to solve
the Irish issue in the interests o%,ﬁpe Empire, the general
war effort and of course in the interests of Australia which
pPeculiarly was affected by the issue. The fact was, he
informed Lloyd George, 'the Irish Party here represents 25%
6f the total population' ang 'form the bulk of the Labour

>

1. Verbal Proceedings, Imperial war Conferénce, 25 April, 1917;

C.A.O0. CRs Allos, vol. XXXVII. qu
2. Lloyd George, wWar Memoirs, vol.I, p.1035. "

3. Amery to Hughes, 9 May, 1917; Amery Papers, cited ip Gollin,
Proconsul in Politics, p.397.

Pl
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5. Goverhor-Geperal to Colonial Secretary, enclosing cable from Prime
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Party'. rhus Treland and 'Russia'’ were linked in Australia
proVidinq a4 doubly explosive issue.l Huqhns saw the Trish
1ssuf at the "bottom of all our difficulties here'. The
Trish rhaq captured the bolitical machinery of the Labor
OorgArizations - associated by the syndic&lists and T.W.W,
people,'2 Fven though Munro Ferguson thought Hughes over-
estjimateq the benefits accruing from the pacification of
sthe Irish,j J-H., Davies, Lloyd George's secretary, along
witp QOthergs, cOnsidered that Hughes's presence in the imited
KingdOm during the Imperial War Conference would create a
climate fayouyrable to Home Rule and surely strengthen the

hand Of Ljlgyqd Georqe;4

”’4‘\_-7 B
U

Aughesy vigofodﬁly OpPbPosed any British representation at
the COnvention of Socialists held at Stockholm in mid-1917.
A Eri;ish répreSentation, he informed the Prime Minister,
actually would 'hamper the allies in the prosecution of the
war Ard in deciding the terms of peace'. Strong words but
he concluded with an even Stronger plea:

-*.Frerich regard this conference at which peace cranks

of 311 couptries including British and secret agents of

Gérm&ny masquerading as pacifists and friends of labor
Wlll be gatheregd together as a cunning trap set to catch

4 10yal 19pour representatives and through them organized

labour now SUPporting the war...5
W
1. p.A, Rerr o Lloyd George enclosing cable from Hughes, 13 January,
1917;  ployd George Papers, House of ILords Record Nffice, MS F/89/1/1. .

v

2. - Hugh®s to vloyd George, Secret, 'for Himself', 17 August, 1917, Ibid.,
MS F/28//3, It is not inappropriate to note at this point that Hughes
was havifg troyble with Adela Pankhurst who was 'making herself a d--4d
nuisange and 7 really don't know what to do with the little devil. I
hate punishing women: I fear I shall have to deport hér';c~Hughes to
Murdock . 3 September, 1917; Murdocn Papers, N.L.A., MS 283%3/33,

3. MunXxe Fergyson to Long, 4 January, 1917; Novar Papers, N.L.A., MS
()96/265?/; . L

4. Di&tYﬁ:ﬂugk of 26 February to 1 March, 1917; J. Wilson (ed). The
PoliticAl Diarigs of C.P. scott, (London 1970), p.264.

Minister, 10 August, 2917; Lloyd George Papers, House of Lords Record
Office, MR p/az/chg.\ ’
s
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Thus when Lloyd George 'knocked the Stockholm conference
on the head', Hughes was ready to applaud his action. Arthur
Henderson, the British Labour M.P. who resigned over the
issue was, so Hughes wrote, 'a weakling'l ang Lloyd George

was 'wall rid of him.'?2

VI~ THE COLONIAL QUESTION AND WAR AIMS, 1918

Lloyd George's great 'war aims' speech delivered to the
Trade Union Congress at the Caxton Hall on 5 January, 1918
touched on the Colonial Question. A draft of his speed had
been submitted to war Cabinet, to Mr. Albert Thomas, the
French Minister for Munitions and Leader of tﬁe Socialists,
and to Asquith and Grey the leaders of the Opposition
Liberals‘x It thus could be said to represent British war
aims.3 Lloyd George denied the German claim that their
colonies had demonstrated that, by taking up arms for the
Central Powers, they wished to remain within the German
Empire: 'The German treatment of their ﬁative populations in
their Colonies has been such as amply to justify their
fear of submitting the future of these colonies to the
wishes of the natiyes t‘wmselves'. He declared the intention
of the Allies to respectf%hp wishes and interests of the
natives. The principle Sf national self-determination would
be applied in their cases as in those of occupied European

territories.4

.

1. Hughes to Murdoch, 3 September, 1917; Murdoch Papers, N.L.A., MS
2823/33. :

2. Hughes to Lloyd George, 17 August, 1917; Lloyd George Papers, .
House of Lords Record Office, MS F/28/2/2. R~

3. War Aims discussion, 4 January, 1918; CAB 23/5/314.

4. Lloyd George, 5 January, 1918; War‘Memoirs; (Popular Edition)
vol.II, p.15165. '
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The Foreign Secretary, Balfour, as early as 1916,
admitted that he originally had viewed the prospect of
Britain acquiring more territory with apprehension but on
reflection, as was his custom, he now firmdy believed
Germany  should “t retain any of her overseas possessions.l
George Fiddes, Permanent Head of the Colonlal Offlce, in
1917 had advised that if the German Colonies were returned

'in the absence of proved necessity, the Domlnions would
never forgive Great Britain for a sacrifice which was even

suspected of being a weak-kneed surrender. to sentimentalists'.?

A

In 1918 Long referred to the remarks of the'Néw Zealand
statesmén who had reported to their parliament on the
‘Imperial War Cabinet.3 1Louis Botha, Prime Minister of South
Africa, by 1918 had submitted a memorandum advocating the
annexation of German South West Africa, 'not on the basis of
military ambition, or megalomania or land hunger' but on the
general grounds of security and freedom from intrigue. 4 The
Australians, for their part, grudgingly had acquiesced to
Japan's retentlon of the Islands north of the Equator, and
now faced the brospect of uncertainty on the future of: the

Islands that they now occupied.

The Chief of the General Staff of the Australian X
Army, Brigadier General Hubert Foster,5 in 1917 considered

the north Pacific Islands did not

1. Balfour, War Committee Minutes, 1 August, 1916; CAB 42/17/1.

2. G. Fiddes, 'The Futlire of the German’ColoniesU 14 November, 1917
CAB 24,/ .7/1.: ' :

~ .

3. Appendix, Ibid; circulated for war Cablnet 2 January, 1918; _
Speeches by W. F. M Massey the Conservative Prime Minister and sir J.G. Ward,
Leader of the Coalitien Liberals. .

4. Botha, Memorandum, signed on behalf of Ministers, 26 March, 1918;
CAB 532/110.

5. Legge was now 'on active service; he returned in October 1917.
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constitute a military threat to Australia but reqgarded the
retention of the Islands south of the Line 'decidedly
desirable'.1 Hughes himself in August must have felt anxious
as a result of the Anglo-Japanese Agreement of February to
which he had so ‘unwillingly assented for he prepared and
signed a note 'o the Colonial Secretary setting out that
Australian Ministers 'now desire to emphasise their view'
that the Islands should not be returned to Germany 'nor
handed cver to any foreign power'. The letter was never
sent bu the fear of the Islands being used as pawns in some

European settlement was there.

There were grounds for such fears as Long's letter to
Munro Ferquson would indicate. Written the same day as the
War Cabinet meeting that discussed the draft of Lloyd Georqge's
speech, Long pointed out the divergence of opinion between
the Allies on the question of the right of a population to
determine its future and the application of this doctrlne'
to the German Colonies. He therefore counselled the
Australians to secure expressions of opinion on 'the anxilety
of natives of German New Guinea to live under British rule.'
This message was repeated to all the Governors-Gencral and
within days each had informed the Colon;al Secretary, all
agreeing that the prlmltlve level of c:?illzatlon of the

natives would make a pleblsc1te not only meaningless but

1. Foster, Memorandum 'German Possessions in the Pacific, Dept., of
Defence, 23 May, 1917; C.a. O., AR 63/48, item J2/3/2.

2. W.M. Hughes, typed and signed, to Governor- ~Genecral for transmission
to the Colonial Secretary, 13 August, 1917:; C.A.O. » CRS AS981, item
Marshall and Caroline Islands 2.

3. Long to Governor-General, secret, telegram, 4 January, 1918; C.A.0.,
CP 447/3. S.C.12.
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. 1
lncongruous.

Hughes submitted the matter to Cook, the Navy Minister,
and to Pearce for the Defence Department to take up the
matter with the Administrator of the Territory of New Guinea;.uﬁ;
Lieutenant-Commander Latham2, of Naval Intelligence, took a -
special interest in the subject and his recommendations were
adopted3, being endorsed by Thring and Creswell. Latham
noted the recent pronouncements of Lloyd George, Wilson, ana
the Pope. Thus Australia should adopt a definite policy
based on the general interest of the natives, that is, "by
considerations which might be described as sentimental as
well as by the direct and obvious European interes’s'. On
the latter point Latham emphasised that the promotion of
Australian commercial and economic interests was highly
desirable for if, after scveral years of Australian
occupation, German interests were almost as nreat as before
the war, then clearly the Australian case w d be weakened.
In March 1918 Latham urgently minuted that the infdrmation
would be of maximum value in view of the pending Imperial
Conference for the use of the Prime Minister. Commander
Thring, Head of the Naval Intelligence Section4, minu‘* 1 that
'up to 1884 Bismarck had assured England that Germany had no

1. Governor-General of Australia to Colonial Secretary, 7’ﬂ@nuary, 1918;
Lord Buxton and Liverpool to Long, 10 January, 1918; copies in C.A.0.,
CP 447/3, s.C.12.

2. J.G. Latham, (1877—1964); 1904 called to, the Bar; lecturer in Logic
and Philosophy, Melbourne University; 1917, Lieutenant-Commander in

Naval Intelligence; with the Minister for Navy at Paris Peace Conference;
an assistant-secretary to the B.E.D.; British secretary to Inter-Allied
Commission on Czechozlovak affairs; acted on economic and other committees
including the committee to settle the terms of peace 1n respect to German
Colonies; C.M.G., 1920; K.C. 1922. Attorney-General, 1925-29 and 1932- 4;
Minister for External Affairs, 1932-34; Chief Justice of High Court, 1935.

3. Hughers to Cook, 19 March, 1918; Latham to First Naval Member, 16 January,
1918; C.A.0., {(Melbourne), MP1049/1.

4. W.HN.C.S. Thring, (1873-1949); Dircctor of Australian Naval War sStaff;
handled all matters connected with naval operations; order of Rising Sun

of Japan, 1920.
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designs in the Pacific'. Ry 188¢ they had annexecd German New
Guinea. Now that the Colonies were in British hands 'an

opportunity offers, probably for the last time, of corroctin%)
'80s."' -

the mistakes of the 3
s

We should now turn to Hughes'sg second venture overseas
in his quest for the security of Australia in the Pacific,
Thring could be assured that Hughes was out to correcf the
'mistakes of the '80s."

VIT HUGHES IN NEW YORK : THE AUSTRALIAN MONROE DOCTglNE
FOR THE SoUTH PACIFIC: 'HANDS OFF THE PACIFIC.'

.

In June 1918 Hughes's deliberate public espousal in New
York of an Australian Monroe Doctrine for the South Pacific2
was both the climax of a long, guarded, war~time vigil on
Pacific affairs ang also the launching of his campaign for
the post-war defence of Australia. vet he had to survive
what was virtually a censure motion as to his fitness to
represent the Australian public opinion Ooverseas. The basis
of the charge against him was that his War-time policy had been
repudiated by two referenda defeats On conscription.
Moreover, incredibly} the 'Prime Minister's Speeches at and
in relation to the Paris Conference' would result in the
prolongation of the war.3 The censure was a token gesture by
the Opposition Labour Party, to register their rejection of

i

1. Latham to Creswell, First Naval Member, Memorandum, 'Former German

Colonies in the Pacji‘- ', 16 January, 1918; rinute by Thring, 5
February, Latham, mi + 26 March, 1918; 1big.

2. Address to Pilgrims' Society, New York, typed draft, June, 1918;
Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538. See reports in Argus, 1 June and 13
July, 1918 and Christian Science Monitqg, 1 June, 1918, Garran Papers,

C.r.0., CP 351/1/7.

- C:P.D., VOl.LXXXIV, ¥4 April, 1o1s, p.4100, ff.
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the 'hard"' iino which they belicved Hughes represented.
While on the high seas, heading for the United States,
Hughes was informed of the defeat of the charge on party
lines, and since Hughes had won the last election in May
1917 by an overwhelming majority; his fitness to represent
the country on the basis of a popular vote was clearly
sustained.l

Hughes himself, however, felt that his absence from the

1917 Imperial War Conference had blotted his record.
Keith Murdoch informed him as much in July 1917 but urged him

nevertheless to visit Britain avjaln as soon as possible to
ensurc attendance at the Peace Conference. Murdoch informed
him that: '

your personal hold on this country lost a bit through your
non~attendance at the Imperial War Cabinet, whilst the high

opinion of Lloyd George, l.aw, Milner, and Long, and. the inner
group, became distinctly: o or ag these me that you
had not made full efforts ave Australiaf Yented. 2

Hd@hes realized he would not be 'receivedlwith open arms' but
'given health and opportunity' he felt he c~ould 'do something
and I hope and believe that Lloyd George +is not unfriendly
towards me.' Murdoch hastened to re-assure a somewhat
crestfallen Hughes that despite his previous remarks he would
receive 'a fine reception here at any‘time'.3 In fact Mufdoch
had seen Lloyd George the prévious week who had 'assured me

that he has as great regard for you as ever'.4 He advised

-

1. J.A. Watt, Acting Primé Minister to Prime Minister, 27 April, 1918;
C.A.0., CP 360/8/1 and Munro Ferqguson, Governor-General, to Colonial
Segretary, Walter Long, May 1918; Novar Papers, N.L.A., MS 696/1021-2.

2. Murdoch to Hughes, 14 July, 1917; Murdoch Ppapers, N.L.A., MS 282§733.

3. Hughes to Murdoch, 3 September, 1917; 1bid. This was the second
letter Hughes wrote on this day.

4. Murdoch to Hughes, 23 December, 1917; Ibid.
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him to come over by way of the United “tates for a strong
British protagonist was required there to counteract the
'pro-Germans' -with whom Wilson had to contend. Northeliffe
himself devoted much space in his press cultivating American
sentiment and neutralising these German svmpathies. The
Americans, he believed, were ignorant of British war aims and
'veu will have trouble with Wilson over the German Pacific
islands if there is no propaqanda'.l Hughes should be
prepared to conduct lecture tours, publicise, and begin a
trade revival, so as 'to get U.S.A. near to Australian views
and sympathles, especially to the right views about German

, : - 2
New Guinea spread in America'.

Hughes had his arrangements 1 han’ He let Murdoch
know that he had cabled the Col - 111 sec 'ta -~ informing him
that 'he could attend the Imperi... " ‘micerence and Cabinet
in July 'but hardly before' » 1 that 'T am quite willi: g to
speak to U.S.A. enroute'.3 T e was an almost filial regard

.or each other as their correspondence reveals. He acted as
Hughes's public relations officer and had already made his
name as an intriguer at high levels over the Gallipoli
affair. He was most active in Hughes'd interests for the
forthcoming expedition. As well as warning him of the views

of the Morning Post, 'bitter anti-Lloyd~Georgeisim', he

informed his mentor:

I have been labouring a good deal in your interests,
without showing myself much...I leap into print
whenever possible to put things right for you...

1. 22 November, 1917, Ibid.

2. Murdoch to Hughes, n.d., but January 1918; Hughes paper, N.L.A.,
MS 1538. :

T

3. Hughe¢s to Murdoch, 31 Januafy, 191#; -Murdoch Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 2823/33.
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whenever anything should be done for wustralia #wro,

L have to do it, without reward or recognition, simply

because no one eolse would do it 1
Murdoch in his over-zealous attempts to rearrange matters to
suit Hughes's travel plans admitted he had upset the
Colonial Office, the Admiralty and eve: the Prime Minister's

. 2 \ .

Department, but to no avail. As F' 1. sarshall Sir
William Birdwood noted:

Murdoch with a1l his qualities i of those curisus

people who think that the interests of Australia can be

safeguarded only by blatant aggressiveness and he ig

always wishing me and others to be on our hind legs with

the commander-in chief or the War Office to represent

wbat he considers the want of recognition of the

Australian Force...I find that by quietly and temperately

Tepresenting any matter whidh affects our interests we

have been able to get practically everything we wanted

done for our force...3

Lerd Reading, the British Ambassador at Washington was
apprised of the general nature of Hughes's visit by the

Colonial Secretary:

Hughes is vefy anxious to have a talk with the President

to discuss various matters relating to the Pacific before

he comes over here for the Imperial Conference.

We have no possible objection to this and hope vou will

be able to arrange an interview.4 !
The Colonial Secretary had been advised well before, of
Hughes's probable intentions, the Governor-General detailing

the specific objects which the Australiin Prime Minister

really had in mind:

ol

1. Murdoch to Hughes n.d., but clearly mid-January, 1918, flughes rapers,
N.L.A., MS 1538. <«

r2. Murdoch to Hughes, 3 May, 1918, Hughes Papers, Ibid. )

3. Birdwood to Munro Ferguson, Australian Corps, Brit i ! Xpeditionary
Force, France, 27 May, 1918; Novar Papers, N.L.A., MS »ar 31306,

4. Telegrar to Lord Reading, 23 May, 1918; Lloyd George Papers,
House of Lords Record Office, MS ¥F/60/2/64.
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I{o(.f:‘u:;l,vp_-:' Is ‘mo:;t anxious to see Prestdent wWilson m
order to parsuade him that the Democracies of the

Pacitic must stand by one another, tor that it England

be open to suspicion of desire to grab further po: Nlons
U.S. a: ! Australia are quite above that sort of ¢

etc.etc. This is no doubt t he cdmouflaqv under ¢

which he hopes that a transfer of German Possessi, T
the g‘ritish Flag might more readily be acquiesced 1., Ly
u.s. :

Although of the opinfon that Hughes would 'have , Jood
effect in America', Munreo ferquson, the diplomatie
representative in Australia of Her Majesty's Government ,

3 .
forecast that Hughes might scek detinite arrangements with
the Americans to the detriment of mperial relations:

I felt confident he Ciates ! would not pass through the

United States without seeing the President.  Not merely

to re-establish hisg personal position byt because he

wishes to ‘obtain throuqgh his Persuasive influence the

Support of America to the "White Australia" Policy and

to a restriction of Japanese activity south of the equator,

I believe Mr. Hughes to be animated by a real Imperial

patriotism, but I am not without fear lest in his geal

for Australia's safety he be inclined to tuyn to America
and seek a very lose and direct understanding with hep .-

Hughes therefqre chose, in the land where the Monrooe
;"fboctrine origin Yy was enuﬁciatcd, to call on the United
| States 'to redress the balance of the olg’ in the Pacific,
For Hughes, an ardent advocate of the Bf‘;ish bmpire, it was
a significant initiative. Ever \alist; and possossinq a
certain prescience in these matt. .. congérning the defence
of the Australian continent he wclcomedlthe.co—oporation

"and aid of the United States in . ‘Policy that called for the

bl ——— — .‘_'... r’__L —
1. Munro Ferguson to long, perscnal o1 April, 19} B; Novar Plapers ,
N.L.LAL, M8 €96 71021-0. ’

Munro Ferguson to Long, personal, & June, l‘)lﬂi, Novar Papers,
N.LLAL, MS 69671040, v ~
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expulsion and exclusion of all Powers with ' predatory
designs' in the region.  On the face of it this mgarﬂ Germany
but tor those who Knew his innermost convictions it Also  *-
meant ‘t'hm} Japanese who, at any rate, if one can judge from
thelr pross reports of his speeches, were well aware of the

R : )

implications of his proclamations. / e

oy . W

Hudhes had sot himself a formidable task when hé
decided to consult President Woodrow Wilsonl for W well know
the President's philosophy of  'no annexations and no
indemnities' wifh respect to the terms of a peace with the
Germans. And so at a time when 1t was tar from clecar that
the Allies would be able to dictate terms he broached the
subject of t}\m retent on of the German islands to the north
of Australia 'b\; the BritishiBmpire or fri'endly Pox;rers._ One
cannot fault his'plan to approach the President in private

consultation so as to impress u- - him the absolute

importance of the Islands for . 'i1a's security angd
interests.. As jord Reading rec to Balfour /.md Lon

Hughes emphasised that Australia .ad no imperialistic ,
designs but 'if Germany with her preda; y .designs held any
- . - . o - .

B . “ N . . . a3 2
. -of these Islands' Australia's Security!’ muld beprejudided.
) , ) ] : YO Akt I : .

Whatever were Hughes.'s expgctagions of his interview - with.
W o '

Wilson, 1t appeared fruitless, but, as, he recerded vears
v SN . . . o
later: - TNmE . .
' W
C- Was 1n no o way prepared for the pPresident's silence
v ion hg8oso depressing anseffoct pon me that my
-powers of specch gvithered and di .3 oo

- L U ———— e L — . e — e

I3 s ’
1. The Time tondon), 30 May, 1918, reported that Hughes "had been
e

received by President Wilson the day before; ¢,0:, 537/11073.

3

Lord Ro.nding to Baltour and lona, 2 June, 19138, Ralfour Papers,
R.M. Add. MS 49741, f.200.

T30 WML Hudhes, Policies and Potentates, (Sydney, 1950) p.229.
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Wilson moxely informed Hughes at the swift conclusion of

the 1ntexv1ew that he would 'communicate with those to whom
he had entrusted the study of these and similar quest iong,. |
The Pre§Qﬁent's inscrutability must have intrigued Hughes but
we now know that the President had beensfully "informed by his

adv¥sers nd indeed by Balfour on his mission to the United

BEcs Ln 1917% of the situation concerning the Islands,; so
P ughes in an probability ‘added nothinyg to the ' o

Pregeident's information on the subject. Moreover, it was an

issue on which he would wish to b& an impartial arbitrator.

N\;Thus he chose to assume a lofty role as though impervious to "
‘\

special pleadlng by Yobbyists such as Hughes

Huqhe qulckly rGCOWMged hms powers of speech and not
to be oyt done he immediate R@ seyg out to lnflﬁence the ,
Yresident' s adv1SLrs W1lboﬁ%had coﬁmlqsloned Colon 1 House
with the task of gathering lnfotmation with the Peaca
Conference 4in-mind. tﬂ&use in turn 1nstructed J.T. Shotwell-i
to gather a group of experts who wodld urepare memoranda on

specific subjects of 1nq$re-t.to the Unxtod States. This
: . ey
- group became known.sas «thé "Ingquiry'. It very quickly became
~ A .

-

the focal point of lobbxﬁst;
- ot y -
As soon as the £x1sten§ ‘of the Inquiry.became known to
the reprcsentatlvév~p$‘ iropean ugvoﬁnments .We were |
,‘lI’tlooded with thk.ji@eratuxe of their Claims....
There were also transient visitors such a5 Premier
Hughes of Australia who gave us a rofdldbte of %;s
diplomatic technigue at the Peace Conference by laying -
his electric ear trumpet on ‘the table when hée dldn t
want to hear any objections' to his p01nt of view,<

N

K

~
ae

1. Lord Reading-to Balfour QHd‘Lonq, S June, *1918;  C.0., 537,1003.
2. Cited by J.T. Shotwell, At the Paris Peace Conference, (New York,

1931) p.1l, foot-note 1. Seeo also L.E. Gelfand, The Inquiry, (New
Haven, 1963), pp.268-7.. : : .
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USLng the Pilgrims and Harvard Llubs1 as pulpits for

his exposxtlons tlughes was able to put the Australian view-

\point to the men who would advisy the President. As he so

.

loq1call¥ and forcefully stated: e

Our destiny like that of your Western States, lies in
the Pacific. America and Australia have common
interests in the great ocean. We therefore seek
Ameri{can's steadfast co-operation, and we areﬁfommlttod
. by inexorable circumstances to the doctrine 'Hands off
the Pacific’ We shall strive against all predatory
nation%,to give the doctrine our last ounce of strength.

Commentln;fon Hthes s American visit Lord Readlnq\-the'
Brltlsb.Ambassador at Washlngton, repQrﬁéd to the . Imoerlql
War Cabihet that Hu
and that thexe was

] haddpfesented powerful argumontq’

ldg)ln the approach which made a
'greatimpression’ on the AM!rlcqns > The seced, powever
appeared to have fallen on stony ground, pg?tly btcause the
*ﬂherlcans bellevedgthe c1rcumstances did not warrant- action
but it may well be tﬁgt Hughes wps sowing with an eye to thc
future. He must. have been 615app01nted tﬁ%t the Amarlcans
considengd his remarks prematume&and above all that Thoodore EY
Roosegel&xwas out of office. Roosevelt's vigws and style were much
more to Hughes s tastes, as he admltted years latﬁf 4 rather than

what may bé characterlzed as Wilson's posturingd mbrallsm
4 he IS . : B

- : ~“EE§ZZ )
. . IR . s M A 2NN
1%4 The Time®,  (New York) June, *1918. See also H.C. Armstrong,

ess,. 'The contribution of William Morris Hughes .to Unjted States t8
British and* Australiim Relations’, Sydn?y Boys' High School, 25 May, 1939,
Armstrong was 'the last syrvivor of a band of Australians in the U.S.A.
during the War, working to foster closer relations with.%ke Americans'

-

;

" see Sydney Daily Telegraph, 25 April, 1959, I am indebted to Fltzhardlngo

The Little Digger, for these latter references.

2. ‘&his version was” reported in the Argus, 13 July, 1918.
: ‘ - g - P
3. I.W.C. Shorthand Notes, 20 June, 1918, Cab. 23/43,/12.

4. Hughes, ‘Policies and Potentates, pp.228-231.
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Huchies admitted his disappointment . fOWr;OOkS later
di 1ng an Imperial War Cabinet meeting which was as much
sarprised by Hgghes's disclosures on current American views
N Joint intervention in Russia as it was impressed by his

success 1n gaining agow

¥ L0 their committee on foreign

. - ks 1}0
relations: "
The matter (Join: Diteroentien! was being treated
. as one of several guestions. For example it did
not...secem of greater urgency than the question of

the Pacific and indeed we discussed it together.

Hughes pointed out he had seized the opportunlty to refer to
the Japanese*and found the Americans qhared his reservations
about them. Hence their acceptance, flnally, that any
intervention in Siberia must be & joint enterprise, a poﬁfﬁ?
Hughes whole—heartedly'éﬁd.v ey as a matter of extremeis
urgency as he was genhlnefy concerned that Rusqﬁa somehow
"should be resuscitated. That Japan's restless energy wduld.
be expended on the Asian mﬁinland aQay from' the Scuth’
Pacific must have ‘been a convenicnt by-product. .Hughes's
7-susp&c1ons concerning Japanese intentions in the lmmedlate'
future Werg not shaagd by Arthur Qalfour, the British
Forelgn Secretary who went tofsomg pains to point out to the

Imperial War ‘Cabinet that:

For-the present I believe Japan 1= hdt sho yrofesses
¢ to be, a faithful ally ready to do her bestﬂWlth what
she conceives to be reasonable limi%ts to aid the common
D cause.?

»
(2

Munro Fergusonf'meanwhilﬁ for other reasons, had had
M reservatlons about Hughes's pol;cv and communieated his

disquiet ¢to his supferiors: . . -

/ ;
—— - .

1. I.W.C. shorthand Notes, 20 June, 1918, Cab. 23/32/12.
2. Ibid., and also I.W.C. 20A, 26 Junc, 1918,

- '
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. The more I think on it the less 1 am disposed to feel
Vi, quite happy over Mr. Hughes's policy re (s/) U.S.A.

He will try to get all he can for Australia out of the
Rritish with as little quid pro quo as possible - this
he is driven to do...Personally, I do not believe you
risk much even if you put down your foot. The Labour
Party profess to have no interest in Mr. Hughes's
"damned Islands” in the Pacific and it is doubt ful
whether U.S. will want to Protect Australia from Japan.1

»
Despite Hughes's disappointment he was satisfied he had been

right in his action. Thus he reported to Munro Ferguson:

I did some useful work in America on the Pacific Tsland
question and am more than ever convinced I took the
right line in sceking to enlist the sympathy of uncle

2 A}
Sam.

And to his close friend and colleague he confided his most

-
candid remarks:

On the whole we have done useful work, but this country

is so vast it takes much time to make an impression. .. o
I've seen most of the big men here: Wilson Roosevelt

Schwab Gompers Admirals and Generals galore.

Hughes's Monroe Doctgﬁne was quickly placed in historical

perspective’ tY ﬁies%F in a paper on the subject prep X,
O X . C ¥ . o ) i N R ’ =
an addre& ‘in 1&. He was Diredétor of MllltaMl nce,

seconded to the PriméﬁMfﬁ%ﬂter's Department wh became

Director of the Pacific Branch. He was actually refused —
permission to read the Paper which clearly surprised him

>

seeing it was a 'purely historical Pape;:'.4

'

=

1. Munro Ferguson to Long, persona%, 15 July, 1918; Novar Paperéf
N.L.A.,}.: 696/1054.
“ -

. AN «

2. Hughes to Munro Ferguson, personafj 10 July, 1918; Novar Papers,
N.L.A., Ms 696/2222. cow .

3. Hughes to George Pearce, ﬁi?ister for Defence, 2 June, 1918; '{;& :
Pearce ‘Papers, A.W.M., Bundle 3 File 3. S
s .
> a

i . . ’
4. Major E.L. Piesse, 'The Australian Monroe Doctriné’?E} the South,
Pacific', typed draft; Piesse Papers, N.L.A., MS’%82/3/274 and ff.

o- sn TN
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In general, picsse's Views on Japan's role in the
Pacific were considered somewhat suspect by‘Hughes. Up to
and during the Paris Peace Conference both were apprehensive
about Japan'sg intentions. - However, after the Conferqnce
Piesse believed there was no direct threat from Japéh,
recommended therefore, a flexible attitude to the 'White , »
Australiéi policy.l This revisioiism was .afathema to Hughes,
a fundamentalist on such an issue as wero Austrakians 1n
deneral in this period. It was sufficient ground fd%ﬁhuqhes
andhother leading Cabinet Ministeak»to discount' his vicws on

2

this basic subject andg his ‘views in general. o

Piesse, tracing AuSt;alian'statesmen's use of;thdﬁkefm
'Monroe Doctribd' as applied to the Pacific, concludag that
&u;ges's usage thddgh 'novel inh form' was but the‘natural'

reg¥lt of kgstgalianlpolipy as stated by public figures over

the past fifty years. For example:

The ideal of a 'White Australia' had been spoken of by

Mr. Sfakin as the Monroe Doctrine in the.first year of
monwealth Parliament,...with which no

°rence would b ';plerated....Fo; twenty years it

has :-been regarded ra“possible provocation of attack
‘O Australia and ag~ mbtive for defence. 3

So there was noth: new in Hughes's declaration - it was

but the current eéxposition of the basic article of faith of

‘ .

»

.P

1. Piesse to Secretary of Prime Minister's Department, 30 December, !’
1921 and 12 January, 1921; 1Ibid. As Director of Military Intelligenc,
Piesse kept a close wats on Japanese rolicy and submitted repbrts, to

be found in C.k.0., CP g’%/z item S.C.200 See especially Director

of Military Intelligence to Chief of th. weneral Staff, 22 Octoper,

1918, ‘The rar Eastern' Question: Recent Dovelopments and their

,
4 )

Significance for Australia’, - {

2. Hughes to Millen, 23 October, 1920, handwritten drafé, unsigned:
'Re Pieswo Papers, - 1 disagree entirely with‘views expreSsed therein -
(0 White dustralia) and quite epdorse your otn views. 'Take no

nottce of them'. C.Af P U742, item s.c. 42, '

3. Piesse, 'The Australian Mgnroe Doctrine for the South Pacific'.
and 'Australia and the South Pacific', typed address, Piesse Papers,
MS 882/3/274 and_ 287. ‘ ‘ '

‘y P



Australian statesmen. Piesse may well have been simply

attempting to put Hughes in his place - historically, but N
his remarks are tinged with that asperity he reserved for o
Australian st ( me,., who in his estimation, unnecessarily §
provoked or - | irra -1 the Japanese and Hughes's enunciation ¢
must have, it wo o ‘udge public opinion from comments in

the pfess.

Japanese newspapers were carefully scrutinized through-
out this period; hy Piesse as part of his intelligence work .
of monitorinqAJapanese public .opinion, though he himself
completely drscounted this actiVity as the basis of an

assessment of Japanese. objectives l ‘The Japan Chronicle,

J~‘P1e58e noted percentlvely observed that Hughes really
wanted thé German Islands occupled by the Japanese to be

.transferred .to .some other form of control, hence hid®Papproach

to the Amerlcans HughesJ they insisted, wanted a 'White

Pac1f1c as whlte as Australia. 2 The Gwaiko-Jiho, a

'dlplomatlc revxew,Aremlnded readers that pre war Australla

saw Japan as the threat rather than the Germahs and that the v
real’ fear would be’ the form such a doctrine would assume in
unioh with the United States. Japan therefore had the right _x

to proclaim her own-Monroe Doctrine.3

Suttor, New South Wales's Commercial Agent in the East,
stationed at Kobe since 19034 submitted reports to the
Premier who passed them on to the Prime Minister's Department

at its request. He yreported that Hughes's speech was seen
s req £€

-

1. Piesse, Foreign %ection (Pac;fic), to the Acting Secretghy Prime.
Minister's Department, a memo, 9 May, 19217 'In regard to Uapanese

Qpinion generally, however, I wish to record my opinion that to attempt

to follow it from newspaper cuttings is a waste of effort', C.A.O.,

CP 360/13. All references in this paragraph to Japanese newspapers, S
have come from the paraphrased translations made by Piesse, to be found
throughoy. *the twenty-four Volumes of Papers on external affairs, o
compiled by Piesse; C.A.0., CRS A2219.

2. Japan Chronicle, 15 June, 1918.

3. Gwaiko-Jiho August, 1918. ' Pa

.
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»

as the Prime Miqfatér woolng the*United States at the
expense of Japanese expansion in the south anobxhat such
speechei must have an adverse cffect oﬁ'Australlan trade in
the regiep.l Some weeks afterwards, having monitored the
Japanese press, Sutto: informed the Australian public of the
reservations of at least one important Japanese newspaper,

the Osaka Asahi. While uphg dlnq the justice of the Japanese

claim to a share in the SpOltS of war, the Asahi actually
~admitted that Japanese-German negotiations regardirg the
possibility of an alliance, carried out by the current
Government led by Count Terauchi must be against Japan's’

best interests. It was clear that the Terauchi Ministry would
have to be npeplaced if Japan was to retain its place as a
respected mehber of the community of ndtions.2 On the other
hand, the Japan Chroniclg pointed out that anti-Japanese
sentiment in the Unitedgétates, Canada, and Australia had

led to dlscrlmlnatory policies, yet Japan was an al]/
2 i

> ¢

From e ;nt of view of 1nternational etiquette ‘and
inte aejustice. . .desirable. ..assert her rights
in thiséd*d@hect on a proper 0ccasion after the war.3

By August, Suttor'noted; a member of the Japanese House of
Represéntatives had identified these 'rights' -as retention

of the Islands north of the equator, freedom of residencé for
her people in any territory in and around tge‘Pacific, and
the recognitibp of the 'Open Door"regarding immigration in
Australia, Canada, Amerlca, and India. It would be 'most

‘xu! : . }

1. J.B. Suttor, hobé to Premlé& *N.S.W., 7 June, 1918; Premier'§‘
Office Correspondence, Archlves Office of N.S.W., 7/4881, file

B8R/253.

2. From a correspondent,‘Kobe, clearly Suttor; Sydney gggj 13 July,
1918, C.A.0., CRS A2219, vol.lA. . .

3. Japan Chronicle, 8 June, 1918.
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advantageous', this Parliamentarian declared, 'to carry these
policies to the Peace Conference'.! These were the very
objectives Hughes had :eared were Japan's real aims and

concerning which Australia would have to be on her quard.

British Jntelligence could not shed any more light on

official Japanese opinion concerning Hughes's speech. Sig
Conynaham Greene, Britgash Ambassador at Tokyo who since 194§ .y
had regularly suppfieq thé Governor-General with reflecti p
of Japanese public opinion forwarded without comment

extracts of the newspaper and magazines which Pigsso and
Suttor had.notéd.2 Watt, the Acting Prime Minidﬁbr, in turn
summarized all the available information and sent it off

to Hughes when he had arrived in London:

Premier, New South Wales, has sent me letters received

from Commercial Commissioner in East covering Japanese
press critic§sms your New York speech on Australian

Monroe Doctrine. Tone of speech regarded as anti-

Japanese and deserving of great deal attention from
Japanese as emanating from statesman high position
Australia at time when Japan Co-operating Australia for
victory Allied cause. “Due to Alliance with Britain that
Japan declared war Germany and isgymrprotecting various
ex-German islands South Pacific. In these circumstances
Australian statesmen should be as ready to select Japan

as co-worker at peace conference as America. Hughes not
only excluded Japan but hinted at Japan as futuré enemy
Australia which insinuation gives very disagreeable
impression to Japanese. Sure manifestation of antipathy
Australians towards Japanese, and in view of discriminating
policy generally against Japanese desirable for Japan assert
her rights in this respect on prorer occasi- after war.
Wonder what steps Terauchi and colleagues gc to take
concerning speech. : :

L

1.  Ibid., 10 August, 1918.

Conyngham Greene to Governor-General, despatcpes, 10 June, 1918;
.A.0., (Melbourne) MP1049/1, file no., Defence, 1877/5/85.

(9NN

3. Acting “fﬁme Minister to Hugﬁes, London, 16 Jﬁly, l9l§r/hETA.O.,
P 360/8/1. -

o~
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* Hughes was given unfguivocal support from Anglo-

S5axon sources. Acting .'iﬁo Minister J.A. Watt, o

coalition partner, affi ;d that Australia was not sceking

a territorial reward or extension but strongly desired

that the former, German Possessions in the South Pacific should

hot revert to germany but should be controlled by Great

Britain or a riendly POWGF.l The Times, London, that had

lionized Hugh on his 1916 visit, was again forthright
the editor calling on the Foreign Office
hat the Pacific Islands should nogpe

uropean territorial adjustments.2

in its support)
to make it clear

used as pawns in

In retrospect, despite Piesse's jaundiced strictures
and the apparent lack of results, the American visit was a
splendid episode. It was quite natural for Hughes to
attempt to contact Wilson on the way to the Imperial War
Conference and having fgiled to influence him, it was
inevitable the#t Hughes Qld turn to Wilsun's advisers and

a public forf ‘Qghis wa¥s lughes's style wheneyer blocked:

appeal to the® fle .as the voicé of a beni&n’providence.

It was a pecullarly appropriate way of dealing with Wilson
as later events would prove. That June 1918 was a time when
a dictated peace appeared a remote prospect may well have
undet¥scored nis determingtion to press the point when the
opportunity arose. Yet Hughes's clarion call may welll be
explained as the climax of a pq*icy that was not oﬁly ¥
typically Australianvas‘ﬁieésé7ﬁgd observed but one that had

v ~

‘o -

1. cifed in 'Western and General Report', Part I, 'British Empire
and Far East', no. 72, 12 June, 1918,. p.3; Hughes .aap_ers, N.L.A., MS 1538,

2 Th@‘ﬁimes, ‘(London) , 11 June, '1918.

&
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1
been nursed auietly by Huoghds throughout the War, so that now
on the way to the Imperial War Cabinet he judged thee time to

be right for the public espousal of that policy. As we shall

see, he had to battle for some two years before his patient,

persistent, efforts were rewarded with success. Late in 1920
when the Leaque of Nations was dealing with'tho question ot
the final disposition,of the German Empire and Australia's
delegate fully expected, at last, to be awarded the mandate
for the territories occupied in 1914, Hughes wired

instructions:

Ouite agreed with attitude you are taking up re Mandates.
"Hands off" must be Australia's message to the I\ssembly.1

N

VIIT THE IMPERIAL WAR CABINET, 1918

Hughes missed the openin¢n$%ne sessions of the Imperiai
War Conference and Cabinet. As{fﬁ 1917 the sittings of each
were held on alternate days. J:Aga,j&p the milb'tary situation
proved ¢o be vita¥in determyniﬁa," tone and nature of the
discussions. Thé great Ludendar#E é%éﬁé;; launched on 21

«

» ¥

March provédvto be all but a deciSiGe‘vibtory but was falted

by troops which included Dominion forces. Thus Haig on 11
Aoril issued his 'back to the walls' message to £ﬁe troops.
By the end of May Ludendorff having tuw on the Fren**‘\v
came within earshot of Paris before lheing halted. The

momentum of the German drive vaﬁ&shed. By mid-July the main

.German offensive had been not only stopped but the Germans

had been driven back py the gé \ch ¢ounter-offensive. On

-

-
‘.

J
1. Hughes to Senator Millen, London, decypher of cablegram, 23 November,
1920; C.A.0., CP 447/2. 1Item S.C.18. .

£ S : .
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8 Augqust, the 'black day of the German Army' as Ludendorff
described it, the general Allied counter-offensive bhegan -
the battle of Amiens. British and Commonwealth forces under
Haig now assumed the main thrust of the advance that in the
next one hundred days was to prove decisive. 1 This was not
known at the time nor expected. Smuts for example, was not”
Alone in planning for the 1919 and 1920 offensives.2 Yet
Hughes had a warrior's instinct and sixth sense evidentl

Y.
these matters for on 4 July he sent a message to Austral*
. 3 ‘
on the morrow of the battle of Hamel™ where. Monash's

Australian Army Corp scored what was acknowledged as a
brilliant victory. Hughes, quite juBilant, cabled that 'the
victory comes at psychological moment and may have several '
military and political effects'. Within A month came
Ludendorff's 'black day’.4 Onlv tho Austral1an§, Hughes

éand Cook stayed on after the! Aast session of the Tmperial
@ar Cablnet on 20 Auqust sensing Vvictory as much as to . ;
complete arranqements reLatlng to th~ Ausg;alian war effort

and military affairs. 3

A€ the June meetings of the Imperia}ﬁﬁqf Conference

Hughes pursued the economlc goals he had so G}bqqpusly ) .
advocated in Paris in 1916 and since then in Austr lia. He

o l B
I : .

s

I3

. e’
1. See Lloyd George war Memoirs, vol.II, (Popular Edition), chapter
LXXVIII, 'The March Retreat'. chapter LXXXII, 'Stroke and Counter-

~

Stroke'.
. ]

2. Smuts, Imperial War Cabinet, 14 August, 1918; Hughes Papers, N.I..A. ’ ;Qg
see also General Sir Henry Wilson, Chief of the Imperial. General Staf:
for his 25 July, 1918 'appreciation' of the Hllltary situation, cited in
Lloyd George, War Memoirs, vol.TIY, pPp.1857-1866.

3. Hughes to Act:ng Prime Mlnlsteg'leleed 8 July, 1918 C.A.0., CR .
360/8, bundle 1. , "%

4. See Hughes, _plendld Adventure, chapter VvV, 'The Beginning of the
End'; .and also Duncan Hall, Commonwealth, Pp.171-6. ) -

5. See cable from Hughes to- Acting Prime Minister, 27 August, 1918; C.A.0.,
cp 360/9 item 3; this was confirmed in the Acting Prime Minister's cable
of i8g9ctober, 19187 C.A.0., CP 3608, bundle 1.

. At
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was still convinced of the validity of these views and was
engaged to speak asg much as he was in 1916 on these mat'ters.1
Hughes and Hewins were successful in the promotion and
adoption by the Conference of the Paris Resolutions with
respect to the control of raw Materials. The 1917 Imperial
War Conference also héd resoived that 'steps should be taken
to make the Empire self-sufficient witﬁ regard to food, raw
materials and essential industries' and that imperial
‘preference would bromote if not ensyre this. After a week's
debate the 1918 Confereénce re-affirmed this resolution
exténding it to include the 'bélliqerentlhllies' within its
terms to that XN the post-War 5cene the}r indusf®rial
Q?fequirgments would be safeguarded.2 Outside the Conference
he reinfarced these views on numerous occasions. To tio
British Empire Producers’ Associatiopn he deséribed the l%ﬂ
German,inflhéﬁcéé in the quma RicefTﬁhde.3 - To the N
'Businessmen's Dinner, he argued thatborgadization of Imperial

resources was the answer: kol o

-
<N

The organization of which I speak is not a forﬁuia, nor a
doctrine, nor an electioneering Cry but just the adaptation
of plain business methods to the circ umstances of Britain,

.u the Empire, a?djn?every industry in it.
. o t g . J"

7
-

ngh meéthods did mot benefit one cldss alone; it was not for * 5

o

-capital asi@gainst labour. 7It.was 'for labour, for capital,

Ehe-nation, for the Empire'. - Indeegd it was not wedded to”any

. -
v

» ' - A v
! 1. See The Timeg Index, June to December 1918, for ample proof of
this pointJ

2. Imperial war Conference, Proces Verbaux, 19-26 June 1918; c.A.0.,
CP 447/1, item SC76; 26 June, 1918, can 32/1.

3. The Times, 25 July, 1918.
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fiscal theory - a taritt wall was not o necessity. He was
not out to wage cconomic war,- rather the reverse: Nis was a
~pnlicy ot economig defence.  He merely proposed "to develop
the resources of the Empire, ensuring an adequate supply of
war materials for ou- ind\rstrivs;'.] To those who considered
Hughes an extremist 1n these mattors he now had a simple
rejoinder:  Brest-Litovsk. This Treaty 'sheds an illuminat-

ing light upon Germany's hopes, fears and aims' for ‘it must 4

be nothinag less than 'the cconomic domination of the world! Lo
Yot the Hehdersons of the world argued that the Paris

Resolutions should be stremuously opposed.  Hughes was for

vy

'nationalism not internationalism'; this was  the polic,
foq)Brrtain, ‘What was needed to ensure thvioconomjc sn?cty
and secutrity of the Empire was ‘'an éﬁdurinq'alliancn betweorts
Ameg%ha; France ﬁnduBritaia'.B. ‘
Who ’
The question‘pf preventing 'the naturalization ot
citizens of presenﬁﬂcngmy countries' was a:corollnr& af the
economic exclusivism that had been accepted by the )
gonference. What complicatqgjpatters had: been the German .
%olicy of allowing dual natibﬁﬁlity for those qf German ”
origin overseas. F.G. Massey in proposing r%Stfictions
refprred to the Ger a#}Governmént's~Oncoufaqément of their
'war writer' Treischke who considered '""that every good
German subject is a ldtont,‘dndy iilnocd b;, an actave spy."'
Thus Massey proposed that enemy aliens should be denied 'any
form of political rights or of luand or min!nq(privileqcs':

There was considerable debate and division over this 1ssuel.

1. The Times, 25 July, 1918, o L
2. The Times, 11 July, 1918. B

3. The Times, 22-July, 1918,
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“

Hughes considered the terms did not go far enough fr1 it was
the right of 'aliens or persons of enemy origin'’ to holad ‘
shares in British companies' which had been the crux of the
question during the War; he was convinced that the Fmpire.
would have to be unanimous if the legislation were to be J
effective. However, as the Chairman remarked: ‘'Canada
abstains, South Africa is against it, Australia, New Zealand,
India and New Foundland are in favour. The motionvis
therefore carried'. The Canadians had indicated that they
preferred to formulate their own legislation té suit their
particular conditions, for as Borden pointed out, thefe
were numbers of German immigrants on the land who had been
‘loyal and this Resolution would be an offence to them. It
was clear that this applied with even greater foroce to South
Africa where there was a large number of German origin in‘the
Uhion and the Te'rritory.l Coincidently at the Hagque earlier
in the month, Sir George Cave, the British Home Secretary,
had been in charge of the Prisoners of War Mission,
negotiating with the Germans over the exchange of prisoners-
of-war and civilian internees.z. The British press conducted
a violent campaign against all aliens and against -
negotiating exchanges.? In Ausﬁralia there had been «through-
out the War a vigorous policy of eradicatingAGerman
inflﬁeﬁces of any and every sort throuéh the War Precautions
Act. This question of aliens of enemy origin is of interest

in the post-War years, as we shall see, in=relatién ta
. ~ - P

&

1. Imperial War Conference, 22.Jle, 1318; C.A.O., CP 447 -,
item SC76.

2. Hahkey, Diary, 6 July, 1918; cited in S. Roskill; Hankey: Man
—
of Secrets, vol. I, 1877-19}8, (London, 1970), p.571.

3. Ibid. For example sec The Times, July 1918.

\
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Australian policy in the Territory of German New Guinea.l

One of the items on the agenda, 'channels of
communication 'had been proposed by Hughesz. As we have
seen, the double filter of the Colonial Office and the
Aﬁoreign Office had irked him. He also had reason to feel
that Munro Ferguson was exefcising his 'supervisory' role
far too closely with the result that Hughes believed that
the Governbf—General‘would fast become '{ .o de facto
Government of the Commonwealth which un .er our “~nstitution
and that of Britain he is not'.3 This ssue ﬁa'&rally
created tension between Prime Minister ar 1 7~ crnor-General
vyet relations throughout remained cordial and effective.
Muﬁro Ferguson had a high sense of his duties, responsibilit-
ies, and privileges. 1In fact rather than a dimunition of his
role, as envisaged by Hughes, he rather saw the areas where
the Governor—Gegerafship could be enhanced. Between 1914
and 1916 there 4is a lengthy cbrrespondence with the various
Colonial Secretaries concerning the rationalization of
British possessions in the South Pacific under the control
of the Governor-General as High Commissioner with the office’
based on Sydn"ey.4 Munro Ferguson had the support of q
variety of officials .and even of Blckham Escott, the Governor

'

1. See beloQ\ Chapter Four, I, (a). For an examination of this problem
in Australia during the War years, see Scott, Australia during the War,
Chapter IV, 'The Enemy within the Gates' )

2. Hughes to Secretary of State for Colonies, 6 May, 1918 Cp_78/
23, item 1918/10004.

2. Hughes to Munro Ferguson, 8 February, 1918, Novar Papers, N.L.A.,

MS 696/2604; Hughes considered Munro Ferguson was using the Executive
Council to exercise supervision.

)

4. Ohe of the most comprehensive outlines of the case in in Munro
Ferguson to Bonar Law, 3 August, 1916; Davidson Papers, House of lLords

Record:0Offico>.
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. .
of Fiji, and High Commissioner for the Westerp Pacific.
Agreeing‘with Munro Ferguson's proposals he put them to anér
Law late in 1916 but to no avail.l The Colonial Secretary
already had informed Munro Ferguson that he was not conbinced‘
of the desirability of the Commission representing 'the
'Imperial, Australian and New Zealands Governments for the
unification of trade regulations and the protection of

Br:tish trade interests in the Pacific'.2

The historic 1917 Iﬁperial Conference had resolved that
any future re-adjustments y‘frelations between the United
Kingdom and the Dominions 'should be based upon a full
recognition of the Dominions as autonomous nations of an
Imperial Commonwealth'. There should also be provision for
effective arrangements‘fo continuous consultation in all -
important matters of commol Imperial concern'.3 The 1918
Imperial Waf‘Cabihet established that the Prime Ministers of
the Dominiohs should 'have the right of direct communication
with the Prime Minister of the United ®Kingdom and vice
versa', but that communications should be limited to matters
of Cabinet importance. So that, as a rule, the Colonial '
Office would remain the conventional channel. The Dominions
were given the right ‘to nominate a 'Resident Minister!' in
London to represent their Prime Minister at meetings of the
Imperial War Cabinet in the intervals between the annual

Plenary sessions to be held in the post-War period.4 In this

t

1. Bickham Escott to Munro Ferguson, 31 December, 1916; Novar Papers,
N.L.A., MS 696/7009.

2. Bonar Law to Munro Ferguson, 17 November, 1916; Ibid., MS 696/
6741. :

3. preat Britain, Parliamentary Papers, 1917, XXII, Imperial War
Cabinet, 1917. Extracts from Minutes of Proceedings and Papers laid
before the ~onference, (Command 85666) p.5.

4. Imperial War Cabinet, 28, 30 July, 1918; Hughes Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 1538/111/4. ' : ’
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~discussion Hughes pointed out that in practice there woulé be .
no é}fficulties. It was rare for a Prime Minister not to be
. on intimaté'terms with  the GovernoE—General. He had alwayé
had the machinery of Government House freely at his disposal.
In any direct communication ih future he would 'naturally ask
his Governor-General whether he had any objection, and, . -
equally naturally, the Governor-General would put his cypher
at his disposa}{.l S -~ h .
Lloyd George clearly was prohp;ed by the meﬁoranda on
the subject by L.S. Amery who was ﬁow close at hand as a .
member of ﬁjs 'Garden‘ﬁuburb'. Amery had written to 'my old
friend-"*Billy" Hughes' in June2 with reference to’it and the
samg/ﬁonth produced a massive eighteen page memorandum on it.
Early in July he wrote to Lloyd George reminding him of the
incident months ago when Hughes had written concérning the

3 .

organization of the Australian‘Army Corps asfing it to be
referred to his 'colleagues in the Imperial Cabinet' but 'the
télegram was sat on*by Long and Fiddes for a whole month
be?ore I accidentally got upon,4he traces of it through an
Qenquiry.addressed to me by Mﬁfdoch'? Borden's letter to
\Lloya Géo;ge simply added momentum to the growing movement
for change, as Lloyd George himself informed a worried
Colonial Secretary? Hankey, after consultation with Long and
Fiddes, cautioned the Prime Minister to tone down the demands

i

1. 1Ibid.

2. Amery to Hughes, 12 June, 1918} C.A.0., CP 447/2, sC1l8 ééted in
Cuneen, 'The Role of:the Governor-General', pp.435-441. Dunchn Hall,
Commonwealth, pp.301-10 cites this letter as the seventeenth.

3. 'Details are in Mansergh, The Commonwealth Experience, pp.174-6;
also see Amery's four page memo, 'Imperial Relations 1918', 24 July,
1918; C.A.O., CRS A981, item Imperial Conferences 104.

-

4. Amery to Lloyd George, 9 July, 1918; Lloyd George Papers, House
of Lords Record Office, MS F/2/1/26. )

5. Lloyd George to Colonial Secretary, 9 July, 1918; Lloyd George
Papers, House or Lords Record Office, MS F/33/1/4.
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that Borden envisaged, at least for the duration of the War.L
Colonlal Secretary Long felt that 'Borden and Co' had 'no
knowledge of the volume and extent pf the work' involved in
their suggestion and that Hughes's motion was 'framed in very
vague terms. After explanations by Borden Hankey acknowledged
‘that the proposal was a harmless one. As he informed Lloyd
George, it would be impossible for the Prime Ministers of the
Dominions to come to agreement with the Prime Minister of the
United Kingdom 'upon some great question behind the back and
without the knowledge of the 'Secretary of State'. Long was
one of those who had lofty notions of his own office. He was
a 'country squire', a man of 'ancient lineage', a Tory
prospect of high office within the Conservative Party.2 Yet
here was a suggestion that ran counter to these aépirations.
Nevertheless Long admitted 'the scheme might work' but
counselled consultation with the governors-general whose
position would be 'materially affected' and they had rendered
'admirable service;r‘ Indeed Loné considered Munro Ferguson
as 'pfobably one of the best Governors-General who has ever
representeﬁ‘the King'. Hughes himself had borne ‘el quent
testimony to his work'. Thus to 'depriVelhim of so of the
most impqrtant functions of his office' without proper
consultation would be altogether 1mproper and unfalr Long
anyway had already prepared the Governor- General for 'the
worst' and a subsequent cable apprised him of the details of

the progosals.

o
‘z___.j )

1. Hankey to Lloyd George, 11 July, 1918; 1Ibid., MS F/23/3/4
Diary, 10 July, conversation with Long, and Fiddes at Colonial Offlce
about Borden's letter, Roskill, Man of Secrets, p.572.

a

2: See Roderick Clifford, 'Long of Wraxall: The Political Career of _
Walter Long 1854-1924', PH.D. thesis, John Hopklns University, Baltimore,

1970.
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-+ At the Imperlal War Confereﬁbe dh 18 July Hughes led
the debate on his proposal.l The War had brdhght about
changes in the relatlons between the Dominidns and the Unlted
Kingdom. What was needed now was administrative apparatus to
give effect to those changes. Deakin in 1907 and Botha in
1911 had envisaged these changes. Hughes proposed an end . to
the Colonial Office as a filter to communlcatlons w1th the
British Prime Minister. TRe role of the Governor- General "
should be limited to the 'King's Representative in the
Commonwéalth' and he should céase to be an official of the
Colonial Office. Walter Long} the chairman, in acceptlng
Hughes s Resolution informed the Conference that the governors—
general had already been informed of ¢hese proposals. The
following week the Imperial War Cabinet continued the
discussion with Amery's Jﬁly memorandum to guide them. It
was here that moderation prevailed and Hankey's‘hopes were
realized. The Colonial Office after all, would handle‘
outinerfatters. But the importent points that Hughes had

proposed had been carried and embodied in the 30 July
2

‘resolution of the Imperial War Cabinet.

.
3

Munro Ferguson's reaction was clear. It was an .
, hnequivoéable opposition that almost led to his resignation

by the end of the year. He had cabled immediately to Long

- for it was concluded in Australia that 'the Colonial Office
Had been eliminated' from Australian affairs.3 This was
followed up by a lengthy outline of all that the British

Government would lose by these changes. They would lose 'a»

1. Hughes, 18 July, 1918, 'Imperial War Conference, (1918), Minutes q;k .
Proceedings'; C.A.O0., CP 447/1, item SC76- L. o .

"2. Duncan Hall says 'Four men, Hughes, Amery, Hankey and Borden wéie
primarily responsible for this development'; Commonwealth, p.302.

3. Governor-Generel to Segretary of State, 21 August, 1918; Lloyd
George Papers, House of Lords Record Office, MS F/33/1/16.
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strictly impartial narrative of any particular subject3 and
with it 'the accuracy of an unbiassed report on any gzven ‘
Situation'. It was possible for direct pressure to
brought by Dominion Prime Ministers in collusion wit

the

British Prime Minister. 'Ireland, or Japan, Tariff/or Loan,
Defence or Immigration' all presented such opporturities.
Munro Ferguson pointed out that Hughes appeared t /have |
forgotten that the sovereign States of the Commo ealth of
Aug}raliamqlsd would take advantage of this change.  And
Lloyd' George's 'ill-considered proposals' had'neglecteq the
fact that ndw the Dominicns would possess 'the status of '
Independent Nations in addition to their having the
prédominapt voice in the Supreme Council of the Empire’.l
Long attemptea'to'calm him down with a quick reply that the
~proposals were specially geared for exceptional circumstances
such as the War and that the Colonial Office would remain

the normal channel of communications.2

This may well have mollified him for the moment but
his hackles arose when he read Murdoch's attack on the
Colonial Office shortly afterwards:

The crusted devastating bureaucratic inéfficiency and

ineptitude of the Colonial Office has become a shameful

bye-word in British Administration and general hatred with

which it is regarded will do much to bring support for

Australian contention...
The‘article, Munro Ferguson informed Long, then went on to
state that Hughes demanded that the Office should no longer
,deal with the affairs of Dominions who should deal directly

with the British Prime Minister on questions of policy.

1. Munro Ferguson to Secretary of State for Colonies, 25 July, 1918;
C.0. 537/1035.

2. long to Governor-Geéneral, n.d., but‘July, 1918; Lloyd George
Papers, HouFe of Lords Record Office, MS F/33/1/16.
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Long, in explanation to Lloyd George, pointed out that he
had discussed the article with Hughes who regretfed
Murdoch's action and approved of extracts from his speeches
peing used to refute the assertiOns.1 However, there ié no
doubt that Murdoch's unguarded statements voiced the élnt up
feelings of dissatisfaction with the Colonial Office that was

perhaps by now a long standing tradition in Australia.

The Governor-General was clearly alarmed at the way
matters wefe heading. There was worse to come. An Australian
. had been appointed to an important position in the United
States without his prior knowledge. He confided to his own

intimate diary:

First I hear of Braddon's appointment. Letter of )
introduction asked by Department. Neither I nor S.S.

nor ambassador has any knowledge of his mission.

Braddon ‘gives his own version of it. He didn't call

on me before leaving as is rule in similar cases.?

Sir Henry Yule Braddon's éppointment in August 1918 as a
trade commissioner in the United States was the first such

3

appointment outside Britain by the Commonwealth. It proved

to be an historic landmark and was in fact an offshoot of
Hughes's fruitful visit to the United States earlier that
year. He was to develop trade relations, extend; Australian
publicity, take charge of shipbuilding and othee interesks;
At Hughes's insistence he was to be furnished with letters

L

1. Munro Ferguson to Colonial'Secretary, 8 September, 1918; Long to
Lloyd George, 1l September, 1918; . Davidson Papers, House of lords Record
Office; Murdoth's article appeared in the Melbourne Herald, 7 September,

1918.

’

2. Novar Diary, 30 September, 1918; typescript copy in possession of
Professor Poynter, University of Melbourne.

3. For a detailed account, see Ruth Megaw, 'The American Image in
Australia'. pp.83-6; and also her article, 'Undiplomatic Channels:
Australian Representation in the United States, 1918-39', Historical
Studies, vol.LX, April 1973, pp.610-11.
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of introduction to the British Ambassador at Washington and
the Governor-General of Can'ada.1 Hence there was this
approach to Munro Ferguson which occasioned another bout of

recriminations for the select audience of his diary:.
O ]
An Australian Prime Minister is always tyring to use
4 governor-general as a pawn in the (mancewvres)
of his political game...Mr. H. never had a talk with me
as toehis Locum Tenems never even told me who he was
any more than he imparted his policy setting aside th
C.0. and G.G. He has cut off the roots of the Ggship'at
Home....The position has been~made untenable so far as
" any influence for continuous policy is concerned. The

C.0. has contributed to this...Z2
Munro Ferguson ‘obviously was hurt but more than this he
geruinely believed he had been let down by the Colonial
Secretaries under whom he had served. There had been:
..3. Bonar lLaw's abdication
4. Lu H's timidity
5. Long's surrender on channels of communication of
more impossibilities than we could bear....The difficulty
- is that the C.0. has been spinning its own rope... Harcourt

let H.M.'s representative sink or swim. Bonar Law let go
the reins altogether. Long could not regain control...

There was liﬁtle wonder that he considered continuation in
office was pointless. Long was greatly alarmed even at the '
thought of it at this stage and told Munro Ferguson thé%\for\\
him to leave office in these circumstances would be a réreat )
disaster'. Long had therefore consulted Hughes who stated

that he attached immense importance to the Governor-General's

1. See C.0. 886/7, being Dominions 61, for this correspondence which
includes Munro Ferguson to Colonial Secretary, 12 September, 27 November;
and Colonial Secretary to Governor-General, 25 November, 1918; see
C.A.O0. CRS A2, item 19/446 for Braddon's appointment.

2. Munro Ferguson, Diary, 21 September, 1918.

3, Munro Ferguson, Diary, 20, 30 September, 1918.



. - ' 193

retention of office. 1In view &f all the problems ahegd

associated with a prospective. peace Hughes felt that(hls

assistance would be personally vital. L W ff“’QJ

As in‘19l7 the Imperial War Cablnet dk;_ sed the
actual conduct of the War, and war' aimb. h@ﬁi C mmittee of
Prime Ministers of the Dominions, with ﬁbﬁﬁral vts standing
1n for Botha, represented the' ! iirbck C&ht,; except for
Smuts, as against the ’brasshats%\ The CF ”_ttee at the
outset on 13 June carried ou&‘a pogt mortem on the
Passchendale blood-bath. - Borden delivered a passionate
and vitriolic denunciation of the professional soldier's
outlook which he alleged had led to such a result. He
deplored the policy of promoting the professional soldier

over the civilian soldier regardless of ability2 - d point
appreciated by Hughes who commented in his reminiscences
that the Canadians and the Australians were led by civilian
generals, Currie and Monash,3 respectively. Hughes,
arriving late, followed this up on 20 June with his own
fiery statement demanding 'a greater voice in the war'.4
However, as Hankey records he was gently reminded by Borden:
that if he had no voice it was because he neglected to attend

the Imperial War Cabinet last year._5 Hughes was not one to

1. Long to Munro Ferguson, 15 Octobei, 1918; Novar Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 696/1517.

+2. Borden, Imperial War Cabinet, 13 June, 1918; CAB 23/32 see
Duncan Hall, Commonwealth,’ pp.l174-5. .

3. §g}endid Adventure, chapter IV, 'Black Days and Blunders'

4. Hughes, Imperial War Cabinet, 20 June, 1918; CAB 23/43.

5. Hankey, Diary, entry dated 21 June; Roskill, Man of Secrets, p.565.




194
)

be put out by sucﬁ ripostes. In the following day§ he
forcefully commented on the disastrous drainage of/manpower
on the Western Front. If the rate contlnued the Allies would
only score a Pyrrhic victory:

Our object is not merely to win this war at all hazards

by the sacrifice of the last man we have got, because if

we win, we lose, we are barren. If is what we have to do

afterwards. England has to live...
Thus at the Peace, Brf&ain could find other }owers, the.-
Americans for example, dictating polNcy as Britain would have
exhausted herself completely during the War and would be
cansidered a spent force. He K therefore encouraged greater
.-use of tﬁe 'Air Service' and supported Churchill's tank
‘schemes.l‘ In view of the position on the Western Front
Hughes considered that the best policy would be to ascertain
the Achilles' heel{ of the Central Powers but‘ he recognized
that a victory in the field against the German army itself
was essentfal for a victorious peace. Theamilitaty power of
Germany had to be broken. Lloyd George summed up the problem
that had been pursued for weeks now by the committee of
Prime Ministers: 'How to win at all? How tJ’w1n without
having our own Army...so beaten and shattered that, in fact,

at the end of the War, the American army would be the only

one left'. 2

Associated with Hughes's efforts to secure a larger
measure of representation of Kustralia in the conduct of the
War was the question of the leadership of the Australian Army .

Corps. For most ~f the War it had been under the leadershlp

of General Sir W: llxa@ Blrdwood a British officer. 1In
A\ ~.\

1. I.W.C., 28 June, 1918; CAB 23/43.

2. I.W.C., 27aA, 31 July, 1918; CAB 23/44.
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January 1918 when the Australian forces"in;Fndnce had been
éonsolidated as a disi&nct AusgraliaarCorps, Bi{dwood thus
was the natural choj,ce.1 In May Birdwood relinqhished control
of the field forceslto re-establish the shattered British .
Fifth Army. He retained administrative command of the AY.F,
but the Operational command, 'beyond question the most
important attainabI;<in the Australian Army' was now open.
Hughes made certaiﬂéi} would go to an Australian.2 Similagly
the arrangements wh eby the 'self-adminisfré?ion of the A.I.F.
and a“simila; one for the New Zteaners‘V were acéepted was
a result of Hughes's insistence.3 Thus” the administrator;‘ '
of the A.I.F. were directly responsibievto the Australian
Government. . Hughes however was opposed to the position
whereby Birdwood commanded an Engligh Army and was G.0.C.
A.I.F.vresponsibleror all administrative arrangements. Apart
from the work load, he was sexrving two masters: ' '

He looks to War Office for his orders of preferment for

maintenance of his position. Where interests of Australia

and Britain clash - and they do clash and have clashed

military matters ig certain and that interestd of: Austya

have suffered - for whicp will be stand? : Lt
The Canadians, Hughes bluntly pointed out, had theg} own T .
general in charge of Administration in London and ‘
.consequently had reape&\the'benefitiof fostering 'Canadian
national sentiment'. Hughes hoped ﬁﬁat Birdwopd, faced with
the choice, would opt for\the British Fiftp Army alone,
leaving Monash or Brudenali\yhite to fill Corps Commander_and
G.O.C‘A.I.F. in éharge of administration.4 babinet endofsed

P -
1. C.eE.wW. Bean, Two Men- I Knew, (Sydney, 1957), p.120.

2. General! Sir John Monash was eventually selected as Commander, ‘

Australian Corps; the other main contender was General Sir Brudenall

\Bingham White; 1bid., pP.170. See also Birdwood to Munro. Ferguson,

27 May, 1918, Novar Papers, N.L.A., MS 696/3306-13.
/

.

3. Bean, Two Men I Knew, p.129. .

4. Hughes to Acting Prime Minister, 1 august, 1918; c.a.o0., cp
360/9/3; Hughes appears indifferent as to which of the two should be

G.O.C.A.1.F. or Corps Commander. \
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Hughes's view on thxs.l» In the event, Blrdwood 4nformed

Huqheg that Haig had conflrmed his appointment to the Fifth
Army and his wetentxon of the resp0581b111ty for aﬂmlnistra—
tion of he Australian Forces.2 It was not till. Deqember_
that Hu es was able to secure Blrdwood 8 exclusive serviees
for this admlnlstrgtlon which by now was a questlon of

demobllxsatxon and repatr1at10n.3 .
- ,

Similary, when the Admiralty in May 1918’ produced for
the cpnsideration of the Imperial war Conference, a
mem andum that .Proposed a single navy for the Emplre &

Aufdtralian national fezglng was stifred once more. Cook,.
Navy Mlnlster, took up the matter ‘

Hughes's colleague, an
All} the Dominions rejected -the suggestlon. However, as a’

"'re 'lt, it was proposed that Adm1ra1 Jelllcoe should tour >
the Dominions to advise ot‘the needs of Dominion Nav1es.5

On st;ateglc matters, Russia and!Japan‘were ;he main
questions with which Hughes appeared to be concérned He
resoiutely advocatjé\lnterventlon in Russia by Alllea _
forces but was doubtful whether .Ru 1an forces loyal to the
Allied cause. would submit to a Ja nese commander. And thle
he 1nformed the Cabinet, was cedsky's view as pqt to him .
‘the night béfore.6 I have already'referred to ﬁpghee's d

LY

k) v

1. Acting Prime Minister to Hughes, 9 August 1918; 1bid. h
2. Birdwood to Hughes, copy, 15 August 1918 Birdwood Correspo%dehceﬂ
in 'Hughes Annex', N.L.A. . g R .

3. Birdwood to General .T.H. Dodds A.1.F. Headquarters, London, 2,
December,.1918; Hughes to + 5 December, 1918; 1Ibid. - . >

- 4. Admzralty Memorandum, R.E Wemyss,"Navaxfoefence of the British
Empire', 17. May, 1918; c.o. 537/1007; Imperial War Conference, .y .
'Minutes of Proceedings, C.A.0., 447/1, item SC76. ’ - '

g
5. Sir Jcsaph - Cook to Acting Primeg Mlnlster, 14 October,. 1918, C.A.O., ¢
CP 360/1/1. See below, Chapter Four, IT. : ©n- s

. .
. 6. I.W.C., 18, 20 June, 1918;. CAB/23/43; eventually it was agreed that the
Japanese and Americans would intervene in western Slberla, each supplying
some 70,00Q troops and marxnes see R.H. Ullman, Anglo-Soviet Relations

-1917-21, (London, 1968) [‘
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report to this Cabinet on his American visit with respect
fo-Ameq}can views on intervention in‘Russia and have dealt
in some detail with his protests over the prospective
Pacific settlement. There remains to place these protest-
ations at the June and August sessions in the general

perspective of; the War aims discussion at the Cabinet.

Balfour's 'Thoughta on the German Colonies' a Paper
that eventually was circulated for the War Cabinet appears to
have set off this crucial round of discussions for it was
considered that the Foreign Sécretary's remarks must have a
bearing on any peace negotiations. He now held that it
would be madness to reStore any of the colonies to an
unregenerate Germény that could use them for naval bases.
This of course was the typical argument that Hughes himself
employed. quever, Balfour was 'not so clear as to
whether all these colonies should be annexed by those who had
conquered them. This was a reference to the African Colonies.,
He believed Japan‘wasughe heir of Germany in China and that
Japan and the Pacific Dominions should retain the possessions
they ngw occupied.’ Balfouf made it clear that Britain did
'not intend to be selfish: 'We in Great Britain are
‘altruists and desire nothing for ourselves. But our'Dominions
'areldifferent.. They desire certain things and must have
them'. Thus Britain was perfectly willing to sacri® ce
interests' that were legitimately hers.l Colonial Secretary
Long hastened - “he defence of the Dominions statesmen. The
implication that tneir statesmen were on a 'lower plane'’

morally, than the British was offensive. The ch:rge that they

¥
¥

1. Balfour, holograph memorandum, 'Thoughts on the German Colonies'.
2 May, 1918; post-scripts, 21 June, 1918; Balfour Papers, B.M. Add

MS 49699 ff.84-6.
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were less disposed to subordinate local interests to the
general welfare of theé Empire could not be substantiated.

Long maintained that the Dominions' claims could be upheld by
the best of reasons and were conceived in the best interests
of the Empire.1 Balfour hastened to withdraw any intention.

of denigrating Dominion objectives.2

In the War Cabinet discussion on War aims éalfour
continued his policy of maintaining that Japan, despite the
misgivings of so many, would remain loyal to the Allied
cause. Therefore he hoped Japanese intervention in Siberia
would be possible. Massey pointed out that from the
Australasian point of view there were considerable advantages
in encouraging Japan to devote and expend her energies in
intervening in Russia. Balfour recognized that such 'double
talk' about Japan was ;broad among the Allies and that the
Japanese were unﬁopulai in California, Western Canada, and
northern Australia. Because President Wilson himself was
indebted politically to the Californians whose votes on a
criticWl occasion had saved him from defeat, Balfour judged
that it was unlikely he would risk the adverse publicity which
would be generated by a joint American-Japanese enterprise.
While Smuts in his own Paper accepted that the Pacific )
Dominions and South Africa should retain their conquests‘for
defence and strategic reasons he could see that the Germans
could use them as pawns to retain some remnant of her Colonial

Empire in Africa as the basis of a 'large'Central Afrigan

Yy

1. Long, 'Memorandum_on the German‘Coloniés’, 11 June, 1918; CAB/24/54,
GT4816. ’

2. See Louls, Germany's lost Colonies, pp.l106-7.

3. Balfour, T.W.C. 20 June, 1918; CAB23/43.
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Empire' - a 'Mittelafrica'’ policy which he feared. Not only
would/At place pressure on South Africa but also on India, the
Middfé Fast and the south Pacific. In this Pgﬁer Smuts also
debated the problem of the colonies and an indecisive victory.
The solution would be sc - form of international control to
pbrevent the territories from being used for military purposes
and to preserve the rights of the indigenous peoples.l‘ It
was but a short éﬁep to the mandate principle advocated at
‘the Paris Peace Conference of 1919, However, Curzon, a
convinced imperialist and the next foreign secretary, refuted
Balfour's equivocations and utterly opposed any suguestion of
a8 condominium policy but admitted that Smuts's 'international
board' did have the advantage of solving the basic problems

of imperialism, trade wars, and monopolies but did not solve

the questions of sovereign rights and prerogatives.2

Meanwhile Dominion statesmen, spokesmen, and publicists
had been active promoting their case. Hughes, the guest of
the executive committee of the 'Pilgrims' in the United
Kingdom repeated his Australian Monroe Doctrine of the Pacific
for their benefit, poinﬁing out that.what,'Calais and
Boulogne were to Britain', New Guinea and the other islands
were to Australia. He was glad that Frgnce had interests in
the South Pacific and that Holland 'as long as she did not
become an agent of Germany' was a neighbour in Java and New
Guinea but most of all he hoped, he was sure, he had been
heard 'with favour in the United States'.3 Massey and Wafd

1. Smuts, memorandum, 'The German Cole:.ies at the Peace Conference',
11 July, 1918; caB 29/1/25.

2. Curzon, ‘'Some Further Remarks in th.- German Colonies', 25 July, 1918;
Latham Papers, N.L.A., MS 100 /21/1340. v

3. The Times, 13 July, 1918. \The Pilgrims’Society appears to be a
social arou, dedicated to foste ing Anglo-American relations.

\
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1

re-affirmed New Zealajd's position‘while Murdoch in the

Sydney Sun mocked the\Wilsonian dogma of '"no annexations"'.
Latham, too, had been busy. His 'Memorandum on the Pacific'
of July supported the Australian case that was to be put
forward at the Peace Conference. Hughes acknowledged that
it had been well received by all who had read it.3 His
arguments were based on the ‘defence and strategid requirements
of Australia, the development of its resources, and.the
protection of British trade. It bore the marks of the first

2

rate logic and precistion that characterised his memoranda
which later deservedly won commendation at Paris in 1919.

He concluded that an 'alliance between Great Britain and the
United Stétes would secute an Anglo-Saxon hegemony in the
Pacific'.4

v
Lloyd George, speaking at a dinner given by Lord

Beaverbrook in honour of the visiting Canadian journalists
confirmed that Britain and the Dominions were 'pretty well
in agreement upon' the question of the Colonies. Certainly
they would not be returned to Germany. It was the question
of the 'principle of self-determination’ that was the area
of dogbt.5 This was the very reason for the vociforous
Dominion caﬁpaign.

Thus in the second gession on War aims in August Hughes
adopted the position that Australia was in the islands to
stay: 'J'y suis j'y reste'.6 The'point, ﬁhough oft repeated,

1. Argus, 17 July, 1918.

2. Sun, 20 July, 1918.

3. Latham, Diary, 3 December, 1918; Latham Diary, 3 December, 191§;
Latham Papers, 'N.L.A., MS 1009/20/909A. .

4..-Latham, 'Memorandum on the Pacific', 23 July, 1918; 'The Control of
the Pacific', 9 July, 1918; 'C.A.O., Melbourne, MP 1049/1 file no.19/0118.

5. Morning Post, 15 July, 1918. . °

6. Hughes, I.W.C. 31, 14 August, 1918.
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was one that had to be made in Aygust while the phrase 'self-
‘determination' was being bandied about. Borden did inject
the view that somehow or other the inclusion of the United
States in the Colonial Question in the Pacific or the Middle
East was vital for he considered that the United States ought
to be involved in the affairs of the nations. Indeed, he
be]ieyed it was her duty to take a share in the onerous task
that the British had borﬁé”for SO long: international law
and order.- Bofden recognized the isolationist tradition of
the United States would be a formidable bar to. this highlx

desirable goal.l“

Amery however, was one who opposed this view. Offering
the United States the 'undigested lump of unfamiliar problems
at the ather end of the world' simply to draw the Americahs
into world affairs, he considered was a ludicrous proposal.
However, he continued, in this memo for Balfourfs benefit, v
the Americans in their Monroe Coctrine had hit on 'the
greatest’principle of peace yet devised. ' Amery's‘solution
for the expansionist tendencies of the Powers was a series of
Monroe Doctrines, each Power having its own sphere of
influence. Cecil and Balfouf, while impressed were not
convinced that there was sufficient land on the globe to
satiate the appetites of the growing numb‘r of Powers. Japan
was a case jin point. They all agreed however, that her sphere
of influence should be China. 'Amery agreed that the Pacific
Dominions should retain their conquests.2 Lord Esher; the
influential adviser to the King, outlined his own views to

1. Borden, I.W.C., 30, 13*August, 1918;

2. DAmery to Balgbur, 16, 22 August, 1918; Balfour to Amery, 17 August,
1918; Balfour Papers, B.M. Add MS 49775, ff.176-8.
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Hankey, whom he conceded was in an incomparable position to

advise Lloyd George himself. Clemenceau would be the ultimate
problem in the negotiations” for he was a master in the art of
‘horsé—trading', and was likely 'to steal a march' on
George if he was not 'at the top of his form'. Esher
considered that the prqblem was that the 'Boche' would tride

Alsace-Lorraine for retention of her Colonies and the French
would naturally expect the‘British to fall in with this. The
problem then became the attitude of the Dominioﬁs. Lloyd
George should then use the Leagué of Nations 'to camouflage

‘anything in the way of territorial acquisitions forced on him

by the Dominions'. It was important too for the British not
to appear as landgrabbers'. Britain must retain its position

as the '"Tutelary Angel of the Human Race"' and not give up
this role to the United States. But Lloyd George was 'ill-
served by his "expert diplomatic functionaries" that

however brilliantly he may explode' at the Supreme War Council,
he was .likely to be '"done in" on the ’Quai.D'Orsay.'l Amery,
one of these functionaries, at least ag%eed with E;her that
the Dominions were an'element in the diplomatic bargaining
that would determine the terms of peace. He pointed out to
Lloyd George just after the armistice, that as far as Britain
‘was concerned the Dominions were a vital part of Britain's
case. If tAe Dominions came to believe that they were part
and parcel of the decision-making process in Britain's
external relations they would 'be prepared to accept the

idea of a single foreign policy for the British Commonwealth'.
If the vital decisions fading the Empire were taken without
proper consultatibn and if it apﬁeared‘that purely British
and European factors determined matters and if the '"Imperial

1. Esher, Roman Camp, Callander, to Hankey, holograph letter,
29 August, 1918; Lloyd George Papers, House of Lords Record Office,

Ms F/23/3/11.
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Cabinet" did not become a Serious instrument in determining
. : ‘ ; ¢

Impetial policy' then 'Imperial’Unlty' would be shattered and
each Dominion would begin to developwits own toreign policy.1
" The solution to this problem of 'Imperial Unity' was to elude

the statesmen of the Empire for the remainder of Hughes's
\\ )

prime ministership.

IX THE DEBATE OVER THE TERMS OF PEACE AND THE ARMISTICE.

On 5 October, Hankey recorded in his diary that Foch. had
. informed the Allies of the Central Power's request for an

armistice and this appeal had been directed to Woodrow Wilson

who, Hankey noted, was inclined to keep h%s own counsel.
Hankey thus was concerned that this development could result

in the armistice terms slipping out of the hands of the
Allies.2 On 9 October the Allies learned of the actual terms
of the peace which the President had despatched the previous
day ‘to the Germans without coﬁsulting the Allies. Lloyd
George was 'iﬁmensely irritated' for 'he fears the Huns will
try to assume that it (the Fourteen Points) is the only condition'
for -the terms of the armistice. He reported this conviction
to the Imperial“War Cabinet on 11 October., Hughes supparted
Lloyd George's vigw that the armistice terms should proximate
the terms of peace. Lloyd George fof his part agreed with |
Hughés that economic préssure and the blockade, should be
resolutely maintained so as o secure the armistice and to
prevent the Germans gaining any economic advantage at the
expense of any of the Allies.3

< '

1. Amery, Memorandum, 14 November, 1918; Balfour Papers, B.M.
Add MS 49775 fE+kSd-d .

2. Hankey, Diary, . ~-tober; cited in Roskill, Man of Secrets, 'p.608
See also Hankey, Su.. rme Command, vol.IT, p.852-61,

3. I.W.C. 57, 14 Octorer, 1918; Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538.

S
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2t this point Hughes assumed the initiative. Wwhile in
Paris, being decorated by President Poincare, he spoke with
Premier Clemenceau who was much impressed with Hughes and
Borden.l Hughes solicited French support for a 'hard' peace
and not the 'soft' peace that was envisaged by Woodrow Wilson.
It would appear thét Hughes aléo was hoping for French
sSupport for his claim to a voice at the Peace Conference

o

deliberatiOns.2

Meanwhile, after a War Cabinet discuésion the British haqd
cabled Wilson to the effect that the Allies did not accept
all his desiderata. Munro Ferguson expressed his own relief
that 'the Allies have at length' had done this or else the
Germans would have gained an 'immense advantage'.3 However,
Jthe British also felt hampered by Clemenceau's and Orlando's
expressed requestlghat no publication of these negotiations
should be made for this meant that presssure could not be
placed on Wilson where he was most sensitive - public opir on.4
The War Cabinet the same day decided that no armistice should
be signed that did not ensure that German naval and military
strength would be crushed so as to prevent a possible
revival of German militarism. It was noted that the 'Fourteen
Points' were capable of wide Interpretation and concern was
expressed over the 'Freedom of the Seas',_and the fate.of
the German Coionigs. Balfoﬁr emphasised that the Allies -
were really bound to see that the Colonies were not returned

}

1. Amery, My Political Life, VOl.E}[ﬂp.ISO

2. Scott, Australia in the War, vol.II, p.150. 1t should be realized
that Scott had access to all the relevant files and was a contémporary
'of Hughes; see Argus, 1 Augqust, 1918 for, a report of his lecture in
Melbourne on Hughes's 'Monroe Doctrine'.

3. Hankey, Diary, 13 October, 1918; Roskill Man of Secrets, p.612, and
- Munro Ferguson, Diary, 13 October, 1918.

4. I.W.C., 14 October, 1918, cap 23/8/485.
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to Germany. Lloyd George even asked Smuts if it would be
possible to summon 'a small Indaba of Native Chiefs' which
would provide evidence at the Peace Conference of the

wishes of the native chiefs against a return to German rule.
Robert Cecil commented that a fair case against the return of
the Colonies was eaéy but 'it was not so easy to make out the
case for keepinq\them'. Lloyd George, still on the same
track, now suggested'that the United States should send
military personnel to the Colonies, then report their
findings to Wilson. 1 Lloyd George evidently was much
concerned about the implication of the Fourteen Points in its
relation to the German Colonies. At this point, Hankey, at
the risk of offending the Prime Minister, guardedly pointed
out that the Colonial Secretary and the Secretary for India,
Montagu, had complained that they were not being kept
informed on the question of the Colonies. Surprisingly,

Hankey was informed that the Prime Minister did not trust

Montagu.2

While Pre31dent Wilson on the thlrteenth replied stiffly
to the German Note he still had not communicated with the
Allies, but Lord Reading ihdicated that Wilson was sending
his confidential adviser, Colonel House, to confer with the
Allies. On the seventeenth Hankey noted that a War Cabinet
meeting suddenly had been arranged solely to discuss the
armistice énd théhpeéce. Again Hankey pressed.on Lloyd
George the question of Long, Montagu, and Hughes's
attendance at such discussions. The Prime Minister did not

1. Ibid.

2. Diary, 14 October, 1918; Roskill, Man of Secrets, p.613.
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want them at the meeting so he arranged an 'informal
conference of ministers'.1 After the Imperial War Cabinet
meeting which was chaired by Bonar Law in Lloyd George's
absence - in the circumstances an absence that was most
conspicuous - Curzon complained of Lloyd George's lack of
communication. Hankey hurriedly informed Lloyd George of the
furore. Long had in the strongest terms supported Hughes's
presencé at all meetings called to discuss the armistice
terms in view of Australia's sacrificies in the War, which
were 'a good deal more than the Americarfls'. Therefore they
had 'as good a right to a voice as President Wilson'. Long
stated that he was somewhat in the dark about events while
Curzon noted that ‘the only serious meeting to discuss the
subject only had a few members of the War Cabinet present.2
Montagu referred to the fact that his India Office
colleagues wished to be informed of the position with respect
to the armistice and he simply had to say he just did not
know. Montagu had also referred to the proposed Report on
the Eastern Committee's deliberations on War Aims whicﬁ'had
not seen the light of day. Hankey reminded Lloyd George
that it was Hughes's objections that had held up this Report.
Thus Hankey pressed on the Prime Minister the Cabinet's view
that Hughes, Long, and Momptagu should be present at the next
meeting.3 That night Hankey was instructed to arrange a “

Cahinet meeting for the following day, Saturday. Haig was

1. Diary, 17 October, 1918; Ibid., pp.61L4-5.

2. This was the meeting held at Danny Park the Sunday before; it was -
the home of Lord Riddell and was used at times by Lloyd George for War
Cabinet discussions; 1Ibid., p.548.

T Hankey to Lloyd C..:3e, 18 October, 1918; Lloyd George Papers, House
Lords Record Office, M3 F/23/3/17. See also his Diary, 18 October:
Roskill, Man of Secrets, pp.616-~7. No records were kept of the Meeting.
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present at this War Cabinet discussion. Once again Hankey
brought, up the question of the presence of the other Ministers
and Hughes, to be informed: 'This is my reply to their
remarks yesterday."' Monday's War Cabinet also was to

exclude them. Hankey prevailed on Bonar Law to reason with

the Prime Minister who was unmoved by Bonar Law's pleas.1

On the twentieth Hankey noted the German acceptance of
the President's terms and conditions which were to be worked
out in detail by the military advisers.2 Hughes sensing that
the crucial Allied Conference on an armistice was in' the air,
deliberately notified the Colonial Office on the twenty-fourth
of his movements and details of his itinerary for the
following week. As it turned out, the crucial Versailles
Council discussions were held between 29 October and 4
November. Hughes informed Lloyd.George that he had provided
the Colonial Office with information on his daily whereabouts
so that at a moment's notice he could be contacted by phone

and back in London within hours. 3=

On 26 October Hughes was supplied by Hankey with Lord
Robert Cecil's memorandum.on the Japanese Occupation of the .
Pacific Islands. Cecil had minuted on the Foreign Office file
copy that 'this disposes conclusively of Mr. Hughes s
contention that the Commonwealth Government were not consulted’

in the matter.4 Meanwhile Hughes wrote in his copy of the

b

1. Diary, 19 October, 1918; Ibid., pp.617-8.

2. Hankey, Supreme Command, vol.II, p.857.

3. Hughes to Hankey, 24 October; Batterbee, Colonial Office, to E.H.
Box, Australia House, 24 October; Hughes to Lloyd George, 6 November,
1918; Lloyd George Papers, House of Lords Record Office, MsS F/28/2/8

4. Cecil, memorandum, 15 October, 1918; minutes by Cecil and Sir

James Maclecay, now head of the Far Eastern Department, 22 October, 1918,
F.O0. 371/3236/176414; Hankey to Hughes, 26 October, 1918, -Hughes
Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538/111.
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5 November minutes of the Imperial‘ﬂar Cabinet when Cecil's
memorandum was tabled that: 'This fs not true'.l
Significantly a few days after the receipt of the memorandum,
Latham was informed by Hughes that he would have 'plenty of

work' to do on the Pacific.

The War Cabinet met in London on the first of November
to discuss Hankey's cabled messages from the Versailles
Council. The minutes of these meetings for security reasons

were withheld from the printed minutes of the War Cabinet and

thus have escaped the attention of researchers, Montaqu noted
that there was no reference to the Colonial Question even
though other reservations on the Fourteen Points, 'Freedom

of the Seas'; and Reparations, had been highlighted. Long
supported Montaqu, predicting 'serious trouble' if the
captured German Colonies were not retained; Smuts and Cecil
pointed out that a third reservation on the Fourfeen Points
might prove fatal. all agreed though that Versailles should
be notified of the British War Cabinet's views: -

Following for P.M. Two points in President Wilson's declaration
in your memorandum of observations on it seem to call for
further notice. 1If it is too late to include them in agreed
Memorandum, War Cabinet hope you will consider desirability
of making our views upon them perfectly clear to our Allies
and have. them formally placed on record. The first is the
economic point. H.M.G. ought not to be committed_§o grant
of "most favoured nation" treatment to enemy nations which would
« prevent fulfilment of our obligations to assist in restoration
of Allied terrigories. Secondly it would be well that our
Allids should know that German Colonies will in no circumstances
be restored to Germany and that claims of our Dominions to
" certain of them cannot possibly be waived. Clear reservations
on both these points now may prevent misunderstanding later on.2

1. I.W.C., 36, 5 November, 1918; Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 1538,

2. Draft Minutes, typescript, War Cabinet, 'A‘ Minutes, 1 November,
1918, caB 23/14/495 ».
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Clemenceau recalled the decisive.reasons for accepting
the armistice. The troops were completeiy worn out and thét
to’continue would_have/cost tens of thousands of lives. ’The
Germans anyway gave up everything, handed over their
artillery, their'rifles, their prisoners, evacuated France

and Belgium: {)

We had given the most formal undertakings on this point,
and it was on the basis of these underfakinqs that the
United States entered the war - that, once Prestdent
Wilson's Fourteen Point -~ were qranted, we would lay down
N our arms. The Boches accepted these points. Would you

~ have had us then, in spite of that, in spite of everything,
'go on with the wag? We should have had against us in that
.casde not only Germany but America, England....It would have
been madness!’ .

-

Colonel‘House, therefore, concentrated on the general
aéceptanée of Wilson's conditions. Hankey noted that at this
stége it was too iate to re-negotiate the terms Qf the
armistice. It would have been very difficult forhthe Allies
to reject these preliminaries of the peace and the discussions
in Paris were la;gely dominated by these considerations.2
Viscount Esher privately expressed his opinion to Field
Marshall Sir Douglas Haig that the acceptance of the
'FoufteenﬂPoints' was a cardinal blunder:

Unyiéely, we pledged ourselves far too hurriediy to accept

Wilson's fourteen points. Since then we have entered

into a cabal with France and Italy in order to counter ;he
policy of the United States.3 ,

1. Jean Martel, Clemenceau: The Events of his Life as Told by Himself
to his former Secretary, (London, 1930), p.146; see also D.R. Watson,
Georges Clemenceau: A Pol:tical Biography, (London 1974), pp.147-8.

2. Hankey, Supreme ‘Command, vol.II, pp.854-61. ;

3. Viscount Esher to Field Marshall Sir Douglas Haig, 8 Decembei, 1918;
cited in Oliver Viscount Esher, (ed.), Journals and Letters of Reginald
Viscount Esber, vol.IV, 1916-1930, (London, 1938), p.219.
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Despite the urgent telegram sent by the British'quf
Cabinet, the Colonial Question was not included spécifically
as o of the reservations to the Fourteen Points. Smuts and
Cecirqhay-weil have been right, another reservatiohvcould
have proved fatal. Theré was though, just grounds fof
complaint by the Dominions and ﬁughes in particular. Greegs
~and Portugal were represented at these meetings and clearly
had played lesser roles than the Dominions. Neither Smuts
nor Hughes, the only Dominion leaders available, were invited
to these crucial discussions.1 There was no personal animus |
on Lloyd George's part against Hughes. 1If anything this was
directed at Montagu. To include either Montagu or Long
would have meant inviting Hughes. For his own inscrutable
reasons he excluded all of them. In the absence Qf concrete
evideﬁée one cannot be certain but it would appear that the
British Prime Minister did not want to be hampered by the
presenc@® of a large and no doubt vociferous Imgerial

delegation. - .

Lloyd Gedrge reported to the Imperi§1 War Cabinet on 5
November. With respect to the Coionial Ouestion he assured
the Cabinet that he had maintained that the German Colonieg
could not be surrendered and that the. Dominions would retain
those that they had conquered. For the rest, the Allies
were prepared ‘to discuss and negotiate. On the 'Fourteen

°©

Points', Hughes submitted what was by now ‘a characteristic
caveat: he declined 'to be bound to the Charidt wheels of
the Fourteen Points' nor would he be a party to a League of
Nations whose structure, function and membership were as vet

ill-defined.? 2

1. Duncan Hall, Cdmmonwealth, pPp.171, 230.

2. I.w.Cj, 36, 5 November, 1918; Hughes Papers, N.L.A., MS 1533, see
CAB 23/8/496.
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The day before, Hughes wrote privately to Lloyd Georqge
submitting that the north Pacific Islands occupied hy Japan
should be qiven up to 'Great Britain for administration by
Australia'. His case was the now familiar one of a
surrender of afi the' German I'slands to Colonel Holmes at
Rabaul in 1914; the current occupation was admittedly
proVisional; éﬂpérmanént occupation by the Japanese whom the
Australians 'profoundly distrust' would pose a mllltary and
naval threat to Australlal as well as presenting the Japanese
with an admlrablc opportunity to enter the trade of the south
Pacific. Hughes remlnded Lloyd George of the American
interestsvin a Japan athwart the communications between the
Philippines and Hawaii and no doubt the Dutch in the Indies
also would be nervous. He submitted that the daglaratlon by
. the former Prime Minister of Japan, now in London, Prince
Okuma, should not be recognized though it could be raised at
the Peace Conference. Hughes admitted to 'certain
communications' and ‘éertaim conversations' in 1916 in which
he participated but 'since then, much water has run under
" the bridges and I neéd not remind you what Japan's attitude
towards the Empire in this war has been. '? Just twoSmonths
earlier Hughes.had written to-Balfour enclosing a cable from
Watt that referred to the intense trading activity by the
Japanese in the Marshalls: 'These people are everywhere:
working assiduously'. Unléss the British matched such
industry then they would have to withdraw 'iike our

ancestors fzrom the flat plains to the rugged hills.'3 Hughes

1. H. Gill, The Royal Australian Navy, (Australian War Memorial, 1957),
pp.258-283, beinqg the Official History, noted that German raiders in
1940 raised their flag on the island of Nauru ‘and were able to refuel
from Japanese installations in the Marshalls they caused considerable

damaqe during their brief period of success.

2. Hughes vt Lloyd George, 4 November, 1918; Lloyd George Papers, House
of Lor8s Record Office, MS ¥F/33/1/44. )

3. Hughes to Balfour, 11 September, 1918: Balfour Papers, F.0O. 800/
203/354 Hughes concluded the letter with a 'Banzai'
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believed the Japanese campaign for the ultimate destiny of

the Pacific, now that the fighting had ended, had begun.

Prince Okuma, who héd been in power when the Islands had

been occupied, was obviously conducting a press campaiqn.

The Japanese had been invited to the Versailles

neqotiations.L He too must be active in Australia's interests.
leva George in reply to Hughes's lenqgthy case expressed
surprise, in view of the February 1917 assurance given by
Britain to Japan, that Hughes would invoke the authority of

the Commonwealth to substantiate his submission. Lloyd George

then ‘traversed the familiar ground of the Harcourt cables of

1915; conversations with Grey in 1916, concluding with the
unequivocal assurances and guarantees of 1917. Br- :in had
no intention of 'committing a breach of faith'. Even if a

'foreign quarter' was successful in its objection to the
Japanese retention of the Islands, Lloyd George pointed out
that it would be on the basis of '"no annexations"’ which
would apply equally to the islands south of the Equator.2
Hughes would have realized this but it had already been
decided by the Allies that the German Colonies could not lLe
returned and Hughes, as we shall see, had no faith in

internationalization, a condominium, or a League of Nations.

At the Imperial War Cabinet méeting on the sixth,3
Hughes formally protested at the acceptance of the Fourteen

Points in the armistice terms for thus the terms of peace

1. 1Ishii notes that there was 'umbrage by the Japanese peop i being
excluded from the Council of Four; ' Diplomatic Commentarjks, | xi.

2. Lloyd George to Hughes, draft réply to Hughes's letter of 4 November,
n.d.; Lloyd George Papers, House of Lords Record Office, Ms F/33/1,44.

3. T.w.C., 36a, 6 November, 1918 and CAR 23/44; the following is based
on the draft minutes &f that session. : .
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virtually had been concludod.1 Although Lloyd Georqe

admitted that Wilson's Fourteen Points had been accepted it
had been on the basis of two major reservations on

reparations and the 'Freedom of the Seas', Further, he argued
‘that the points were so.vagpe and so broad that there was
nothing in them to prevent the Allies from gaining all that
they cared to put forward. Hughes stuck to his point that
'severe limitations' had been imposed on the terms of peace

by such a surrender to Wilsonian idealism.

What was worse, the 'British Government had decliared war
without consulting the Dominions and now fhey were settling
the Peace Terms equally without referc:ce to them'. Lloyd
George denied that the Dominions had not been consulted.

'The fact was that Australia was not represented' in 1917 and
this clearly was not the fault of the British. Hughes had
been begged to send a representativé. On his return from
Versailles Lloyd George indicated that Hughes was

unavailable for a meeting of the Cabinet, a point which

Bonar Law corroborated. , None of these points would have
satisfied Hughes for there had been“much water... under the
bridges' since 1917 and he was not concerned®so much with
being consulted after the Versailles negotiations as being

consulted before it.

Representation at the Peace Conference Hughes noted,
[
was to be the prerogative of those 'who had made very
considerable sacrifices'. Hughes believed Japan could not

claim representation on the basis of sacrifices during the

p

1. Colonel House wrote in his own diary, C. Seymour, (ed.); Intimate
Papers of Colonel House, (London, 192€) vol.1v, pp.&54—5: 'Tt seems 4
to me of the utmost importance to have the Allies accept the Fourteen
"Points...If this is done the basis of peace will have already been made'.

~
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War. Lloyﬁ‘George actually had insisted on Japanese
representation as they were '"a vefy sensitive people."'
This was too much for Hughes:

Why should Japan be inciﬁded and Australia excluded

from the Peace Conference? What sacrifices had Japan

made which were in any way comparable with.those of

Australia?l
To this the British Prime Minister replied that at Versailles
he had urged on House and Cleﬁénceau the justice of the
Dominion claim to representation at the Peace Conference.
Already Borden‘of Canada had cabled his expectation of-
Canadian represe@tation at the Conference.'2 The views
currently prevailing, Lloyd George explained, were that
either 'all the Dominions should be represented by one
selected Minister' or that 'each Dominion should be entitled
to have one fepresentqtive present when any question was
discussed which'affected that particuiar Dominion'.

On the question of reparations Hughesldecried the k
compensation provi#ions in the Fourteen Points. Under them,
it would.bq impossible for Belgium, France, and the British
Empire ever to gain the Reparations to which they were,

entitled. While German factories were intact, those in
occupied Belgium and France had been levelled to the ground.

As far as the post-war arrangemehts, concerning the
League of Nations['Hughes maintained:he was for it, if it
was just a 'pious aspiration and nofhing more'. If it was
intended 'to control the British Empire and defend itself

1. I1.w.cC., 36A, 6 November, 1918; cCaAB 23/44.

2. Borden to Lloyd George, Telegram, 2 November, 1918: Lloyd George
Papers, House of Lords Record Office, MS F/5/2/24. .
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as it thought fit' then he was thoroughly opposed to it.
Hughes was to be openly contemptuous of Wilsoﬁ's'dream seeing
it as a nebulous concept devoid of substarice that could
hardly face up to the harsh realities of the real world.

Although Amery had been 'deputed to explain' and to
pacificate Hughes, he too believed it was é 'serioug blunder’
that t?e Dominio?s were not consulted over the: Armistice
terms. Long on the other hand pointed out to Munro
Ferguson that Hughes's absence in the north was the' reason he
was unable to attend: 'He was I think a little upset about
this'.2 Hughes was sufficiently put out to detail to Lloyd
George the care he had taken to prevent such an occurrence.3

While Latham supported his Prime Minister on the matter
he considered that'Hughes's public protest in The Times:was
'undiplomatic and ﬁade too much of the personal aspect'.4
Latham spoke at a 'Round Table' meeting later in.the month
at Curtis's home where it was conceded that the British
Government had 'bungled'.S Percy Deane, Hughes's Private
.secretéry, informgd his wife that:

“ Peace is about to be declared definitely and we are
fighting the terms for all we are worth. It looks as

if we have been "let in" badly by those who conducted
negotiations for us...® ‘ ’

1. Amery, My Political Life, vol.II, p.171.

2. Long to Munro Ferguson, 7‘November, 1918; Novar Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 696/1524.

3. Hughes to Lloyd George, 6 November, 1918; Lloyd George Papers,
House of lLords Record Office, MS F/28/27. o

4. Latham, Diary, 7 November, 1918; Latham Papers, N.L.A., MS
1009/20/909A; Latham recorded that he and Garran had a 'good discussion'
with Hughes afterwards.

5. Ibid., 2. November, 1918; Garran who was there confirms this .account;
Diary, Garran Papers, N.L.A., MS 2001/3.

6. Percy Deane to his wife, 8 November, 1918; Deane Correspondence, a
collection made available through Mrs. R. Deane, .Percy's widow, of 8
Mercer Road, Armadale, Melbourne, Victoria.
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Fisher believed that a rare opportunity had been missed to
demonstrate the reality of imperial unity: 'The great point
missed was the place of the growing. Dominions in future
Empire difficulties'.l Garran too, thought that 'untold harm -
to the Fmpire' could well be the result of such an 'altogether .

inexcusable and damnable' decision.

- Hughes's 'undiplomatic' protest began with his address
at tﬁe Australia Club two days after the Cabinet meeting.
'The Dominions', he alleged, 'found outlthe terms of the
armistice in the same. way that everybody else has'. The terms
were inadequate. On economic matters there were equal
conditions for all; there was no -special tariff ' provisions
with respect to most-favoured-nation status; raw materials
were not even mentioned. Australia with sixty thousand dead,
a War debt of three hundred million pounds plus interest,
pensions and repatriation allowances to service, had no-
guaranteed prov1519n from the terms of the armistice. There
were no provisions for an indemnity. The Allies' future was
mortgaged. .Yet Brest-Litovsk had demonstrated what the
Germansxwould have done. Nor was there any statement on the

German Colonies:

I demand it be stated in the peace document that those
islands shall be given to the people whose existence
depends qn their posse551ng them. (cheers) 3

The following day Hughes, who had been fortified by the
Australian Cabinet's support of his stand, published his

rebuttal of the armistice terms in The Times. On the same
: ; —_— —TES ‘

1. Fisher to Maggle (Mrs. Fisher), 7 November, 1918; Fisher Papers,
N.L.A. :
2. Garran, Diary, 9 Nevember, 1918; Garran Papers, N.L.A., M5 2001/7.

3. The Tines, 8 November, 1918.
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page was printed the 'Official Reply' to Hughes's letter.
In the latter, much was made of Hughes's absence from the
1917 Imperial War Council that had discussed War Aims.
Hughes had attended the 1918 session. There had been no
promise or provision in the armisfice terms signed at
Versailles that was inconsistent with the decisions of the
Imperial War Cabinet. Nothing had been precluded and
nothing prejudiced. Moreover the British Government had
'every intention of associating the Dominions and India in
theé final terms of peace'.l All this was techhically
correct, but as Garran noted, 'very lame'. Hughes's
'smashing reply' he recorded was that these were 'general
talk about a‘remote'possibi‘lit'y'.2 Further, as‘Hughes's
letter pointed out, the Fourteen Points had never been
discussed in this light~nof were they'evér agreed to by the
Imperial War Cabinet. Hughes though, could now confidently
state that 'my Government' was not satisfied with specific
aspects of Wilson's formula.> The Australian Cabinet was
‘unanimous in its condemnation of the situation whereby the
'conditions of peace should haVe been decided without .
consultation with the Dominions'.4 It was considered to be
'a péinful and serious breach of faith'. Hughes also
\privately conveyed theéefsentimentsidf.the Australian Cabinet
to Lloyd George.5 On Thursday, the fourteenth, Hughes

1. The Times, 9 November, 1918.
2ne 11mes R

Garran, Diary, 9 November, 1918; Garran Papers, N.L.Al; MS 2001/7/216.

2.
3. Hughés to Watt, 6 November; Watt to Hughes, 8 November, 1918;
C.A.O. CP 360/8 bundle 1. 2

i

4. See also The Times, 7, 8, 12, 14, 15, November, 1918 for comments
on Hughes's public statements at various gatherings.

5. Hughes to Lloyd Gebrge,'9 November ; Llpyd George to Hughes, 11
November, 1918; House of Lords Record Office, MS F/28/2/9-10.
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~delivered a most powerful address on the subject at a lunch
given by the agents-general at the British Empire Club. This
appears to be the address cabled, some ten pages, to Watt.
It was a comprehensive and detailed outline of the case he now
had been pressing for weeks. He wound up with a peroration
that impressed even Latham who was by no means a Hughesite:

....we,’who are conquerors, we, who have suffered so much,

who ‘have given up those rights for whith we went to war,

to have not set out in the bond (armistice) thawlgthe islands

shall be- ours, that our rights to make economic t fies

should remain, that indemnities should be exacted, is to me

inexplicable. T can only regret from the bottom of my heart

that this thing should have been done. Australia stands

after four years of dreadful war, her interests greviously

imperilled, her rights of self-government menaced, and with

no provision made for indemnities. That is the position and

it can hardly be regarded as satisfactory.l

4

Amery was most concerned and upset at the turn in
events. 'Hughes is in a very troublesome frame of mind', he
warned Lloyd George and urged him to write personally to
Hughes assuring him that Britain recognized Australia's right
ppﬂpértnership.at the forthcoming peace settlement and that
Australia's interest would be 'as fully &nd effectively
voiced and represented asithose of the United Kingdom.'2
Australia's 'legitimate claims to security and its full
liberty of action in the sphere of trade and economics' would
be preserved. In memoranda he urged Dominion representation

at the Peace Conference: 'The extent to which the Dominions

1. Hughes to Watt, 16 November, 1918; C.A.0., CP 360/8 vol.2; Garran, -
Prosper the Commonwealth, p.252. ,

2. Amery to the Prime Minister, n.d., but early November 1918 with
- ‘attached draft of letter for Hughes; Lloyd George Papers, House of
. Lords Record Office, MS F/2/134.
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are given a‘really effective voice in the Peace Settlement'
he argued, 'will determine their whole outlook on Imperial
questions in future'.l The "'"incident .of Mr. Hughes's
protest', Amery further argued, demonstrated that 'the
question of form' in these matters had become of real '
importance. It was thus absoldtely vital that no step 'no
matter however unimportant it may seem at the moment; should
be taken that in any way remotely concerns the Dominions
withbut thém having been 'explicitly 'consulted or in which
they have ﬁot formaIIY,participated.' Thus he ﬁrged direct
representation of the Dominions and India in the British

delegation at the Peace Conference.2

By now, Hughes's extended public criticisms b s o)
draw the fire of opponents, critics, and colleagues bac: in
Australia. Munro Ferguson cabled to Long that Watt nad
expressed to Hughes his disapprovaf of a public attack - -
Lloyd George and the British Government.3 After the
armistice Watt urged that the public criticism of thé
-Imperial Authoghsies should stop lest the bonds of Empire
should be injured. Moreover, in view of the delicate
ﬁ%litical balance in Australia he could 'seriously'préjudice
(himeelf) and Government'. This was in the light of Hughes's
expressed statement that he would continue to protest at

the 'farce and sham’4 of the Imperial War Cabinet. watt went

Amery,’Memorandum, 14 Novembér;' Balfour Papers, B.M. Add MsS 49775,
£ff,.191-4.

2. L.S. Amery, Memoranddm, 'Representation of the Dominions at the

Peace Conferenceﬂ, 14 November, 1918, 1bid. .

'

3. Munro Ferguson to Long, cable, 9 November, 1918, Cap 24/70.

4. Hugheés to Acting Prime Minister, 13 November, 1918; C.A.0., CP
360/8 item vol.2.. ’
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even further:

We think that a claim either expressﬂor inferential of

the right of Dominions to representation on Versailles

Council cannot be sustained. This view applies of course

also to Peace Conference if you are thinking of it in the

same way. If our conception of your attitude on this

matter is correct, your colleagues ask you to reconsider

this phase very carefully. 1

Munro Ferguson considered that Watt had defended Hughes
very well in Parliament. The Governor- General 1nformed Long
that Hughes had just written to him in his 1n1m1table Welsh
biblical style' and had dealt with everythlng except the
'Channels of Communication' and .his 'grievances. re Peace
Conference'. Munro Ferguson noted that Hughes was supported
by Sir Joseph Cook but he considered Hughes had 'put himself
in the wrong by attacking President Wilson through the Home

2 , . . - ’

Government'. Privately, to his . diary, although he
acknowledged that Hughes's press campaign was in the same vein
as that which 'Lloyd George has long carried on in England’
and which he suspected Watt was conducting in the Melbourne

Herald he believed that:

Hughes has done the most mischievous thing possible and
exposed his flank to all his enemies in.a deliberate
endeavour to stir up bad blood between England and
Australia....One.can never forgive him for this despite
his perSOnal charm and friendliness....I shall tell Watt
that 'if anything happens...he will doubtless consult
Hughes to whom I gave a ¢ommission...

That this was a momentary fit of pique is clear by his praise

of Hughes's efforts at Paris:

LY

1. Watt to Hughes, 14 November, 1918; Ibid.

2. Munro Ferguson to Long, 16 November, -1918; Novar Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 696/1091.

3. Munro Fetguson, Diary, 20 November, 1918.
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I am not a convert to "open diplomacy" and was naturally

shocked by Mr. Hughes's outburst over the Armistice. But

my heart warms to him now in his attacks on the "high

falutin" of Wilson...

On the other hand, Latham who was on the spot wrote to Philip
Kerr, commenting that the people of the Dominions will be
]uStlfled 1nrpellevxng that they cannot safely trust the
leaders of Great Britain' 2 For his address to the 'Round
Table' a little later he jotted down his rough outline:

(1) Promise broken

(2) Hands of separatists strengthened

(3) Imperial War Cabin L and consultative system on

which it is based has been proved to be deceptive..

The 'Western and General Report' instituted by Amery,
was part of the machinery to inform authorities. in the
Dominions of events of imperial 1nterest during the War.3’
They ranged from extracts of confldentlal memoranda such as
Cec1l s on the north Pacific Islands to press and parliament-
ary opinion. The Reports followed in some detail Hughes's
protestations over the terms of the Armistice. Thus just
after the Armistice the Report included the resolutions of
the influential Returned Soldiers League, the Premier of

. : :
Tasmania, and the Legislative :Council of New South Wales, all
supporting Hughes's unequivocal stand on the terms of the -

Armistice, Reparations, and German New Guinea.s By the end’

1. Munrq Ferguson.to Long, 3 February, 1919; Novar Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 696/1561.

2. Latham to Kerr, 9 November, 1918; Latham Papers, N.L.A., MS 1009/
19/25. Kerr was) Lloyd George's private secretary, and a member of the

'Round Table' f
} v
3. Rough Notes, Latham, address, 21 November, 1918; 1Ibid.,

4. See Guinn, British Strategy and Politics, p.192; This appears to
be part of the 'new imperialism' of Milner, Kerr, Curtis & Co. :

"S. 'Western and General Report‘, no.93, 7 November, 1918; Hughes Papers,
N.L.A., MS 950/2. '
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of the month t.e Report noted that the Western and South °
Australian Parliaments, the Melbourne, and Newcastle

Chambéts of Commerce, all Supported the policy of retention
of German New Guinea, some form of reparations and

.certainly a voice in the ultimate terms of peace.l. Mpst
importantly the Report detailed the debate in the Australian
Parliament initiategq by Watt's motion on the fourteenth.?
Watt demanded that Australia should be consulted 'in the
consideration and determination of proposals affecting'
German New Guinea ;nd that in no case should they pe restored
to Germany. 1In té;ms so redolent of Hughes, watt outlined the
Australian case. Not only should the Islands be retained or
administered by Austraiia for the legitimate reasons of
national Security but as it ‘was impossible to obtain an
indemnity or suitable reparations Australia must 'hold in
pawn some territory that would relieve the debt' of
Australiags. ‘Watt concludeq by-enunciating ih his own way a
Monroe Doctrine of the South Pacific for Australia:

fear and tremblihg,-by placing the futur destiny of the

Pacifip Islands in the Peace Bond.3 4

.+8ignificantly, the Labour Leader of the Opposition stated he
would not vote against the motion upoh the\assﬁrance that
the administration of the Islands was a necéssary defence
-measure. Thus the motion was bassed without a division in
the Representatives and unanimously in the Senate.? \4

°

l. No.96, 27 November, 1918, Ibid.

2. C.p.D., vél.LxVI, P.7835, ff.; . see Teport in The Times, 21
November, 1918; andg Summary in 'Western and General Report', no.9s5
20 November, 1918, Ibid. v

3. C.P.D., vol.LXVI, p.7838, 14 November, 1918.

e,

4. Ibid., 15 November, 1918.
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Tudor's acquiescence was on the expressed_understandihg
that Australia was not 'out for land- grabbing‘: He believed,
‘anyway, that the League of Nations would provmde the security
that was the concern of the Government. He cited the solution
that A.B. Piddington suggested in The Age the day before.
Piddington suggested that C.E.W. Beam's notion of a
“league of all the belligerents' to preveﬁt wars would
guarantee the security of small nations in the post-War period;-
thus Australia in nominal control of the Islands, having
stamped out the old German rule, could safely allow the
German plantations, commerce, and trade to " remain. Such a
magnanimous gesture would help heal the wounds, help the
formation of a German democracy, a veritable Weimar |
Republic that alone would ensure the end of German militarism.l
Hughes, who also was an admirer of Piddington, would have
agreed that a Gerhany whi&h retained its 'Prussian militarists'
was not to®be trusted but he had no falth in the 'new diplo-

macy' based on a 'League of Nations'

There were those in the Labour Party who did hold to
'internationalist' solutions to the problem#® that beset
twentieth century societies. The Commonwealth Conference of
the 'Labor' Party meeting in Perth in June 1918 resolved:

That this Conference representing the whole Australlan

Labor Party, expresses its earnest hope that, in

negotiating for peace Britain will not be delayed or

embarrassed by the statement that Australia insists on -
the retention of the captured German possessions.

1. Letter to the Editor, the Age, 14 November, 1918; he was at the
time, Chief Comm1551oner, Inter-State Commission. ‘

2. 'Report of the Seventh Commonwealth Conference of the Australian
Labor Party, 1918', pp.47-48. This spelling of 'Labor' was the
contemporary usage.
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Yet the Labour Party had allowed watt's motion to go
through without a division. Critics of Hughes though, did
speak up in the latter stages of the debate. J.M. Fowler, a
notorious critic, who, although he supported the motion,‘
belieyed thagc;t was not as necessary to Strengthen Hughes's
hand as it was to 'close his mouth'.l _Fowler for much of
1918 had carried out a One man campaign against the Prime
Minister. He had written to Sir George Reid, the former High
Commissioner, submitting an article to him for the Fortnightly
Review that was calculated to expose Hughes 'putting the
calamitous little man in his true light'. He urged Reid to
inform Lora Grey of Hughes's assertions at the secret session

of Parliament concerning Japan's so-called 'hostile intentions’,
Eor Fowler alleged that Hughes had cited Grey as his authofity.2
The article evidently was not accepted by any reputable or
acceptable journal as Fowler prdceeded to publish it

privately. A small bodklet in large print, it addressed

itself to the question of whether Hughes was a 'statesman or
mountebank ?' Fowler acknowledged Hughes's reputation abroad.

It was for this very reason he was writing sb that English
readers, and the general public, should realize that Hughes's
leadership had been 'disastrous'. The main burden of his '
argument was the lack of leadership displayed over the
conscription issue.3 Fowler acknowledged that:

4
There 8 much perfervid rhetoric from Mr. Hughes about
the Empire, its dangers, its difficulties and glories,
about the valour of Australian soldiers and the vital
_necessity of supporting and reinforcing them.

1. J.M. Fowler, C.P.D., vol.LXVI, P-7846, 14 November, 1918.°

2. Fowler to Reid, 1 August, 1918; sir George Reid Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 2242. '

“

3. J.M. Fowler, Statesman or MOuntebank? An 'Australian Study,
(Melbourne, 1919) .,

A

o

y ‘
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Howev¢r, in the fbce of this and the fai.ure of conscription,
he refused to adopt.measures that were in the Government's
power, so as to enforce conscription. For Hughes there
would be another referendum only if 'some areat defeat

. . , . 1
(placel) our existence as a free people in deadly peril'.

In much the same vein, the Bulletin, an example of the
'scurrilous press?® in Australi4 as Munro Ferguson so aptly
described it, in an article entitled 'Our Ambassador Hughes'

was dismayed that he was 'persona grata with a large section

of the British people'. That he should speak in Britain as
though he represented 'the measured opinions of free
Australians', was even more intolerable.?2 The~Argus, a
reputable newspaper but opposea to the Murdoch\press,
believed that Hughes 'was making too much of punctilio and

wounds to his amour propre and was not supported by other
' 3

Dominions"'. The Times, London, cited its namesake in New
Zealand which labelled Hughes's non-consultation charges as
'ridiculous'.4 Nor did the Sydney press,.Hughes's sme town

as it were, suppart his outspoken behaviour on this occasion.

The Sydney Daily Telegraph regretted that 'in the solemn. joy

rof a world delivered from darkness and slavery one discordant

note should be heard and that it should sound in a voice
purporting to be that of Australia'.5 The Sydney Sun did_not

spare him either:

1. TIbid., Fowler no doubt was referring to his own letter to the editor
in the Age, 22 July, 1918, where he advocated the 'Ameri;an method of
compulsory ballot'. I have already cited legal authorities, Keith and
Evatt, who considered such enactments, in view of the political climate

highly inadvisable.

2. The Bﬁiletin, 14 November, p.7 and 12, December, 1918, p.7.

3. ‘Thgfaigus, 19 November, 1918.

4. The Times, {london), 14 November, 1918; p.5, citing the New Zealand
Times. —

5. The Daily Telegraph, 13 November, 1918.
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‘.
Nervous control and a sense of proportion are absent irom
his) infantile ain. If a fly settles on the nursling's
nose, there is a yell. 1If an alligator were to bite it

leg the yell could be no louder. . .Peace with victory came
in sight - and nobody consulted Mr. Hughes on the terms of

the tariff clause! The lives of a million more men were at
stake - and nobody asked Mr. Hughes whether camisoles n.e.i.,
were to be ed at 10 or 20 per cent ad valorem' The noise
made by Mr. ..ughes has. been utterly disproportionate to tne

occasion and sorrowfully inopportune. We know our Mr. Hughes

-..But we feel a little ashamed that the world should

perceive him in the caricature so familiar to us - something

small and grotesque, screaming and chattering at the top of

a long pole. 1I1f Mr. Hughes had not existed it would have

been necessary for Mr. David Low to invent him.l

In Britain too, his remarks were seen as being in poor
‘taste. As Long informed Munro Ferguson, he was pleased to
see that the press support he received in Britain was only
from those who were 'ready te take any weapon with which to

attack Lloyd George.'2 The sympathetic Manchester Guardian

assured Hughes that they were certain that 'no AustraLian
interest will be sacrificed and her splendid deeds will get
full r.ecognition’.3 But it could not accept him alone as the
'"inspired spokesman' of Australia.4 The Times, in its
editorial, tﬁé;day Hughes published his letter, considered
that in_speaking 6ut and in publishing, Hughes was to be
commended . > There was no fault in this. But the editor 'was
bound to say' that he did 'not think that Mr. Hughes's case

is unanswerable'. The Sydney correspondent of The Times

K]

1. The Sun, 17 November, 1918. ) b4 ' )

2. Long to Munro Ferguson, 13 December, 1918; Novar Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 696/1534. ) :

3. Cited in the Argus, 11 November, 1918.

4. Cited in the Sydney Morning Herald, 11 November, 1918,

5. Editorial, The Times, 8 November, 1918.
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arqued that 'it was not Supposed that Hughes would be consulted
before the Armistice,' and anyway, the fact that the other
Dominions were not included would Suggest that 'they did not

share his fears'.l The Westminster Gazette admitted that

someone had 'blundered badly' but was Just as critical of

Hiighes as of the Government.2

The remarks «of the bress certainly reveal how little
nNewspaper correspondents really knew of the events they ‘
"reported. There was no doubt a% we have seen, that Lloyd
George deliberately avoided Dominion and Indian representation
whether it ‘be Long, Montagu, or Hughes or even Smuts in the = -
pre-Armistice discussions. And certainly Hughes proved to be
right. To include the Fourteen points in the Armistice terms
-was to settle virtually the terms éf the peace and this fact
was to bedevil the peaée—makeré at* Paris. Hughes though, was
not one to desist in the face of published criticism. Just
as Munro Ferguson had noted that Lloyd George had used the
press for many years so Hughes was adept at utilizing its
power for his own policies:: E

As a result of my impious criticiém of the manner in

which the High Priest of the Sacred People carried out -

or failed to carry omg - their (sic) sacred duties, there

has fallen an my sacred head much-abuse and boycott. But

all that I said was amply justified and we are ettin

better treatment, but of course Wilson's 14 points!! Why
the devil they did it no man knows...3

However, Watt continued to be embarassed and said SO, 1n no

uncertain terms:

1. " The Times correspondent in-Sydney, 15 November, 1918; The Times, e
20 November, 1918, p.s.

2. Cited in the Argus and Sydney Morning Herald, 11 November, 1918.

3. Hughes to Munro Ferguson, 14 December, 1918; Novar Papers, N.L.A.,
MS 696/2747. '
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We consider that Australian and general Dominion interests
would be best served by strong representations being made by
the Prime Minister on behalf of his Government to the British
authorities in usual way, and not in the form of a series of
public protests or complaints. The letter form is equivalent
to hanging the British family linen on the line for the ‘
information and amusement of other nations, including enemies.

It also means that Dominion ambitions are likely to be

exaggerated and misunderstood, andthe ties of Empire are

likely to be injured, if not broken.

Of greater consequence, at this point, however, was the
Australian Cabinet's view that the claim by the Dominions for
representation at the Peace Conference was considered
'unreasonable and cannot be supported by Cabinet'. Watt

!
pointed out that he did not propose to ask Parliament to carry
any resolution claiming representation 'of Dominions as
Dominions. We feel that it would be impossible to pass such
a resolution'. Watt must have suspected that Hughes would
persist anyway and so he concluded this formidable rebuke by

pointing out that:

We feel that we are not justified in letting you go

straight ahead on the course you have marked out, witho